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Corporate Profile
NIl M

The Company has been listed on the main board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange since 8 October 2009. During the year ended 31
December 2022, the Group was principally engaged in mining and ore
processing, sale of self-produced products, trading of steels, mining
facilities management and management of strategic investments. As
at 31 December 2022, the Group owned one ordinary iron ore mine
(namely the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine), one gypsum mine (namely
the Shigou Gypsum Mine) and one processing plant (namely the
Maoling Processing Plant). All mines and processing plant are located in
Sichuan, China.

As at 31 December 2022, the total number of Shares of the Company
in issue was 2,249,015,410 Shares and the percentage holding of the
Company'’s subsidiaries was as follows:

A\\ China VTM Mining
rh [ 5 $5

l

AT EH2009FE10A8A LU —EHREBH
FrEfR E o REE2022F12H831HIEFEE >
AEBRNFEEBARBEREGLE -HES
EER NEES BEXMEEREREERLE
EIER2022F 1283 1B cEEBHEE B
mEE BEE-FRWLERE - —EAaEE B
TBOEE h—ELER BIEERLER -2
B0 80 R S E BRI AL R R E I )| o

fR2022F12831H A AN B ZB1TRMHEH
#32,249,015,4100 > MAABRE FARMNE
HFEOHEWT :

100% [ 100% 1 100% 1

Singapore VTM Mining Pte. Ltd.
IR AR FAABRAE

Sure Prime Limited

- Offshore B -
- Onshore £/ -

Sichuan Lingyu
)12

Powerside Holdings Limited

RS ERBRAR

100% l

Simply Rise Holdings Limited
SRERBRAR

100% l

First China Limited
=RERAR

51% 1 100%1 100% l

100% l

Sichuan Haoyuan Aba Mining Sichuan Xinglian Sichuan Lingwei
o)1 3EE Fel SR It )12
100% l 100% l
Xinjin Mining Akuang Trading
FRRE PR E 57
Note: M5

m Deregistered on 11 January 2023

m 72023FE1811HEEH
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Financial Highlights
MG E

REVENUE*
KA
(RMB’000) 2021 756,225
ANRBTF0) 2020 580,703
2019 923,611
2018 1,141,971
GROSS PROFIT#
EF)
(RMB’000) 2021 31,527
ARHF7) . .
2019 118,524
2018 125,899
PROFIT/(LOSS)
ATTRIBUTABLE TO 8311
OWNERS OF THE 2021 '
COMPANY
= 202 (17,054)
)
BEANFE (BB 5010 69,199
(RMB’000)
(ANR¥EFTT) 2018 (443969)
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE
TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY 2021 635,240
FERAEAT
aE e 2020 626,251
mE AN
(RMB'QOO) _ 2019 644,740
(ANR¥F )
2018 574,737
# Included both continuing operations and discontinued operations after P AREREREERRERIEREER  CIEHER
elimination of intra-group revenue or profit, whichever is applicable. ARBERARFE UBREARZE)

2022 £ | PENKEBIEXZERAF 5



Chairman’s Statement

EFRHEE

s

Dear Shareholders,

It has been almost three years since the emergence of COVID-19 and
the world has largely scaled back restrictions, moved into the endemic
stage and snapped back to pre-pandemic normalcy. More recently,
China has also rolled back its zero-COVID approach, ending the scene
of mass testing, contact tracing, omnipresent face masks and non-stop
disinfectant spraying in a tightly managed environment, which have
been seen as signs of the social and economic costs.

Teh Wing Kwan ik #
Chairman /&

HEMURE:

COVID-19B B8 LI =F » 2IKEARBUH
ZRBIRF B2y AR LR AROEERIER
HEE IR FETKEEBEHE  GR7E
BEEENIRIENETARERE  BREE
B EZMBOE - A EEBEEEHEEENS
T %75 AR AN B 22 4E o
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OVERVIEW

It appears that supply chain disruptions and geopolitical tension have
since overtaken the pandemic as major business risks now. While job
growth, housing demand, high inflation and global rate hikes are
those key factors which may lead to economic stagflation, intensify
macroeconomic pressures, derail business recovery, and affect spending
sentiment.

Against this backdrop, China’s steel market remains under pressure
as low market demand has left excess capacity idle. The overall steel
output volume in China continued to fall in 2022 while raw material
prices for coal and coke have risen, and the environmental compliance
costs are rising on decarbonisation drive and stringent emission control.
Meanwhile, industry players have also cautioned on shaky market
sentiments arising from the housing slump, weak construction activities,
and slow de-stocking trends, with the only hopeful upside from the
increasingly higher government infrastructure investments. In this
context, our operations faced significant headwinds that our average
selling prices for high-grade iron ore concentrates and steels fell quite
substantially in FY2022.

During the year under review, our operations at Maoling Mine were
interrupted by several temporary suspensions as a result of natural
disasters, power restrictions and COVID-19 flare-ups. The stringent
COVID-related control measures had led to renewed lockdowns, travel
restrictions and mass testing. At the same time, we have also initiated
preliminary engineering works for the expansion of the Maoling Mine
but such preparatory steps had caused various operational interruptions
to our normal production cycles. These intermittent disruptions had
resulted in higher fixed operating expenses and higher unit cost per
output for us, which had undoubtedly affected our overall productivity
and profitability. Despite that, our High-Fe Mining Operations and
trading business remained profitable for FY2022 as we managed our
collection cycles and direct costs more cautiously.

As previously disclosed, we have reorganised our mining facilities
management segment and placed it as a standalone business unit,
which we believe could strengthen our operational system capability,
facilitate the reallocation of management resources, and diversify our
recurring revenue streams. The reorganised facilities management
unit has since commenced operations in April 2022, secured several
jobs and contracts from business associates, and recorded its maiden
operating profit for FY2022.

Chairman’s Statement
TERSTE

B
=5

HAEHE T 1B R EREBMGBOS B 2RIV Z

BRAENNEIZEBZAR - RETLZERF

EBER -BRet 2XNMEETEZRRHIE

BB RR MAREREKEE REEFER

ZHo T EHETE-

EHWMHRE  PENESTSEERE mi5
BREXRLELEBRBER KT IZ - FEE IR
R ERRRMEHER £ TEEREEEER
2022FFE T B MIRE &R AR TRERROR
BRERFERER T TEHRA - S —HHE &H
TR REEESS ERERENE 9HEE
FEHTEEOE EEBEEE HEFE
BFMAERKRE -BIL HANEEBHEKR
BERE > = an (BB IR A DAY T 9 E E502022
R EERSBARKE-

REEFER EEHEHNEERKKE RE
COVID-191E 85 M B R & B Z & o AR HICOVID
TEREE B PR BT I ~ PR B B K 3R IR 1%
BBMmMEG - BILER > BEERBETESRES
WA TR T/E> EAERAEB T XS Rl
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EHESERRE ZEBN 2022 BEE DRSS
FH o

MM EFIRE  RPCEAE TREERKEE
BEBFABUEBEM BETMBRKXMAN
EERRE MREMDEEERER > DB
FIRNEBEERARR - EEHENREEEEN
ER2022F4BREE IS ZLEB BN
TERGH 20202V BEEERBRFEERN
o
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Chairman’s Statement
FTERETE

Given the above, whilst we had recorded operating profits in FY2022
for (i) our High-Fe Mining Operations and trading business (despite the
said intermittent operational disruptions); and (ii) facilities management
services, the Group's Net Profit was, however, affected by higher fixed
operating expenses incurred mainly for (i) lower average unit selling
price for both iron ore and steel products given weak market sentiment;
(i) additional logistic costs for new storage facilities; (iii) professional
fees incurred for several corporate exercises (as previously announced)
which we initiated during the year; and (iv) in the absence of a non-
recurring net gain on disposal which was recognised in FY2021.

OUTLOOK AND STRATEGIES

More recently, we learned that China has set a very modest target for
economic growth of just 5% for 2023, which seems to be lower than
many business analysts had expected. As such, the extent of the much-
expected fiscal support for and the effect of these stimulus plans on its
slowing economy amidst China’s previous strict ‘zero-COVID' approach,
real estate debt crisis and tech crackdown are the closely watched
factors.

Whilst we strongly believe that the China reopening will accelerate
its economic recovery, there are still good reasons for us to remain
cautious as we monitor the pace of such a rally for concrete signs of
rebound. In view of these macro factors, our industry will continue to
face varying degrees of uncertainty in the short to medium term that
steel demand may remain weak, direct cost will rise, and operating
margins could fall. In such an operating environment, our core
strategies will largely remain unchanged, specifically:

. We will remain focused on expanding our production capacity
for the high-grade iron concentrates (with at least 70% TFe)
that as previously highlighted, this growth initiative would
incur some form of capital expenditures in licensing process,
additional environmental compliance, modification and
upgrading of existing production facilities and major mining
engineering works; and

° We have segregated the mining facilities management activities
from the upstream mining operations to sharpen our focus and
strengthen our execution capabilities. The reorganised facilities
management business unit has since recorded a maiden profit
for FY2022, and we believe it will remain income-accretive as
we work towards improving its economies of scale, expanding
the service scopes, and diversifying our revenue streams.

BHENLIL > R20228 BEE > RPIM)S @ AU#
BHEEBREZER (BEXD LABBMLEE
TEXE)  R(NRMEERBHRESEENRD
M AEENAGNZIEESEEM AT
& TBRINOBBBARMHERNTHEME
BRERBEEET TE () HE 5 E R RAAE
EF S GiNERRRIE TERFEEE WMER2
M PREENFEEER; R(iv)2021 M B FE B HE
RDIFEEMRERDFER > M2022 BFEE L
EHRER-

Al 5 B BB

R RMPEEITEER2023FNEEER
ST ES%RIIERERMBR  UFBRFLEE
D ATEMAYTARR o RIIE - W5 R Bl 1805 T B AS B I
B EREEEAREITE B2 TR EBIER
TR e R B B ST BB RN B R B &2 o

HARFRETEABREMREHERE
EAPAMERPERARFER BEREENRE
PR BRLFRERZ RANITEETIER
REEEHTRAEENTEEN | MEF R
FERTEINSS EEM A LR IR EER EOI 5
TE- BEHILEERE  RMINZOBER X
BAE ARME !

. BPREESINIEMTFes 8RR/ E
70% M = L SIE R AR BE E 2R T
F o tE SR TRHANG B AL 5T R IR 2 /7 ~ B O
REGR RELEERMAEIZRET
BEEARESENERHAS &

. RHEMFIRMBAIT I HFACHR
ERTaE IR ERE LR RER DI -
REMENREEEEHBEMS 120220
HEEBREF/NE MEEZEERE
B E - EAERBFEE KD BBAR
BRETE RPEGLEBHRARE

FEHL-
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As reiterated, the long-term fundamentals of China’s economic growth
remain the essence of our focused corporate plans as we initiate several
asset-light strategies and build agility to drive growth beyond this
period of uncertainty.

THANK YOU

I must continue to thank our stakeholders, partners, bankers,
management, and staffs for their support during this challenging time.

Teh Wing Kwan

Chairman

Email:  wkteh.cvt@gmail.com or
wkteh@chinavtmmining.com

Hong Kong, 29 March 2023

Chairman’s Statement
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Management Discussion and Analysis
("MD&A")
BEE®mADH




Management Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A")

MARKET REVIEW

During the Reporting Period, the Group observed the following industry
developments and market statistics:

o In 2022, the global economic environment experienced immense
challenges. The record-high inflation, worsening financial
conditions, the surge in global energy prices, and continual
disruptions caused by the Russo-Ukrainian War had all taken
their toll on the world economy. Under such devastating
conditions, global economic growth is expected to decelerate
sharply to 1.7% in 2023, the third weakest growth in nearly
three decades.

o In China, the economy in 2022 was restrained mainly by
COVID-related restrictions, ongoing real estate sector stress,
and extreme weather events. According to the National Bureau
of Statistics of the PRC, China's Gross Domestic Product
("GDP") grew by 2.9% year-on-year in the fourth quarter
of 2022, which was slower than the 3.9% growth in the
third quarter but higher than the 0.4% growth in the second
quarter. Whilst there could be a progressive recovery in China’s
economic activities after the lifting of anti-pandemic measures
in December 2022, sluggish external demand, weak sentiment
and persisting issues in the real estate sector may still pose
challenges to the country's economic progress.

o Meanwhile, China's annual GDP displayed a modest year-
on-year growth of 3%, falling short of the official target of
5.5% and marking the second slowest growth in decades.
The sluggish growth was a result of various factors, including
the challenging global economic environment, along with the
triple pressure of demand contraction, supply disruptions,
and declining economic expectations. In March 2023, China
announced a lower-than-expected GDP growth target of about
5%, indicating "prudent monetary policies" ahead.
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Management Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A")
EIRESmA DN

12

Steel prices in 2022 faced different stages of fluctuations
amid harsh domestic and global environments. Following the
plunge observed in June 2022, steel prices bottomed out at
RMB4,335 per tonne on 1 November 2022 and rebounded to
RMB4,600 per tonne towards the end of 2022. The drop in steel
prices in the second half was mainly attributed to the weak
domestic demand and interest rate hikes putting pressure on
commodities. Crude steel production in 2022 also saw a dip
as well with output from January to December amounting to
1,013Mt, down by 2.1% year-on-year.

The China Iron Ore Price Index (the "Index") compiled by
the China Iron and Steel Association ("CISA") had shown a
continuous slump in prices since the peak in March 2022. The
Index plummeted from March to October 2022 and reached a
new low at 314.23 by the end of October 2022 as a result of
continued overall weak demand and interest rate hikes that
lasted almost throughout the year while there seemed to be a
gradual recovery in November 2022.

In July 2022, the price for the 62% TFe iron ore in China fell
substantially to RMB796.7 per tonne, compared to RMB1,334.4
per tonne in July 2021, and remained low throughout 2022,
which lingered around the RMB800.0 per tonne mark in the
second half of the year.

The domestic output of crude iron ore in the second half of
2022 fell after recording a stable growth in the first half of
2022. A steep drop in output in July 2022 was observed, which
was mainly attributed to efforts to cut crude steel production
across the country, particularly reduction efforts in the major
steel-producing provinces such as Hebei and Shandong were set
out to cut down production in the second half of 2022, thereby
resulting in the lower output for crude iron ore.

2022 F Y #H B B IR E Y B A IR EK
RIFRET TR K ENPEER 522022
FeATRE  WMBEKN2022F118
1THREEARKE4,335 T ENE =
2022FE KB A EEHEARE4,6007T  $
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KREBRMELCE BT EME 20224
MEBEERS TH 1BE12BNEYR
241,038 EFETH2.1%-°

hEiEE T ERERENTEEELRE
I8 (T21680) Bm o B H20224
SANEREMFET B ZIEHIN2022
FIBEE10B TE > R2022F 108 &K%
FE314.23MER  BREF2E0EE
ERIFEFIFRIEME  EZIEHM
2022 1M BEZE L EFo

R2022F78 > FENEERA (TFeg 2
62%) WERABTRESEW AR
796.770 FR2021E7B I AWM AR
151,334,470 BIETR2022F 21758
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@ o

LE022F FHEMNEBTEER AR
HHEEOEHER2022E THEERE
EoEHENR202F7B2R T &
EHREZEMEEAE CHEAIE AW
HEFTEEMRMON2002ETHEEF
WE RSB ERE N

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2022 ANNUAL REPORT



Management Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A™")

The Chinese Purchasing Manager's Index ("PMI") in the second
half of 2022 remained mostly under the threshold of 50.0,
contributed by weak supply and demand, and disruptions
caused by the pandemic. The PMI lingered between the
threshold of around 49.0 to 50.0 between June to October
2022, but fell to the range of 47.0 to 48.0 during November
2022 to December 2022, surpassing the previous lowest point
of 47.4 in April 2022.

The Chinese PMI for the steel industry recovered to a relatively
high point of 46.6 in September 2022 and remained above 40.0
until the year end, after hitting a bottom at 33.0 in July 2022.

The CISA remains committed to low-carbon development. The
CISA launched the “Three-year Action Plan for Energy Efficiency
Benchmark of the Iron and Steel Industry” in December
2022, which was devised from the “Action Plan for Industrial
Energy Efficiency Enhancement” jointly announced by six
Chinese government ministries in mid-2022. The plan aims to
provide checklists and policies, industry standards, and a data
management system for the iron and steel industry over a
period of three years. The CISA believes that the plan will guide
the industry towards accelerated carbon reduction and green
transformation to meet the government's carbon peaking and
neutrality goals.

The CISA also proposed the “Foundation Plan”, aiming to
reduce reliance on imported iron ores and restructure the iron
and steel industry. As the world’s largest steel-producing nation,
China has been reliant on imported ores with around USD180
billion spent on imports in 2021 which was highly susceptible to
unstable ore prices. The rigorously developed “Foundation Plan”
aims to increase domestic iron ore production, source recycled
steel scraps, and acquire overseas mines to counter fluctuating
prices and achieve better profit margins. The plan has made
initial progress in expanding domestic ore mines, with local
governments speeding up approval processes and the National
Development and Reform Commission of the PRC (“NDRC")
discussing current mining conditions and challenges with CISA
and relevant government bodies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A")
EIRESmA DN

BUSINESS AND OPERATIONS REVIEW

Operation and Financial Overview

During the Reporting Period, the Group's revenue for FY2022
increased by 1.6% to approximately RMB725.9 million, as compared
to approximately RMB714.8 million for FY2021, mainly due to higher
sales volume of high-grade iron concentrates and the maiden revenue
contribution from the facility management services. However, the effect
of higher sales volume was offset by lower average unit selling price
for both iron ore and steel products due to weak demand given the
resurgence of COVID-19 and real estate sector crisis.

Specifically:

o the Group experienced a decline in the average unit selling price
of its (i) high-grade iron concentrates by 17.6% and (ii) steels by
23.5%, despite an increase in sales volume for both products;
and

° the Group recorded a maiden income of RMB8.0 million for
the nine months ended 31 December 2022 from the facility
management segment.

Overall, the Group's gross profit margin remained relatively consistent
at 3.5%. However, administrative expenses rose slightly to RMB21.6
million for FY2022 from RMB19.0 million for FY2021, primarily due
to higher professional fees incurred for several corporate transactions
initiated during the Reporting Period.

Details of the financial performance of the Group are set out on page
17 of this annual report.

Overview of Mines
Please refer to below tables for the status of the mine operations which
are owned and operated by the Group.

Mines Processing Plant

W5 A

Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine Maoling Processing Plant

EHREELDE

EEKRMBHRE

BERR 20220 BEENATEBRALNE
MARE725.988 70 BRO2TMBEFEREIAR
714 8B BITIBR1.6% TERN B mUBE
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ke ZATMM > COVID-19% B R B K Bt EiRiE G
WIERR SHEEAREEERNTHIE
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BESMUBBEKEHFHSEA &
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BRBEKERMEEEDBHERAAR
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R 858
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e

Status as at 31 December 2022
120225128318 BHRR

Producing iron concentrates of high Fe contents (within the

range of 65% TFe to 72% TFe)

SEBNBIBE (TFed B/ F65%E72%)

Optimising development and mining plans according to trial

production results

- FRRWEE FE TR EEFe
Shigou Gypsum Mine N/A
aEAEE &M

RiEslELE

e RS

14 CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2022 ANNUAL REPORT



Management Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A™")
EIRESNm RN

The following table summarises the transacted volumes for (i) trading TEBRAEBNEZHE  R(NVBEBEESR

sales and (ii) sale of self-produced products of the Group: HNRZZE !
Purchase from Sale to
independent third parties an independent third party
MBIE=ABE M—2BIE=AHE
FY2022 FY2021 Change FY2022 FY2021 Change
2022 2021 2022 2021
BHEE WHFE 2y MREE WREE =)
(Kt) (Kt) % (Kt) (Kt) %
() (1) % (FH8) (F ) %
(i) Trading Sales (i) BZHE
Steels 8 2 179.4 140.2 28.0 179.4 140.2 28.0
Production volume (Dry basis) Sales volume (Dry basis)
EE (%E) #HeE (EE)
FY2022 FY2021 Change FY2022 FY2021 Change
2022 2021 2022 2021
HHEE WHFE 2y MREE HEREE =)
(Kt) (Kt) % (Kt) (Kt) %
(Fm8) (F-0ig) % (Fmg) (F-0ig) %
(i) Sale of Self-produced (i) SHEBEEM
Products
High-grade iron concentrates = fn i 8 AR TE 73.3 49.7 47.5 73.7 46.9 57.1
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Management Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A")
EIRESmA DN

Business Risks and Uncertainties

The Group faces a number of principal risks and uncertainties that
are of significance and may potentially have significant impacts on its
businesses, financial conditions, and results of operations. However,
the list is non-exhaustive as there may be other risks and uncertainties
arising from changes in economic and other conditions over time. These
principal risks and uncertainties include:

o the macro business environment in which the Group operates
is highly dynamic that any adverse change in market conditions
for sale of iron concentrates and trading of steel may materially
affect the businesses of the Group;

° unfavourable price fluctuations of iron concentrates, lower-than-
expected capacity utilisation rate, negative market sentiment as
a result of geopolitical tensions, the COVID-19 pandemic and
change in demand may result in re-assessment of intangible
assets valuations (in relation to exploration and mining rights),
which may have an adverse impact on the Group’s financial
results due to the resultant impairment losses arising from lower
value-in-use and lower economic benefits as may be derived
from the related cash-generating units;

o changes in government policies, laws and regulations in the PRC
may affect the Group’s operations and/or result in additional
compliance costs;

o additional time and efforts may be required in negotiating with
financial institutions for commercially acceptable terms if there is
a significant change in credit risk policies; and

° delay in implementing growth and transformational strategies
or deviation from original business and operational strategies,
including resource reallocation plans, may affect the Group's
operations and financial results.
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FREREENEER HIREIEGR
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

REMAINING GROUP
Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gain

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Reversal of impairment losses, net
Finance costs

Operating profit before tax from
the Remaining Group
Income tax expenses

Operating profit after tax from
the Remaining Group

DISPOSAL GROUP

Loss for the period from the
Disposal Group

Net gain on disposal

Profit for the year

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the Remaining Group
Non-controlling interests

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the Disposal Group
Non-controlling interests

Management Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A™")
EIRESNm RN

REEHE
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EREEEPER
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FiSMF s

REEEREREENR
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FRFE
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JEERE D
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FY2022 FY2021
2022 2021
MHEE FHEE
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥FT AREFT
725,869 714,760
(700,591) (690,098)
25,278 24,662
8,371 3,888
(904) (373)
(21,592) (19,003)
(4,198) (2,288)
4,528 4,130
(5,965) (5,393)
5,518 5,623
(4,480) (4,641)
1,038 982

= (4,107)

= 10,723

= 6,616

1,038 7,598
1,304 8,311
(266) (713)
1,038 7,598
1,304 914
(266) 68
1,038 982

= 7,397

= (781)

= 6,616
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Variance

28
%
%

A_\
U o

2.5

115.3
142.4
13.6
83.5
9.6
10.6

5.7

(100.0)
(100.0)

(100.0)

(86.3)

(84.3)
(62.7)

(86.3)

42.7
(491.2)

5.7

(100.0)
(100.0)

(100.0)
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Management Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A")
EIRESmA DN

Revenue

Revenue increased to approximately RMB725.9 million for FY2022
(FY2021: RMB714.8 million) due mainly to (i) revenue generated from
the facility management segment of around RMB8.0 million; and (ii)
increased sales volume for high-grade iron concentrates and steel
trading despite lower average unit selling price for both products.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales primarily comprises environment compliance cost,
contracting fees for mining and stripping as well as costs of
materials, labour, power and other utilities, repair and maintenance,
depreciation and amortisation, and trading purchase, which increased
to approximately RMB700.6 million for FY2022 (FY2021: RMB690.1
million) on the back of higher revenues.

Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit and gross profit margin remained relatively consistent,
standing at approximately RMB25.3 million and 3.5% (FY2021:
RMB24.7 million and 3.5%), respectively for FY2022.

Other Income and Gain

Other income and gains increased to approximately RMB8.4 million
for FY2022 from RMB3.9 million in FY2021 primarily due to (i) the
proceeds from the sale of mine tailings of approximately RMB2.9 million
(FY2021: RMB2.5 million); and (i) guarantee income of approximately
RMB4.5 million under the Master Guarantee Agreement which became
effective on 29 June 2022.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses, which comprise mainly delivery,
logistics, storage and warehousing costs, increased slightly to
approximately RMB0.9 million for FY2022 (FY2021: RMBO.4 million)
due primarily to higher storage and handling costs on the back of
higher sales volume for high-grade iron concentrates.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses, which comprise mainly staff related expenses,
professional fees and other fixed operating overheads associated with
production disruption and suspension, increased to approximately
RMB21.6 million for FY2022 (FY2021: RMB19.0 million) mainly due to
(i) higher professional fees incurred for several corporate transactions
initiated during the Reporting Period; and (ii) fixed labour costs for
the facility management segment, the operations of which have
commenced since April 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A™")

Other Expenses

Other expenses, which comprise mainly cost of processing mine tailings,
increased to approximately RMB4.2 million for FY2022 (FY2021:
RMB2.3 million) due mainly to higher transportation costs incurred from
the use of new storage facilities for the mine tailings during the year.

Impairment Losses

Cash-generating Unit (“CGU")

The management of the Group has updated the key assumptions of
the business projection in respect of the CGU of the Group, which are
highly dependent on the estimation of future commodity prices, mining
plans, future capital expenditure plans, discount rates and market
conditions. As at 31 December 2022, the management of the Group is
of the opinion that there is no impairment of the Group's CGU, barring
unforeseen circumstances. However, the management of the Group is
mindful of the existing market conditions which appear to be highly
volatile and unpredictable and will continue to assess the underlying
assumptions applicable to its business projections (subject to regular
reviews and revisions in relation to impairment tests) if there are factors
indicating that the business conditions relating to the Group's CGU may
deteriorate to a level which requires accounting impairment as a result
of the market forces.

Receivables

There was a net reversal of impairment loss of approximately RMB4.5
million for FY2022 (FY2021: RMB4.1 million), the amount of which was
previously impaired.

Finance Costs

Finance costs, which comprise mainly the cost of funds for working
capital loans, interest on lease liabilities, and the accounting effects for
unwinding discount of reclamation obligations, increased by 10.6% to
approximately RMB6.0 million for FY2022 (FY2021: RMB5.4 million).
The increase was primarily due to the entering into of operating lease
for the new storage facility for mine tailings, which became effective
from September 2022.

Income Tax Expenses

The Group recorded income tax expenses of approximately RMB4.5
million for FY2022 (FY2021: RMB4.6 million) due mainly to lower
corporate tax expenses, which were offset by additional withholding tax
expenses incurred on the guarantee income.
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Management Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A")
EEE DjLuHHEZ 7H:|'

Net Profit

Given the above, the Group recorded a Net Profit of approximately
RMB1.3 million for FY2022 (FY2021: RMB8.3 million).

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend payment of final dividend for FY2022
(FY2021: Nil).

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The following table sets out certain information regarding the Group’s

“uF
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consolidated statement of cash flows for FY2022 and FY2021:

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Net cash flows from/(used in)
operating activities

Net cash flows used in investing
activities

Net cash flows from/(used in)
financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the year
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Management Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A™")

Net Cash Flows From/(Used In) Operating
Activities

The Group’s net cash flows from operating activities for FY2022 were
approximately RMB21.3 million (FY2021: used in operating activities
were RMB18.2 million) after accounting for (i) operating income before
working capital changes of approximately RMB17.4 million (FY2021:
RMB15.3 million); (ii) positive working capital changes of approximately
RMB4.8 million (FY2021: negative working capital changes of RMB21.6
million); and (iii) income tax payment of RMBO0.9 million (FY2021:
RMB4.2 million).

Net Cash Flows Used In Investing Activities

The Group's net cash flows used in investing activities for FY2022
were approximately RMB23.8 million, which is a slight increase from
the RMB21.6 million in FY2021. The increase was mainly due to (i)
capital expenditures of approximately RMB22.1 million (FY2021:
RMB22.7 million) for the preliminary engineering and preparatory works
on site for expanding the Maoling Mine areas; and (ii) payment of
rehabilitation cost of approximately RMB2.1 million (FY2021: Nil). There
were no proceeds from disposal of subsidiary in FY2022 as compared to
the net proceeds of RMB3.1 million which the Group received from the
disposal of the Mancala Australia Group in FY2021.

Net Cash Flows From/(Used In) Financing Activities

The Group’s net cash flows from financing activities for FY2022 were
approximately RMB5.2 million (FY2021: used in financing activities were
RMB1.6 million), mainly due to the release of the pledged time deposit
of approximately RMB10.0 million (FY2021: increase in pledged time
deposit of RMB9.7 million) which was offset by a net cash outflow of
approximately RMB7.0 million for repayments of borrowings and lease
liabilities (FY2021: cash inflow of RMB8&8.6 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A")
EIRESmA DN

FINANCIAL POSITION

Inventories

The Group’s inventories, which comprise raw materials, stocks and
consumables in relation to the High-Fe Mining Operations, were
approximately RMB13.6 million as at 31 December 2022 (FY2021:
RMB11.9 million). The increase was mainly due to (i) raw materials; and
(i) higher level of spare parts and components for production purposes.

Trade and Bills Receivables

The gross amount of trade and bills receivables were RMB209.9 million
as at 31 December 2022 (FY2021: RMB210.9 million). In addition, there
was a net reversal of impairment loss of about RMB4.5 million during
FY2022. The net trade receivables have fully been collected by the
Group after the Reporting Period.

Prepayments, Other Receivables and Other Assets
The Group's prepayments, other receivables and other assets, which
comprise mainly proceeds from sale of the mine tailings and other
prepayments to third-party suppliers increased to approximately RMB6.2
million as at 31 December 2022 (FY2021: RMB5.3 million).

Trade Payables

The Group's trade payables increased to approximately RMB35.1
million as at 31 December 2022 (FY2021: RMB33.1 million) mainly due
to increased production volume for the High-Fe Mining Operations.
The overall creditor turnover days remained the same at 17 days, as
compared to 17 days in FY2021.

Borrowings

Total borrowings of the Group were approximately RMB91.1 million
as at 31 December 2022 (FY2021: RMB92.2 million), which were net
of repayments. As at 31 December 2022, all borrowings of the Group
were denominated in RMB. Details of the borrowings of the Group are
set out in note 25 to the financial statements of this annual report.

Lease Liabilities

The Group's total lease liabilities, which comprise payment obligations
for right-of-use assets for office premises and new tailings management
facilities were approximately RMB24.7 million as of 31 December 2022
(FY2021: RMB2.7 million). The significant increase is mainly attributable
to the entering into of operating lease arrangement for a new storage
facility for mine tailings, which became effective from September 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A™")

Contingent Liabilities and Financial Guarantees

The Company provides the CVT Guarantees in favour of the Financial
Institutions guaranteeing the loan facilities of Huili Caitong and
Xiushuihe Mining with a maximum aggregate guaranteed amount
of RMB690.0 million as at 31 December 2022 (FY2021: RMB730.0
million). As at 31 December 2022, a principal amount of approximately
RMB515.4 million (FY2021: RMB533.4 million) remained outstanding
under such loan facilities. The CVT Guarantees were provided by the
Company prior to the 2019 Disposal to guarantee the indebtedness of
Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining owing to the Financial Institutions.
Those debts have not been fully repaid and the CVT Guarantees
continued after the 2019 Completion. In connection with the CVT
Guarantees, the Company and Chengyu Vanadium Titano (the parent
company of both Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining) entered into
the 2019 Counter Indemnity for the provision of counter-indemnity by
Chengyu Vanadium Titano in favour of the Company in respect of the
Company's contingent liabilities and potential claims under the CVT
Guarantees.

Given that the CVT Guarantees are continuing in nature and will only
be released upon the full and final settlement is made and officially
discharged by the Financial Institutions, on 16 May 2022, the Company
entered into the Master Guarantee Agreement with Chengyu Vanadium
Titano, Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining to continue the provision
of CVT Guarantees on such terms and conditions contained therein,
including, among other things:

o the Company shall continue the provision of CVT Guarantees in
favour of the Financial Institutions for a term commencing from
29 June 2022 to 31 December 2024, subject to a maximum
aggregate guaranteed amount of RMB730.0 million. The CVT
Guarantees shall cover the indebtedness owing by Huili Caitong
and Xiushuihe Mining to the Financial Institutions under the CVT
Guarantees and any related rolled-over loans approved by the
Financial Institutions;

o Chengyu Vanadium Titano shall provide counter-indemnity in
favour of the Company under the 2022 Counter Indemnity by
(i) pledging its inventories as security, the market value of which
shall not be less than 1.25 times of the maximum guaranteed
amount under the Master Guarantee Agreement; and (ii)
providing a joint liability guarantee which allows the Company
to claim against Chengyu Vanadium Titano directly for any
payments, losses and expenses incurred as a result of the CVT
Guarantees; and
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° Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining shall pay an annual
guarantee fee to the Company, which is calculated at 1.25% of
the maximum guaranteed amount.

The Master Guarantee Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder have been approved by the independent Shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 29 June 2022.

For further details about the Master Guarantee Agreement and
the 2022 Counter Indemnity, please refer to notes 33 and 35 to
the financial statements of this annual report, the section headed
"Continuing Connected Transactions - Provision of the CVT Guarantees
by the Company under the Master Guarantee Agreement" in this
annual report, and the announcement and the circular of the Company
dated 16 May 2022 and 8 June 2022, respectively.

Save for the above, as at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have
any other material contingent liabilities and financial guarantees.

Pledge of Assets

The Group’s pledge of assets as at 31 December 2022 was related
mainly to a bank loan of RMB74.6 million granted to Aba Mining,
which was secured by (i) the mining right of Maoling Mine and (ii)
100% equity interest of Aba Mining held by Sichuan Lingyu.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions

and Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates and

Joint Ventures, and Future Plan for Material
Investments of Capital Assets

Except as disclosed in this MD&A and the audited consolidated financial
statements for FY2022, there were no other significant investments
held and/or committed by the Company, nor were there any other
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures during FY2022.

Except as disclosed in this annual report, there were no other material
investments or additions of capital assets that were not related to
normal operation authorised by the Board as at the date of this report.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group's foreign currency exposures arose primarily from the
exchange rate movement of foreign currencies, namely, HKD, USD and
SGD, against the RMB. HKD, USD and SGD are the functional currencies
of respective entities within the Group.
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The RMB is not freely convertible. There is a risk that the Chinese
government may take actions affecting exchange rates which may have
a material adverse effect on the Group’s net assets, earnings and any
dividends it declares if such dividend is to be exchanged or converted
into foreign currencies.

The Group has not entered into any hedging transactions to manage
the potential fluctuation in foreign currencies. The management
monitors the Group’s foreign currency exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure when the needs arise.

Please refer to note 38 to the financial statements of this annual report
of more details of the Group’s foreign currency risk.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to bank
deposits, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and exchangeable
notes (which are subject to fair value interest rate risk).

The Group manages its interest rate exposure arising from all its
interest-bearing loans through the use of fixed rates. In addition, the
Group has not used any interest rate swaps to hedge against interest
rate risk. The Group will constantly monitor the economic situation
and its interest rate risk profile, and will consider appropriate hedging
measures when the needs arise.

Please refer to note 25 to the financial statement of this annual
report for more details of the interest rates and terms of repayment of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Capital Expenditures

The Group’s total capital expenditures increased by RMB16.9 million
to approximately RMB35.2 million for FY2022 (FY2021: RMB18.3
million) mainly due to engineering works performed in preparation
for the progressive upgrade of the High-Fe Mining Operations and the
expansion of the Maoling Mine areas.
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Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio is a measure of financial leverage, which is calculated by
“net debt” divided by “total equity plus net debt”. Net debt is defined
as interest-bearing bank and other loans and lease liabilities, net of
cash and cash equivalents and it excludes liabilities incurred for working
capital purpose. Equity includes equity attributable to owners of the
Company and non-controlling interests. As of 31 December 2022, the
gearing ratio increased to approximately 10.3% (FY2021: 8.7%) due
to the inclusion of lease liabilities resulting from the operating lease
agreement for the new storage facility for mine tailings, which became
effective since September 2022.

RESOURCE AND RESERVE OF MINES UNDER
THE JORC CODE (2012 EDITION) AS AT 1
JANUARY 2023

Resource Summary of the Maoling-Yanglongshan
Mine

JORC Mineral Resource Category
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BiRERR

JORC Mineral Resource
Category

Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine EH-FRELERE

Measured (M) 2312

Indicated (1) 2l

M-+l PREF+

Inferred tiidii

Total st

Notes:

1. The material assumptions and technical parameters set out in the

Company's supplemental announcement dated 13 February 2015 with
respect to the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine continue to apply.

2. The mineral resources of the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine as at 1 January
2023 were estimated by BAW Mineral Partners Limited by depleting
the mineral resources consumed throughout 2022 for the Maoling-
Yanglongshan Mine.
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RESOURCE OF MINES UNDER THE
CLASSIFICATION FOR RESOURCES/RESERVES
OF SOLID FUELS AND MINERAL COMMODITIES
(GB/T 17766-1999) AS AT 1 JANUARY 2023

Resource Summary of the Shigou Gypsum Mine
The mineral resources of the Shigou Gypsum Mine under the
Classification for Resources/Reserves of Solid Fuels and Mineral
Commodities (GB/T 17766-1999) have not been changed since the
disclosure in the Group's 2014 annual report. The assumption of the
resources of the Shigou Gypsum Mine is 82.51% “gypsum + anhydrite”
cut-off grade and 1 metre minimum in width.

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 215 dedicated full
time employees (FY2021: 127 employee), including 4 management
staff members, 28 technical staff members, 22 administrative and
sales & marketing staff members, and 161 operational staff members.
For FY2022, the employee benefit expenses (including Directors’
remuneration in the form of fees, salaries and other allowances) were
approximately RMB22.0 million (FY2021: RMB14.4 million).

The emolument policies of the Group are based on performance,
experience, competence and market comparable. Remuneration
packages generally comprise salary, housing allowance, contribution to
pension schemes and discretionary bonus relating to the performance
of the Group. The Group has also adopted a share option scheme
for its employees, providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants with reference to their contributions. For details, please
refer to the section headed "Directors’ Report” in this annual report.
Proper training programmes were implemented in order to promote
employees’ career development and progression within the Group.
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OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

2023 Framework Agreements

As a continuity of the 2022 Framework Agreements, on 13 December
2022, Sichuan Lingwei entered into the 2023 Framework Agreements
with Huili Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining and Yanyuan Xigang. Pursuant
to the 2023 Framework Agreements, Sichuan Lingwei shall provide
facility management services, comprising operational site routine
services, mining engineering support services and consultancy services
(the "FM Services”), to the mining camps of Huili Caitong, Xiushuihe
Mining and Yanyuan Xigang for the period from 31 January 2023 to
31 December 2025. The annual cap for the transactions contemplated
under the 2023 Framework Agreements for the year ending 31
December 2023, 2024 and 2025 are RMB26,000,000, RMB34,000,000
and RMB34,000,000, respectively.

The Relevant Substantial Shareholders collectively hold more than 30%
equity interests in Chengyu Vanadium Titano, which in turn wholly
owns Huili Caitong. Xiushuihe Mining is in turn a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of Huili Caitong. Further, Yanyuan Xigang is ultimately
held indirectly as to more than 30% by the Relevant Substantial
Shareholders. Accordingly, each of Huili Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining
and Yanyuan Xigang is an associate of the Relevant Substantial
Shareholders and therefore is a connected person of the Company, and
the transactions contemplated under the 2023 Framework Agreements
constitute continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 13 December 2022
and the Company’s circular dated 10 January 2023 for further details.
The 2023 Framework Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereafter were approved by independent Shareholders in the 2023
EGM.

Master Guarantee Agreement

On 29 June 2022, the Company obtained the independent
Shareholders' approval for the Company to continue the provision of
CVT Guarantees pursuant to the Master Guarantee Agreement for the
period from 29 June 2022 to 31 December 2024.

Please refer to the Company's announcement dated 16 May 2022,
the Company's circular dated 8 June 2022, and the section headed
“Contingent Liabilities and Financial Guarantees” in this annual report
for further details.
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION REGARDING
THE QUALIFIED OPINION RELATING TO THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF
THE MANCALA AUSTRALIA GROUP

Ernst & Young, the auditor of the Company (the "Auditor”) has
rendered a qualified opinion (the “Qualified Opinion”) relating to the
consolidated financial statements of the Mancala Australia Group, the
disposal of which had been completed on 31 July 2021. Please refer to
pages 97 to 104 for the independent auditor's report.

With reference to pages 29 to 34 of the annual report for FY2021,
due to the administrative delay to the audit process since the loss
of management control upon completion of the disposal of the
Mancala Australia Group on 31 July 2021, as well as various control
measures and travel restrictions triggered by the resurgence of
COVID-19 infections in Australia, there were thus hurdles in getting
unencumbered assistance from the management of the Mancala
Australia Group for giving the Auditor access to all requisite accounting
records and relevant supporting documents of the Mancala Australia
Group for the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 July 2021 (the
“Relevant Period”), the Auditor had issued qualified opinion relating to
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021.

Given that the consolidated financial statements and the relevant
notes in relation to the Mancala Australia Group for the Relevant
Period which were qualified in FY2021 are brought forward and
presented as comparative figures and information in this annual report,
consequently, a qualified opinion on the same subject matter has been
rendered, which the Audit Committee accepts the Qualified Opinion
issued in relation to the Mancala Australia Group for FY2022 on such
basis.

Since the disposal of the Mancala Australia Group had been completed
on 31 July 2021 and the relevant financial figures and information in
relation to the Mancala Australia Group will no longer be included as
comparative figures in the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ending 31 December 2023, the management and
the Audit Committee are of the view that there will not be any such
qualified opinion for the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Company for the year ending 31 December 2023.

As reiterated, save for the audit qualification on the comparative
figures and information in relation to the Mancala Australia Group, the
financial statements of the Group presented herein remain a true and
fair view, in all material aspects.
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CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan
Mr. Teh, aged 50, was appointed as the non-executive Director on 26
July 2017 and subsequently appointed as the chairman of the Board
on 12 October 2017. Mr. Teh is also the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company.

Mr. Teh, a sophisticated investor, specialises in corporate restructuring,
corporate finance, and merger & acquisition. Mr. Teh is currently a
substantial shareholder, and an appointed non-independent and non-
executive chairman of Livingstone Health Holdings Limited (listed on the
Catalist of the SGX-ST and formerly known as Citicode Ltd.). He is also
an appointed advisor of Koda Ltd (listed on the main board of the SGX-
ST).

Mr. Teh was the executive chairman and chief executive officer
("CEQ") of Citicode Ltd (previously listed on the mainboard of the
SGX-ST) from July 2018 to February 2021 for which he completed its
corporate turnaround plan via a reverse takeover of a multi-disciplinary
healthcare services group, Livingstone Health Ltd. Mr. Teh was also the
group CEO and managing director of Sapphire Corporation Limited
("Sapphire”) (listed on the main board of the SGX-ST) from October
2013 to December 2017. Under his leadership, Sapphire has undergone
a major corporate restructuring exercise and he has transformed
Sapphire by acquiring one of the largest privately-owned urban rail
transit engineering groups in China. He has also led Sapphire to be the
first company listed outside Hong Kong to receive The Listed Enterprise
Excellence Awards 2016 from the Hong Kong-based Capital Weekly. Mr
Teh also served as a non-executive director for other public companies
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, SGX-ST and ASX.
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Some of Mr. Teh’s other investment and corporate portfolios included
but are not limited to — In 2002, he advised and completed the
restructuring and initial public offering (the “IPO") exercise of Koda Ltd
(which was named one of the best 200 companies under a billion by
Forbes Asia in 2006 and 2022) on the SGX-ST. In 2006, he evaluated
and advised a spinoff plan for the proposed IPO application of a
foreign-controlled enterprise on the Ho Chi Minh Stock Exchange.

In 2009, he advised and completed the restructuring and listing exercise
of one of Asia’s foremost liver centres, the Singapore-incorporated
Asian Centre For Liver Diseases & Transplantation Limited via a reverse
takeover of an ASX-listed fashion design house. Mr. Teh has also
previously involved in and advised on other corporate actions including
business reorganisation, corporate restructuring, proposed divestments,
corporate debts restructuring and cash exit offer for other publicly listed
companies, family-owned enterprises and regional asset owners.

Mr. Teh was nominated for the 2015 and 2016 Asia Pacific
Entrepreneurship Awards (Singapore) under the Industrial and
Commercial Products Industry as well as the 2017 and 2018
Outstanding Leaders in Asia Corporate Excellence & Sustainability
Awards under the Leadership Category. Mr. Teh is a fellow of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (United Kingdom), a
fellow chartered accountant of the Institute of Singapore Chartered
Accountants, an international affiliate of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a chartered accountant of the Malaysian
Institute of Accountants, a full member of the Singapore Institute of
Directors and an ordinary member of the Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hao Xiemin

Mr. Hao, aged 41, has been an executive Director and the financial
controller of the Company since 1 January 2018. He has been
appointed as the acting chief executive officer of the Company
since 13 July 2022. Mr. Hao is also a director/supervisor of certain
key subsidiaries of the Company and is responsible for the financial
reporting and management of these subsidiaries. He has 18 years of
experience in financial management and has also previously participated
in the IPO exercise of the Company, including pre-IPO reorganisation,
merger and acquisition, corporate finance matters and operational
reorganisation. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Hao was the financial
supervisor of the Panxi Region of the mining branch of Chuan Wei
from March 2010 to January 2012, a financial supervisor in each
of the financial management department of Chuan Wei from May
2006 to March 2010 and Sichuan Longwei Metal Products Co., Ltd.*
from July 2004 to April 2006, respectively. Mr. Hao has professional
qualification as an International Certified Management Accountant.
Mr. Hao obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics in June 2004.

Mr. Wang Hu

Mr. Wang, aged 43, has been an executive Director since 1 January
2018. He is also a member of the remuneration committee and an
authorized representative of the Company. Mr. Wang is the head of
legal and compliance department of the Company. Mr. Wang is also a
director/supervisor of certain key subsidiaries of the Company and is
responsible for legal and compliance matters of these subsidiaries. On
17 March 2023, Mr. Wang has been appointed as a non-independent
non-executive director and a member of the strategic committee of
Atlantic China Welding Consumables, Inc., a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Wang has 19 years of experience in
legal and compliance matters. Mr. Wang has previously participated in
the pre-IPO reorganisation and IPO exercise of the Company, including
merger and acquisition. He is responsible for the legal and compliance
matters of the Group after the listing of the Company. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Wang was the supervisor of legal department of
Chuan Wei from September 2003 to August 2008 and worked as a
client relationship manager in Agricultural Bank of China, Chongqing
Changshou branch* from August 2002 to September 2003. Mr. Wang
obtained a bachelor’s degree in law from Southwest University of
Political Science & Law in July 2002 and a master's degree in business
administration from Sichuan University in December 2020.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yu Haizong

Mr. Yu, aged 58, has been an independent non-executive Director since
4 September 2009. Mr. Yu is also the chairman of the audit committee
and a member of the nomination committee and the remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Yu was a chartered public accountant
in Sichuan Tongde Certified Accountants Firm* (formerly known as
Chengdu Xinda Certified Accountants Firm*) from 1994 to 2000, a
member of the expert panels of Land and Resources Department of
Sichuan Province and Science and Technology Department of Sichuan*.
Mr. Yu is a chartered public accountant (non-practicing) in the PRC,
and a professor, master and doctoral supervisor of the Accounting
Faculty of Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in
Chengdu, Sichuan. Mr. Yu is also the chairman of professor committee
in school of accounting at Southwestern University of Finance and
Economics in Chengdu, Sichuan.

Mr. Yu worked in the finance department of Weiyuan Steel Factory*
from July 1988 to August 1990. Mr. Yu served as an independent
nonexecutive director of Xinan Huaji Company Limited*, a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange from 1998 to 2000 and he
served as an independent non-executive director of Jinyu Checheng
Company Limited* (“Jinyu Checheng”), a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and was also a member of the audit
committee and remuneration committee of Jinyu Checheng from May
2004 to June 2010. As a member of the audit committee of Jinyu
Checheng, Mr. Yu's duties included reviewing the internal control
system and reviewing and analysing financial statements of the
company. Mr. Yu was an independent non-executive director and a
member of audit committee of Chengdu Tianxing Instruments (Group)
Co., Limited*, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from
June 2012 to June 2015. Mr. Yu was an independent non-executive
director and the chairman of the audit committee of Royal China
International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange, from February 2017 to September 2018. Mr. Yu was
also an independent non-executive director of Sichuan Jiuzhou Electric
Group Co., Ltd*, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
from May 2013 to October 2020. Currently, Mr. Yu is an independent
non-executive director of Chengdu Haoneng Technology Co., Ltd.* and
an independent non-executive director of HitGen Inc.,* both companies
are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Yu is currently also an
independent non-executive director, the chairman of the nomination
committee and a member of the strategic committee of Sichuan
Expressway Company Limited, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Yu received a bachelor’s degree from Southwestern University of
Finance and Economics in Chengdu, Sichuan in economics (accounting)
in July 1988, a master’s degree in economics (accounting) in December
1992 and a doctoral degree in management (accounting) in March
2002. Through his professional qualification as a chartered public
accountant, his education background in accounting and his previous
experience as an independent non-executive director of public
companies, he meets the criteria for accounting and related financial
management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Directors are of the view that Mr. Yu’s background and experience
in internal controls and reviewing and analysing audited financial
statements of a public company that he gained when he was serving
as a member or chairman of the audit committees of various public
companies enables him to meet the requirements under Rule 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules.

Mr. Liu Yi

Mr. Liu, aged 60, has been an independent non-executive Director since
4 September 2009. Mr. Liu is also the chairman of the remuneration
committee and a member of the audit committee and the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Liu has been working at Sichuan
Metallurgical Design and Research Institute since July 1987, engaging in
project consulting, beneficiation process and mining design, feasibility
study and relevant engineering design work and specialising in mineral
processing engineering. His past experiences in mining design projects
include constructing iron concentrate production lines of various
capacities and mining operations planning for vanadium-bearing titano
magnetite mines. He is the deputy chief engineer and the chief project
designer of the mining engineering institute of Sichuan Metallurgical
Design and Research Institute. He is also a Work Safety Expert in
Sichuan* appointed by Department of Emergency Management of
Sichuan Province. Mr. Liu graduated from the faculty of mining resource
engineering of Xi'an Metallurgy and Architecture College*, now known
as Xi'an University of Architecture and Technology, in Shaanxi and
received a bachelor’s degree in engineering in 1987.
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Mr. Wu Wen

Mr. Wu, aged 54, has been an independent non-executive Director
since 1 November 2014. Mr. Wu is also a member of the audit
committee and the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wu is
a qualified lawyer in the PRC. Mr. Wu graduated from Peking University
School of Law in 1990. Mr. Wu obtained a Juris Doctor degree from
Northwestern School of Law of Lewis and Clark College in 1998. Mr.
Wu worked as an associate of Sichuan Canway Law Firm from August
1998 to May 2002 and later became a partner from February 2003 to
December 2008. Mr. Wu also worked as legal counsel in Kodak (China)
Company Limited from May 2002 to December 2002. Mr. Wu practiced
law as a partner of Tahota Law Firm from February 2009 to February
2014. Since March 2014, Mr. Wu has been a partner of Zhong Lun Law
Firm. Mr. Wu is a member of the Chinese Bar Association.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Hao Xiemin

Mr. Hao is the acting chief executive officer and the financial controller
of the Company. Details of his biography are set out above in this
section.

Mr. Wang Hu
Mr. Wang is the head of legal and compliance of the Company. Details
of his biography are set out above in this section.
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The Directors hereby present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for FY2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries are mining and ore processing, sale of self-
produced products, trading of steels, mining facilities management
and management of strategic investments. Details of the Company’s
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022 are set out in note 1 to the
financial statements of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as a discussion
and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year as required
by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group's business, can be found in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement”,”Management Discussion and
Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report — Risk Management and
Internal Control” of this annual report. These discussions form part of

this Directors’ report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles provide that the Directors shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty; provided that
this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or
dishonesty which may attach to any of the Directors.

A directors' and officers' liability insurance is in place to protect the
Directors and officers against potential costs and liabilities arising from
claims brought against the Directors and officers.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for FY2022 are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 105 and 106 of this annual report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY AND FINAL DIVIDEND

On 27 December 2018, the Board adopted a dividend policy that, in
recommending or declaring dividends, the Company will maintain
adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital requirements
and future growth as well as its shareholder value. When considering
the declaration and payment of dividends, the Board will consider a
number of factors, including but not limited to the (i) Group’s financial
results and cash flow position, (ii) the Group’s future operations and
earnings, (iii) the Group's expected capital requirements and expansion
plans, (iv) the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level, (v) any
restrictions on payment of dividends under any financial covenant
undertaken by the Group, (vi) the retained earnings and distributable
reserves of the Company and each of the members of the Group,
(vii) the Shareholders’ expectations and industry norms, and (viii) the
general market conditions.

The Board does not recommend payment of a final dividend for FY2022
(FY2021: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
22 June 2023 to Wednesday, 28 June 2023 (both days inclusive) during
which no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to determine the
entitlement to attend and vote at the 2023 AGM, all share transfers
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17" Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 21 June 2023.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Additions to property, plant and equipment of the Group for FY2022
amounted to approximately RMB36.3 million (FY2021: RMB18.3
million). Details of the movements during the year in the Group's
property, plant and equipment are set out in note 13 to the financial
statements of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

There was no change in the authorised and issued share capital of the
Company during FY2022. Details of the movements during the year in
the issued share capital of the Company are set out in note 27 to the
financial statements of this annual report.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements during FY2022 in the reserves of the Group
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page
109 of this annual report.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company's reserves available for
distribution to the Shareholders in accordance with the Articles were
RMB1,877.5 million.

Under the Companies Act, subject to the provision of the Articles, the
share premium account may be applied by the Company in paying
distributions or dividends to its members or in paying up unissued
shares to be issued to its members as fully paid bonus shares provided
that no distribution or dividend may be paid to members out of the
share premium account unless, immediately following the date on
which the distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

The reserves of the Company available for distribution depend on the
dividend distributable by the Company’s subsidiaries. For dividend
purposes, the amount which the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC
can legally distribute by way of a dividend is determined by reference
to their distributable profits as reflected in the PRC statutory financial
statements which are prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the PRC. These distributable profits differ from
those that are reflected in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
prepared in accordance with the IFRSs.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 239 to
241 of this annual report.

BANK AND OTHER LOANS

Details of the loans and borrowings of the Group for FY2022 are set
out in note 25 to the financial statements of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For FY2022 and FY2021, sales to the Group’'s five largest customers

accounted for 98.6% and 99.2% of the total revenue of the Group,
respectively, and sales to the largest customer accounted for 88.4%
and 91.6%, respectively.
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During the year, the Group’s customers were highly concentrated
primarily because (i) the steels and iron products are bulk raw
materials and the customers required stable supply and (ii) the
production volumes of self-produced products were low and our pool
of target customers was small. The Group was aware of the risk of
a concentrated customer base and has entered into non-exclusive
sales agreements with several potential customers. Pursuant to the
agreements, the Group is able to sell any of our products to the
potential customers without any restrictions.

For FY2022 and FY2021, purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for 95.5% and 97.3% of the total purchases of the
Group, respectively, and purchases from the largest supplier accounted
for 54.1% and 91.8%, respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholder
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5.0%
of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in any
of the Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report
are as follows:

Non-executive Director
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan

Executive Directors
Mr. Hao Xiemin
Mr. Wang Hu

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yu Haizong

Mr. Liu Yi

Mr. Wu Wen

Biographical details of the current Directors are set out in the section
headed "Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 30 to
35 of this annual report.

In accordance with Articles 84(1) and 84(2) of the Articles, Messrs. Yu
Haizong and Liu Yi will retire at the 2023 AGM and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the 2023 AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Hao Xiemin and Mr. Wang Hu entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from 1 January 2023.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the 2023 AGM has
entered into any service agreement with the Company which is not
terminable within one year without payment of compensation (other
than the statutory compensation).

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference to the
Directors’ duties, responsibilities, performance and the results of the
Group.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 8 to the
financial statements of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICIES

The emolument policies of the Group are based on performance,
experience, competence and market comparable. Remuneration
packages generally comprise salary, housing allowance, contribution to
pension schemes and discretionary bonus relating to the performance
of the Group.

When compared to other employees of the Group, the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management place a heavier
weight on their contributions to the performance of the Group. This is
achieved by way of share option schemes. The emolument policies of
the Directors and senior management are overseen by the remuneration
committee of the Company.

Details of the share option schemes are set out under the section
headed “Share Options” of this report and note 28 to the financial
statements of this annual report.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent in accordance
with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required
to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or (c) were
required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, are as follows:

Long positions in share options granted by the
Company

Number of share options held by the Directors and chief executives of
the Company as at 31 December 2022:

EEhEETHRASRKMD
AR D REREF R S

XE

R2022F12A31H KRB EERRBITHEA
BRAARXERBEH LR (EEREBSFRPEKR
B FEXVER) BB 1H ~ BRI IS R EREE P HEA ()
RIEE S RHAERGIEXVENE 7R E’D A
BERRNBREBH M ER RXE (BIFRE
BERPERIBRABRXHEFARAEERN
HmERA) ; Fb)IRIEEF R EHEAFE352
BAEEBNZEMEESMIERRRXE ; &
(ORBIRETR BN G AR RE B TR
BREORBWNT .

RAEABFRREROIAENGT S

R2022F 1283 1B ARBEERERSTHRA
ERENRMIAEHRE

Percentage of

Number of Number of the Company’s

share options underlying issued share

Name Capacity held Shares capital

FR¥E R (7 LA ATEBIT

i 13 HE#E HERGE®E RANESLE

Mr. Wang Hu Beneficial owner 800,000 800,000 0.04%
FRELE EmEB A

Mr. Hao Xiemin Beneficial owner 100,000 100,000 0.00%*
il o1 B 5T BEmEAA

Mr. Yu Haizong Beneficial owner 100,000 100,000 0.00%"
RBRAEE EmEB A

Mr. Liu Yi Beneficial owner 100,000 100,000 0.00%*
BTt BEmEAA

# Less than 0.01%

The details of share options held by the Directors and chief executives
of the Company are disclosed under the section headed “Share
Options” of this report.

# /0j20.01%

ERBREFRESTHRABFAENRD AEF
BRARETIRM AR —&RE-
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, so far as is known
to all the Directors and chief executives of the Company, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be notified to the Company
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
(b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein or (c) were required, pursuant to the
Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

SHARE OPTIONS

At the 2020 AGM, an ordinary resolution to adopt a new share option
scheme (the “2020 Option Scheme”) was approved to ensure the
continuity of the Company's share option scheme after the expiration
of a prior share option scheme on 14 April 2020 (the “2010 Option
Scheme”). The 2020 Option Scheme has become effective for a period
of 10 years commencing on 16 June 2020. Outstanding share options
granted during the life of the 2010 Option Scheme prior to its expiry
shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms
of the 2010 Option Scheme.

Summary of the 2010 Option Scheme

The purposes of adopting the 2010 Option Scheme are: (i) to broaden
the scope of eligible persons to include all substantial Shareholders
and any person whom the Board considers to have contributed to the
development and growth of the Company; (ii) to provide incentive or
reward to eligible persons for their contributions to, and continuing
efforts to promote the interests of the Company; and (iii) to enable
the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees. The eligible
persons include directors, chief executives, substantial Shareholders or
employees (whether full time or part time) of any member of the Group
and any person who the Board considers, at its sole discretion, to have
contributed or will contribute to the development and growth of the
Group.

Directors’ Report
EEEWRES

f EXXFrifEEE SN - 122022128310 il 4
REEREERESTTBRAEMA AQFE
ERBRETHAEMER AN N EHERK LE
(EERBHRPERGIEXVER) BIRH ~ 18R
BHhREREPERTAQIREES MBER
BIEXVE BT R ESD BN ERRB RE B
RFTNEEI KA (BIEREBEES MAERAB
RSO EERRABEENER AOXB) ; TUb)
RIEE S R E KA FE3521& B R s &Fr
IEE MR KE ; FORIERETRAE
HEARRNBAREBH MR KR

P& 17 HA 4

MR AT S BB st &) (T 20105 8RS ) B
2020548148 B ERfEm > RlIE > 2020 AR R
BEAZEBA—BLERZZ LURAHTRD
HAREETE) (T 20205 HARET ) > ERA QBB
PHARE ST BB LUIEAE - 2020 F A ST B B A &£
3> BH202056 516 HEAHA104 1220105 11
TSt B HA T Al B A R T s R AT R AV AR
HARE IR BB20 1 OFE HARE ST B MU IR A B B S )
FiTfE

2010F HATEST I E
REN2010F MBI EE(BERAGTERALHN
BLE>UBEMAIERIAREFEIHEL
HARBDERKRERFLERMBIEMAL ;)
MEBERATRBEBNEE  UREHEHE
NENEMAFES NRERAB M ; Kiii)
EAEEVBEEAMMEBESREE-cEBAL
BRAEETAXNELRFANEZT - RSTHA
EFERIVEWARBES UREFEE
REEIRABEIREHEERLERKLIERF
LERBEMAL

2022 £ | PENKEBEXZERAF 43



Directors’ Report
EEgWmRES

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2010 Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in
issue from time to time. The maximum number of Shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted
to each eligible person under the 2010 Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes shall not in any 12-month period up to the date
of grant exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to the Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. The
Company had 9,600,000 share options outstanding under the 2010
Option Scheme, which represented 0.43% of the Shares in issue as at
the date of this annual report.

Any grant of options to a Director, chief executives or to a substantial
Shareholder or any of their respective associates is required to be
approved by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding
independent non-executive Directors who are the grantees of the
options). If any grant of options to a substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director or any of their respective associates
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and to be granted to such person in the 12 months
up to and including the date of the offer of such grant: (i) representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue on the date of the
offer; and (ii) having an aggregate value in excess of HKD5.0 million,
based on the closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange at the date of grant, such further grant of options is
subject to the Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting at which all
connected persons of the Company shall abstain from voting in favour
of the grant at such meeting and other requirements prescribed under
the Listing Rules from time to time.

A consideration of HKD1.0 is payable by grantees on acceptance of the
offer of the grant of an option. There is no general requirement that an
option must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised
but the Board is empowered to impose at its absolute discretion any
such minimum period at the time of grant of any particular option. For
the vesting period of the share options granted under the 2010 Option
Scheme, please refer to the table on page 46 of this annual report.

BEITRERE2010F MR ST 8 RAE A A MR D
RSB RHELRITEN R RITERERAY
FETHERSRNDBE aHTFTEBBERT
FEBETRMDN30% - REMEER L B 5
B91218 B HAM A > 1T E B K & 20104 H1
B R EFEMBRMRAESI TEAN—%S
ERATRHOBERECETRR FTETH
ReERNVEE THEEBEBEAATNEHBHE
BITRAN % - E—TRHBBILREN RN
HEANRRREAG LSRR E-ZAQFR
#2010 HARE 5T £13£759,600,00017 i R AT R
PR BN AFRABPNERETRN0.43%

BESF BRETHAERFERFTRFESE
BB AREEE NBEBUIERTES (R
BIEAEARRANBIIENTES) B
FEREXABUFATEETRRESENHE
ABETAHEENERREERBEELN A
ENREAR BHROTFELERBEEEZALTER
HHAEEELARETHTHRMDHEE ()&
HBBELHHPAEETRLB0.1%; M(i)4EEB
85,000,000 T (UKRSREE HBESEH
RETFTRB T EAESE) » AJE— PR HBREEA
RIREAS EEREREHE MAQATWE I
MEBEALEBERERZS LREGMTHERE
BB R R AR ] AN EMEE o

EEANEMEHAENENRERHNG1.087T
WAEB-ZstB M ERAIRENETEAMRA
REREHRN—RAE HEETARIEZH
BHNBEREERLINEENERREREH
R A RIRZE2010F RS B R BB B
WEREEH F2REAFRFIENT|K-

44 CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2022 ANNUAL REPORT



Upon acceptance, the date of grant of any particular option is deemed
to have taken effect from the date on which an offer is made. Any
option may be exercised according to the terms of the 2010 Option
Scheme and the offer in whole or in part by the grantee (or his/her
personal representatives) before its expiry by giving notice in writing
to the Company stating that the option is to be exercised and the
number of Shares in respect of which it is exercised. The period during
which an option may be exercised will be determined by the Board at
its absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than
ten years from the date of grant. For the exercise period of the share
options granted under the 2010 Option Scheme, please refer to the
table on page 46 of this annual report. The 2010 Option Scheme was
valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing from the date
of approval of the 2010 Option Scheme. The 2010 Option Scheme has
expired on 14 April 2020 and no option may be granted thereafter.

The subscription price in relation to each option shall be determined by
the Board at its absolute discretion, but in any event shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option. In the event of a grantee ceasing
to be an eligible person for any reason other than (i) by reason of
summary dismissal for misconduct or other breach of the terms of his
employment or other contract constituting him an eligible person, or
appears either to be unable to pay or to have no reasonable prospect
of being able to pay his debts or has become insolvent or has made any
arrangement or composition with his creditors generally or on which
he has been convicted of any criminal offence involving his integrity
or honesty; or (ii) by death, the option may be exercised within one
month after the date of such cessation, which date shall be (i) if he is
an employee of any member of the Group, his last actual working day
with such member of the Group whether salary is paid in lieu of notice
or not; or (ii) if he is not an employee of any member of the Group, the
date on which the relationship constituting him as an eligible person
ceases.
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Details of the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2022 which ER#E2010FHARE St 83 HE 102022512831

have been granted under the 2010 Option Scheme are as follows:

Notes:

46

B ARITEB R AR ¢

Number of
share options
outstanding

as at
Exercise price per 01.01.2022 and
Name or category of participant Date of grant Exercise period™ share option 31.12.2022@
20224
1818 &
20224
12A831H
i RAT 6
‘ SRR BB
BEATHARER BHAH fTfEEe ﬁﬁ@?"{@% mEgae
HKD
(B7)
Directors/chief executives of the Company
FRAREE /BRETHAS
Mr. Wang Hu (Executive Director) 15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 400,000
IREE BITES) 15.04.2014 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 200,000
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 200,000
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Mr. Hao Xiemin (Executive Director) 15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 50,000
WHGEE BITER) 15.04.2014 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Mr. Yu Haizong 15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 50,000
(Independent Non-executive Director) 15.04.2014 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
REREE BUFRTES) 15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Mr. Liu Yi 15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 50,000
(Independent Non-executive Director) 15.04.2014 15.10.2014%F14.04.2024
AREE BUFRITER) 15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Employees of the Group
ZkéfEé
15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 4,250,000
15.04.2014 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 2,125,000
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 2,125,000
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Total: 9,600,000
W5t
MEsE :
The vesting period of the share options is from the respective dates of 1. ROHENEBHAREEREEHERET
grant until the commencement of the exercise period. fEHARRIE A LE o
There were no share options granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed 2. 2022 B E R R BB EER W BT
during FY2022. R B S
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Summary of the 2020 Option Scheme

The purposes of adopting the 2020 Option Scheme are: (i) to provide
incentive or reward to eligible persons for their contribution to, and
continuing efforts to promote the interests of, the Company; and (ii)
to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees. The
eligible persons include any director(s), chief executive(s) (as defined
under the Listing Rules), employee(s) (whether full time or part time)
of any member of the Group, and any substantial Shareholder(s) (as
defined under the Listing Rules), suppliers, customers, contractors,
service providers, agents, advisers, consultants, joint venture partners
and business partners, of any member of the Group, who the Board
considers, in its sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute to
the development and growth of the Group.

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2020 Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in
issue from time to time. The maximum number of Shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under all schemes
adopted by the Company, must not in aggregate exceed 224,901,541
Shares, being 10% of the total number of Shares then in issue as
at the date of adoption of the 2020 Option Scheme (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”). Options lapsed under the 2020 Option Scheme or any
other share option schemes shall not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit. The maximum number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be
granted to each eligible person under the 2020 Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes shall not in any 12-month period up to the
date of grant exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to the Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. The
number of share options available for grant under the scheme mandate
of the 2020 Option Scheme as at 1 January 2022 and 31 December
2022, respectively, is 224,901,541. The Company had 224,901,541
Shares available for issue under the 2020 Option Scheme, which
represented 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of this annual
report.
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Any grant of options to a Director, chief executive or substantial
Shareholder or any of their respective associates is required to be
approved by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding
independent non-executive Directors who are the grantees of the
options). If any grant of options to a substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director or any of their respective associates
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and to be granted to such person in the 12 months
up to and including the date of the offer of such grant: (i) representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue on the date of the
offer; and (ii) having an aggregate value in excess of HKD5.0 million,
based on the closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange at the date of grant, such further grant of options is
subject to the Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting at which all
connected persons of the Company shall abstain from voting in favour
of the grant at such meeting and other requirements prescribed under
the Listing Rules from time to time.

A consideration of HKD1.0 is payable by grantees on acceptance of the
offer of the grant of an option. There is no general requirement that an
option must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised
but the Board is empowered to impose at its absolute discretion any
such minimum period at the time of grant of any particular option.

Upon acceptance, the date of grant of any particular option is deemed
to have taken effect from the date on which an offer is made. Any
option may be exercised according to the terms of the 2020 Option
Scheme and the offer in whole or in part by the grantee (or his/her
personal representatives) before its expiry by giving notice in writing to
the Company stating that the option is to be exercised and the number
of Shares in respect of which it is exercised. The period during which an
option may be exercised will be determined by the Board at its absolute
discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than ten years
from the date of grant. The 2020 Option Scheme is valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing from the date of approval of the
2020 Option Scheme. The 2020 Option Scheme will expire on 15 June
2030 and no option may be granted thereafter.

HESE RETHAERFERERFESE
BB ARLEE  NBEBIIERTES OF
BIEAREERRANBIIENTES B
FEREXABUIFATEETARSSENHE
ANEBHEAPEENERREERBEELN A
ER2EER  BHROFELRFETAZALE
HHARZELSREEETHROEE - ()E
HBBEEZHABPEETRN0.1%; MiEEB
185,000,000 7Tt URMSRIBHBHBESER
TR EAEE) BJE— DR HEEEEA
RRERG EENERENME MARTRZ I
FEBEATBNENRZS LREEMFEHER
BB IR RN R ] AR E MR E o

ARAZMROPAENZORABNG1.08T
WAE ZstE L ERENENETERMA
FAREHBRN-—RAEE HEFTEERE
BHNBEREERUEAEENERREREH
MR

RiEZME FARERENREBRERES
BEHEAMNBIREN - REAN (FHEER
EA) AR R AR 2020 F A S 8
SRFERAERTHHBENE  FIHAE 22
WA DT EIE RITEMERTY ROEE U
TEROBE - BRTEHHRESSEENE
BEETFEBHEED AMES + 20205
st B HER EEH RS T FHBEAN
e AR 2 20204F AR5 B 1 2030F6 A 150 &
o R NSRBI

48 CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2022 ANNUAL REPORT



The subscription price in relation to each option shall be determined by
the Board at its absolute discretion, but in any event shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option (which must be a business day).
In the event of a grantee ceasing to be an eligible person for any
reason other than (i) by reason of summary dismissal for misconduct
or other breach of the terms of his employment or other contract
constituting him an eligible person, or appears either to be unable to
pay or to have no reasonable prospect of being able to pay his debts
or has become insolvent or has made any arrangement or composition
with his creditors generally or on which he has been convicted of any
criminal offence involving his integrity or honesty; or (ii) by death,
the option may be exercised within one month after the date of such
cessation, which date shall be (i) if he is an employee of any member
of the Group, his last actual working day with such member of the
Group whether salary is paid in lieu of notice or not; or (ii) if he is
not an employee of any member of the Group, the date on which the
relationship constituting him as an eligible person ceases.

No share options have been granted since the adoption of the 2020
Option Scheme at the 2020 AGM.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company,
its parent companies or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER

PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES
To the best knowledge of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 December 2022, persons (other than the Directors
or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short

positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be

disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or as recorded in the register required to be kept by

the Company under Section 336 of the SFO are as follows:

Long positions in Shares:

Name

BB/ 4

Trisonic International
EEIELS
Kingston Grand
Kingston Grand
Mr. Wang Jin
THEE

Mr. Yang Xianlu
R ERE

Mr. Wu Wendong
BNEREE

Mr. Li Hesheng
FHBEE

Mr. Shi Yinjun
ARERE

Mr. Zhang Yuangui
REELE

Notes

18&5
155
18&5
155
18&5
155

Long Sino International Limited 2, 3 &5
Long Sino International Limited 2~ 35

Mr. Zou Hua
WELRE

Ms. Jiang Hua
ZEZL

Sichuan Trust Co., Ltd.

mIEFEBERAR

Erie Investments Limited
Erie Investments Limited

3,4&5
3 4K%5
48&5
4%5

Directly
beneficially
owned

1,006,754,000

202,892,000

Through
parties acting
in concert

BE—
TBALHEE

1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000

1,006,754,000

FERRKREMALRERG K
MR PRI m

MARBEEFAZSITHRAERRM > 122022
F128318 > RIRDIABRRMN T HEAREE
FREEFRAEXVEE2RFID B IR AD
KRB WBEHNRERBDREEF A EIRG S
336RAEFEMNE LM BRI KA ANAL
(FERBDEFHAZSTHAERIN IOF :

RERBEFE

Held in
the capacity of Percentage
a person of the
having Company'’s
a security issued
interest share
in Shares Total capital
NEHRG X VA
EREZATH BEITRE
BIREE ECEE] BA
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
614,080,000 614,080,000 27.30%
- 202,892,000 9.02%
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Notes:

1. The issued share capital of Trisonic International is held in the following
manner: 3.0% by Mr. Li Hesheng, 42.6% by Mr. Wang Jin, 7.2% by Mr.
Shi Yinjun, 7.2% by Mr. Zhang Yuangui and 40.0% by Kingston Grand.

2. The issued share capital of Kingston Grand is 100% held by Long Sino
International Limited.

3. The issued share capital of Long Sino International Limited is 100% held
by Mr. Zou Hua.

4. Ms. Jiang Hua is the spouse of Mr. Zou Hua.

5. As at 31 December 2022, 1,006,754,000 Shares were held by Trisonic
International. Since Trisonic International, Kingston Grand, Messrs.
Wang Jin, Yang Xianlu, Wu Wendong, Li Hesheng, Shi Yinjun and Zhang
Yuangui, Long Sino International Limited, Mr. Zou Hua and Ms. Jiang
Hua were parties acting in concert, each of Kingston Grand, Messrs.
Wang Jin, Yang Xianlu, Wu Wendong, Li Hesheng, Shi Yinjun and Zhang
Yuangui, Long Sino International Limited, Mr. Zou Hua and Ms. Jiang
Hua was deemed to be interested in 1,006,754,000 Shares held by
Trisonic International.

6. Mr. Wang Jin is a director of Trisonic International.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company had
not been notified by any persons (other than the Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

In order to restrict competition activities between the Controlling
Shareholders and the Company, the Controlling Shareholders entered
into a deed of non-competition in favour of the Company dated 23
September 2009 (the “Non-Competition Deed").
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The undertakings and covenants stipulated under the Non-Competition
Deed cover any business which involves ore processing and sale of
iron concentrates, iron pellets, titanium concentrates and titanium
related downstream products or any other business from time to time
conducted by any member of the Group (the “Competing Business”) in
Hong Kong, the PRC or such other part of the world where any member
of the Group carries on its business from time to time other than the
mines owned or operated by Weixi Guangfa and Yanyuan Xiwei.

Pursuant to the Non-Competition Deed, the Controlling Shareholders
having an opportunity to invest in, participate in, engage in, operate
or manage any Competing Business (the “Business Opportunity”) shall
notify the Company about such Business Opportunity in writing. The
Company shall have the first right of refusal under the same investment
terms to such Controlling Shareholders. The Controlling Shareholders
shall implement the project only if the Company has confirmed that
it has no intention to invest, participate in, engage in or operate such
Business Opportunity as approved by the Board.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, the Company has not
entered into any contract with any individual, firm or body corporate to
manage or administer the whole or any substantial part of any business
of the Company during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Except for the service contracts and share option schemes as disclosed
in this annual report, there were no transactions, arrangements, or
contracts of significance in relation to the business of the Group, to
which the Company, its parent companies, its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected
with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'S INTERESTS IN
SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 35 to the financial statements headed
“Related Party Transactions” on pages 224 to 227 of this annual report
and the section headed "Continuing Connected Transactions" on pages
53 to 58 of this annual report, no contracts of significance between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors had an interest in any business
constituting a competing business to the Company.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Provision of the CVT Guarantees by the Company
under the Master Guarantee Agreement

On 29 January 2019, Sichuan Lingyu entered into a sale and purchase
agreement in respect of the 2019 Disposal at a consideration of
RMB550.0 million with Chengyu Vanadium Titano. Upon the 2019
Completion, the Caitong Group (i) ceased to be the subsidiaries of
the Company and (ii) has since become the subsidiaries of Chengyu
Vanadium Titano. As the Relevant Substantial Shareholders collectively
hold more than 30% equity interests in Chengyu Vanadium Titano,
Chengyu Vanadium Titano is an associate of the Relevant Substantial
Shareholders, and therefore is a connected person of the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules. Please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 29 January 2019 and 30 July 2019, and the circular
of the Company dated 10 June 2019 for further details of the 2019
Disposal.

Immediately upon the 2019 Completion, Chengyu Vanadium Titano
has become the holding company of the Caitong Group. Accordingly,
each of the Caitong Group companies becomes an associate of the
Relevant Substantial Shareholders, and therefore is a connected person
(as defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company.

Prior to the 2019 Completion, the Company had provided the CVT
Guarantees in favour of the Financial Institutions guaranteeing, inter
alia, the indebtedness owing by Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining
to the Financial Institutions (including but not limited to the principal,
interests, liquidated damages, compensation and other costs and
expenses payable by Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining under the
facilities granted by the Financial Institutions to Huili Caitong) and
Xiushuihe Mining, with a maximum aggregate guaranteed amount of
RMB730.0 million.
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Following the 2019 Completion and pending completion of the release
of the CVT Guarantees by the Financial Institutions, the Company and
Chengyu Vanadium Titano entered into 2019 Counter Indemnity. The
2019 Counter Indemnity shall remain effective until the date of actual
release of the CVT Guarantees.

The Financial Institutions have informed Chengyu Vanadium Titano,
Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining that they will only release the
CVT Guarantees provided that the total outstanding Loans (as defined
below) are fully repaid. Given that the CVT Guarantees are continuing
in nature and will only be released upon the full and final settlement
being made and officially discharged by the Financial Institutions, the
Company has (i) requested for the extension of the 2019 Counter
Indemnity in favour of the Company and (ii) required all the relevant
existing agreements in connection with the CVT Guarantees be
consolidated and combined into the Master Guarantee Agreement for
ease of administration. The Company, Huili Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining
and Chengyu Vanadium Titano entered into the Master Guarantee
Agreement on 16 May 2022, pursuant to which, among other things,

(i) The Company shall continue the provision of the CVT
Guarantees in favour of the Financial Institutions for a term
commencing from 29 June 2022 to 31 December 2024 (the
“Master Guarantee Period”), subject to a maximum aggregate
guaranteed amount of RMB730.0 million which shall cover:

(a) the indebtedness owing by Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe
Mining to the Financial Institutions under the CVT
Guarantees; and
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(b) any loans approved by the Financial Institutions for
rollover under the extension of the aforementioned
indebtedness from time to time;

(collectively, the "Loans"),

Huili Caitong and Xishuihe Mining shall ensure that the
aggregate amount of the Loans and the total interest for the
Loans during the Master Guarantee Period shall not exceed
RMB601.0 million;

Huili Caitong and Xishuihe Mining shall pay an annual
guarantee fee to the Company, calculated at 1.25% of the
maximum guaranteed amounts during the Master Guarantee
Period; and

Chengyu Vanadium Titano shall provide counter-indemnity in
favour of the Company by:

(a) pledging its inventories (comprising structural steels and
iron ores, or any other assets approved by the Company)
as security for such counter-indemnity. The market value
of such pledged inventories shall not be less than 1.25
times of the maximum guaranteed amounts; and

(b) providing a joint liability guarantee which allows the
Company to claim against Chengyu Vanadium Titano
directly for any payments, losses and expenses incurred
as a result of the CVT Guarantees.

Further, Chengyu Vanadium Titano, Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining
have signed a letter of undertaking to the Company, pursuant to which,
Chengyu Vanadium Titano, Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining have
undertaken that they shall, on best effort basis, reduce the maximum
guaranteed amounts to not more than RMB530.0 million by 31
December 2024 from the existing RMB730.0 million.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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As at 31 December 2022, the details of the Loans covered by the
Master Guarantee Agreement are as follows:

Note:

56

Financial Institutions Borrowers Guarantor

SRS fERA ERA

China Cinda Asset Management Huili Caitong the Company
Co., Ltd., Sichuan Branch®

HEEEEESERNBRAR SR PA/NS|
VIVNSI

Industrial and Commercial Bank of Huili Caitong the Company
China Limited, Liangshan Branch

RETIHRITRABRABRUAT BIRME /NS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of Xiushuihe the Company
China Limited, Liangshan Branch Mining

RETIHRTRABRABERUNT FRATEE ZiN/N]

China Construction Bank Corporation, Huili Caitong the Company
Liangshan Branch

RERFRITRABRABRUAT GEH B /NS

Total

wst

The guarantee provided by the Company in favour of China Merchant
Bank Co., Ltd, Chengdu Branch ("CMB") was created on 11 September
2014. Pursuant to the guarantee dated 11 September 2014 and entered
into between the Company and CMB, the Company granted the
guarantee in favour of CMB for the indebtedness of Huili Caitong under
the credit agreement, which was executed between Huili Caitong and
CMB on even date. By a notice of assignment of loan on 6 July 2017,
the Company was informed of the assignment by CMB of all its rights in
the credit agreement and the guarantee in favour of China Cinda Asset
Management Co., Ltd, Sichuan Branch.

R2022F 128310 FRFBEFAHRENZSE
EBFEBEHIWT

Loan details
B
Maximum

guaranteed Year of  Outstanding
amount inception amount
= ERE MIREHR HAEESH
(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
ANEEFT) ANEETT)
200,000 2014 140,975

20144
70,000 2013 69,715

20135
20,000 2013 19,000

20134
400,000 2010 285,675

20104
690,000 515,365

B 5T

1. RATBPTIRBUBEIRITRMN B RAQ B A

Si7 (HEEIRTT)) A2 m ARER 122014
FIORNBRIU - BRIBFARBEBEIBITAET
I HERA2014F98 11 AMER AATARE
B ERAEERTRAEBELNEERAT
SEMENED WBEIRTASHE ARMHE
RoR2017E7H6HNERER BN AR
BESH BERTUTEGEEEESERG
ERABHENDABDAS® A ERBEIRT
RIEERRRERN 2 IEF -

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2022 ANNUAL REPORT



For further details of the Master Guarantee Agreement, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 16 May 2022 and the
circular of the Company dated 8 June 2022.

2022 Framework Agreements

On 21 March 2022, Sichuan Lingwei (as service provider) entered
into (i) the facility management services framework agreement with
Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining (as customers) and (ii) the facility
management services framework agreement with Yanyuan Xigang (as
customer). Xiushuihe Mining is owned as to 95% by Huili Caitong,
which is in turn wholly- owned by Chengyu Vanadium Titano. Chengyu
Vanadium Titano is collectively held as to more than 30% by the
Relevant Substantial Shareholders. Yanyuan Xigang is ultimately
held indirectly as to more than 30% by the Relevant Substantial
Shareholders. Accordingly, each of Huili Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining
and Yanyuan Xigang is an associate of the Relevant Substantial
Shareholders, and therefore, is a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the 2022 Framework Agreements,
Sichuan Lingwei has provided various facility management services,
including operational site services and mining engineering support and
consultancy services, to the mining camps of Huili Caitong, Xiushuihe
Mining and Yanyuan Xigang from 1 April 2022 to 31 December 2022.
The annual cap for the transactions contemplated under the 2022
Framework Agreements for FY2022 is RMB12,900,000.

For further details of the 2022 Framework Agreements, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 21 March 2022.

Other than the continuing connected transactions set out above,
in respect of which the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been complied with, no contract
of significance has been entered into between the Company or any of
its subsidiaries and the substantial Shareholders during FY2022.

Annual review conducted by the independent
non-executive Directors on the non-exempt
continuing connected transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that such transactions
were entered into:

. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

° on normal commercial terms or better; and
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o in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the
relevant transactions on terms that were fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Annual review conducted by the auditor of

the Company on the non-exempt continuing
connected transactions

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with the Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor's Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
Company’s auditor has issued their unqualified letter containing their
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in this annual report in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has
been provided by the Company to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

The auditor of the Company has reviewed the continuing connected
transactions mentioned above and confirmed to the Board that:

o nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have not
been approved by the Board;

o for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by
the Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes
them to believe that the transactions were not entered into, in
all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of
the Group;

o nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
such transactions; and

° nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the amount of each of the transactions has exceeded its
specific amount mentioned above.

The Company confirms that the execution and performance of the
specific agreements in respect of the above continuing connected
transactions during FY2022 were in compliance with the pricing
principles of such continuing connected transactions.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review and supervise
the financial reporting process and internal control procedures.

The audit committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Haizong (Chairman), Mr. Liu Yi and
Mr. Wu Wen.

During FY2022, the audit committee has reviewed: (i) the audited
consolidated financial statements and annual results announcement of
the Group for FY2021 and (ii) the consolidated financial statements and
interim results announcement of the Group for the six months ended
30 June 2022; and (iii) the risk management and internal control system
of the Group. Details of the risk management and internal control of
the Group are set out on pages 85 to 92 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The remuneration committee currently comprises two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Liu Yi (Chairman) and Mr. Yu Haizong
and one executive Director, namely Mr. Wang Hu.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The nomination committee currently comprises one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Teh Wing Kwan (Chairman) and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Haizong, Mr. Liu Yi and Mr. Wu
Wen.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions relating to pre-emptive rights over the Shares
under the Articles.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiries to all the Directors, all the Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in
the Model Code throughout FY2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted the CG Code as its own code of corporate
governance. During FY2022, the Company has complied with all the
applicable code provisions under the CG Code. The Company will
continue to review and monitor its corporate governance practices to
ensure compliance with the CG Code.

For details of the Corporate Governance Report, please refer to pages
65 to 96 of this annual report.

CHANGE IN DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES' INFORMATION

Save for (i) the resignation of Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping as an authorised
representative (as required under the Listing Rules), executive Director,
chief executive officer of the Company, a member of the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company, the
appointment of Mr. Hao Xiemin as the acting chief executive officer
of the Company, the appointment of Mr. Wang Hu as the authorised
representative of the Company (as required under the Listing Rules)
and a member of the remuneration committee of the Company as
announced by the Company on 13 July 2022; and (ii) the appointment
of Mr. Wang Hu as a non-independent non-executive director of
Atlantic China Welding Consumables, Inc. (a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, there has been no change in directors’ and
chief executives’ information which is required to be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During FY2022, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group in
the ordinary course of business are set out in note 35 to the financial
statements of this annual report. The Company has complied with
the applicable requirements under the Listing Rules for those related
party transactions which constituted connected transaction/continuing
connected transactions under the Listing Rules, as disclosed in the
section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” on pages 53 to
58 of this annual report. Save for the abovementioned, other related
party transactions as set out in note 35 to the financial statements
either did not constitute connected transactions/continuing connected
transactions or constituted connected transactions/continuing
connected transactions but were exempted from all disclosure and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the publicly available information and to the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, information and belief and as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as
required under the Listing Rules.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS
AND CUSTOMERS

(i) Employees

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 215
dedicated full time employees, representing a increase of
approximately 69.3% as compared to the previous year.
Almost all of the Group's employees are based in the PRC. The
employee turnover rate for the year was approximately 10.2%.
The total full-time employees included 79 female employees
and 136 male employees, of which 34 employees were aged
30 or below, 74 employees were aged between 31 and 40, 73
employees were aged between 41 and 50, and 34 employees
were aged 51 or above. Management maintained good
communications with the employees and encouraged feedback
from them. The proper training programmes were implemented
in order to promote employees’ career development and
progression within the Group. The Group evaluated the
employees' performance regularly, and promotions and further
training were provided when necessary.
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(i)

(iii)

Suppliers

During the year, the Group’s suppliers mainly consisted of
mining contractors, transportation contractors, suppliers of
production-related materials and trading companies. The Group
selected the suppliers based on various criteria, including
but not limited to qualifications and reputation. The Group
has established a long-term relationship with the major
mining contractor for more than 10 years, the transportation
contractors for more than 8 years, and both the suppliers of
production related materials and trading companies for more
than 8 years. The Group has continued to maintain sound
business relationships with major suppliers, and no incidents
that will adversely affect the Group’s product supply have
occurred during the year.

Customers

During the year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 98.6% of the total revenue. The Group
maintained good relationships with the customers who required
stable supply for these bulk raw materials, such customers being
distributors and trading companies. The Group has established
long-term relationships with the customers for 7 to 9 years. The
trading of steels contributed 88.8% of the total revenue of the
Group.

Please refer to the financial statements of this annual report for
more details of the Group's trading terms with its customers as
set out in note 19 to the financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Company has always been closely communicating with its

stakeholders, actively responding to their needs, and taking those into

consideration during the corporate strategy formulation and decision-

making process. The Company sees sustainable development as the key

for a corporation to succeed and therefore, it aims to seek a win-win

situation for the Group, society and the environment by balancing the

creation of economic value and the impact on the environment.
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The Group strictly complies with various national environmental
protection laws and regulations. It has implemented a series of
measures to alleviate environmental impacts of ore mining, processing
and transporting. The Group has established rules for pollutant control
and waste disposal, including the proper way of handling airborne
dust, waste oil, noise, mine rocks and tailings generated during ore
mining and the promotion of waste recycling. The Group has also
brought in new equipment to improve resource use efficiency and built
tailings pond to control ecological impact and improve water resources
recycling; electricity consumption has been reduced by improving the
Group's facilities and technologies and increasing the proportion of new
energy purchases such as hydropower, thereby controlling greenhouse
gas emission. The Group supports green operations and encourages its
employees to adopt environmentally friendly working habits. For further
information about the Company’s environmental performance during
the year, please refer to the Company’s separate Environmental, Social
and Governance Report which is available on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange's website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’'s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in China, while the Company listed on the Main Board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Group accordingly shall comply
with the Listing Rules, SFO and the relevant laws and regulations in
China and the respective places of incorporation of the Company and
its subsidiaries.

The Company seeks to ensure compliance with these requirements
through various measures such as internal controls, trainings and
oversight of various business units at different levels of the Group.
The Group highly values the importance of ensuring compliance with
applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no material
breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations
by the Group that have a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group.
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AUDITOR

The Company appointed Ernst & Young as auditor of the Company for
FY2022. A resolution will be proposed for approval by the Shareholders
at the 2023 AGM to re-appoint Ernst & Young as auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board
Teh Wing Kwan
Chairman

29 March 2023
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The Company has embraced the CG Code as its own code of corporate
governance. The Directors consider that during FY2022, the Company
has complied with all the applicable code provisions under the CG Code
except for code provision C.5.3 which stipulates that notice of at least
14 days should be given of a regular Board meeting to give all Directors
an opportunity to attend. During the Reporting Period, two regular
Board meetings were convened with less than 14 days' notice to
enable the Directors to react timely and make expeditious decisions in
respect of the operations and internal affairs of the Group. As a result,
the relevant Board meetings were held with a shorter notice period
than required with the consent of all the Directors. The Board meetings
were nevertheless duly convened and held in accordance with the
Articles. Also, the complete set of the agenda and board papers for the
meetings were sent to all Directors in a timely manner in accordance
with code provision C.5.8 of the CG Code. The Board will use its best
endeavours to comply with code provision C.5.3 of the CG Code in the
future.

In view of the recent updates to the CG Code, the Company recognises
the importance of gender diversity at the Board level and intends to
actively seek out suitable candidates in accordance with the Listing
Rules. The selection process for newly appointed Directors or potential
successors to the Board will adhere to the Company's nomination
policy and board diversity policy. The decision-making process will be
based on the selected candidates' merits and contributions, taking into
consideration the benefits of diversity on the Board and the Board's
needs, without focusing solely on a single diversity aspect. The Board
has set a goal to appoint at least one female Director by 31 December
2024, in line with the transitional requirement set out in Rule 13.92 of
the Listing Rules.

Furthermore, in accordance with the recent updates to the CG Code
under the Listing Rules, if all the independent non-executive directors
of an issuer have served more than nine years on the Board, the issuer
should appoint a new independent non-executive director at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. As at FY2022, Mr. Yu Haizong
and Mr. Liu Yi have both served for more than 9 years. Meanwhile,
Mr. Wu Wen has been an independent non-executive Director since 1
November 2014 and is expected to have served for more than 9 years
after 1 November 2023. To comply with code provision B.2.4 of the CG
Code, the Company is working towards electing new independent non-
executive director(s) at the 2024 annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiries to all the Directors, all the Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in
the Model Code throughout FY2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises a combination of executive Directors,
a non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors.
At least one of the independent non-executive Directors possesses
appropriate professional qualifications (or accounting or related
financial management expertise) as required by the Listing Rules. This
provides a healthy professional relationship between the Board and
senior management in the process of formulating business strategies
for the Group. The Board is also supported by other key committees to
provide independent oversight of management. These key committees
are the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee and are made up of a majority of independent non-executive
Directors. As at the date of this annual report, the composition and
committees of the Board are as follows:

Board members

EXEmE

Non-executive Director
ERITES

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan

BB RESR A

Executive Directors
BITES

Mr. Hao Xiemin

i G

Mr. Wang Hu
FREE

Independent Non-executive Directors
BIFWITES

Mr. Yu Haizong

RBRELE

Mr. Liu Yi

2R &LE

Mr. Wu Wen

Bkt

Notes:

C: Chairman
M: Member
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Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in the section
headed "Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 30 to
35 of this annual report.

Mr. Hao Xiemin and Mr. Wang Hu, each being an executive Director,
entered into a new service contract with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from 1 January 2023. The appointment of
each of the executive Directors may be terminated in accordance with
the terms and conditions of their respective service contracts and/or by
either party to the service contract giving to the other party not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing.

Mr. Yu Haizong and Mr. Liu Yi, each an independent non-executive
Director, entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of three years commencing from 8 October 2020. Mr.
Wu Wen, an independent non-executive Director, entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 1 November 2020. The appointment of each of the
independent non-executive Directors is subject to termination in certain
circumstances as stipulated in the relevant letters of appointment.

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan, the chairman and non-executive Director, has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company on 26 July 2017
pursuant to which his appointment is subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meetings of the Company in
accordance with the Articles. The appointment of Mr. Teh is terminable
by either party to the letter of appointment by giving the other party
not less than two months' prior notice in writing.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
that all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
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The key roles of the Board are:

o to guide the overall development, corporate strategies and
directions of the Group, approve the Board policies, strategies
and financial objectives of the Group and monitor the
performance of management;

o to ensure effective management leadership of the highest
quality and integrity;

o to approve major funding proposals and investments; and
o to provide overall insight in the proper conduct of the Group's
business.

The Board has delegated certain functions to the relevant Board
committees, details of which are disclosed below. Day-to-day
management of the Group’s business is delegated to the management
of the Company under the supervision of the executive Directors. The
functions and powers that are so delegated are reviewed periodically to
ensure that they remain appropriate.

During FY2022, the Company held four regular Board meetings for
reviewing and approving the financial and operating performance,
considering the overall strategies and policies of the Group. Sufficient
notice convening the Board meeting was dispatched to the Directors
setting out the matters to be discussed. All the Directors were given an
opportunity to include matters in the agenda for the Board meeting and
had access to the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) to ensure that all board procedures and all applicable rules
and regulations were followed. The Board also enabled the Directors
to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense
in appropriate circumstances. At the meetings, the Directors were
provided with the relevant documents to be discussed and approved.
The Company Secretary was responsible for keeping minutes for the
Board meetings.
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During FY2022, the Company held one annual general meeting and
one extraordinary general meeting. The following is the attendance
record of the meetings of the Board, audit committee, remuneration
committee, nomination committee and the Shareholders during
FY2022:

R2022 M FE AR AB G RIT—ARRBEF
RER—RIERFRIARG o LT 220228 B4
ENEEg BERZZEE FHZEg REZE
EERREASTHEELR

Number of meeting(s) attended/Number of meeting(s) held

Audit

Board committee
Name of Director meeting meeting
BEEns EXg2gR BRZECER
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan 6/6 -
WoxERE
Mr. Hao Xiemin 6/6 -
ik
Mr. Wang Hu 6/6 -
FTRELED
Mr. Yu Haizong 6/6 2/2
REBRELE
Mr. Liu Yi 6/6 2/2
2FwELE
Mr. Wu Wen 6/6 2/2
SXEE
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping®? 3/3 -
BrhwLse
Notes:
(1) Mr. Wang Hu has been appointed as a member of the remuneration

committee of the Company w.e.f. 13 July 2022.

(2) Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping has resigned as an executive Director and the chief
executive officer of the Company and a member of the nomination
committee and remuneration committee of the Company w.e.f. 13 July
2022.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Company recognises that board independence is a key component
of good corporate governance. To ensure that independent views
and input are readily available to the Board, we have established
mechanisms and conduct regular reviews to guarantee their continued
relevance and effectiveness.
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committee committee General
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These mechanisms include: (a) actively encouraging independent
non-executive Directors to participate in Board and Board committee
meetings, (b) ensuring that independent non-executive Directors have
adequate time to fulfill their duties as a Director of the Company,
(c) setting clear terms of reference for the nomination committee to
identify suitable candidates for appointment as Directors, including
assessing independence of independent non-executive Directors, and
(d) providing access to external independent professional advice as
required at the Company's expense.

Additionally, we have a rigorous selection, nomination, and
appointment/re-appointment process for Directors, including
independent non-executive Directors, as set out in the section headed
"Nomination Policy” on pages 80 to 83 of this annual report. The
remuneration of independent non-executive Directors is also subject
to regular review mechanisms to ensure that their compensation
remains competitive and commensurate with their responsibilities and
workloads.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contributions to
the Board remain informed and relevant.

All the Directors have been provided with training on their duties and
responsibilities as a director of a listed company and the compliance
issues under the Listing Rules. The Company continuously updates the
Directors on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure their compliance
and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

All the Directors had provided the Company with their respective
training records pursuant to the CG Code. During the year, all the
Directors have participated in appropriate continuous professional
development by way of reading materials relevant to the Group’s
business or to Directors’ duties and responsibilities.
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The individual training record of each Director during FY2022 is set out

below:

Non-executive Director
EHITES

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan

BBk ST

Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. Hao Xiemin

T 51 G ST £

Mr. Wang Hu

FrREE

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping (resigned w.e.f 13 July 2022)
Bkt (BRHE H2022F781384E %)

Independent Non-executive Directors
BIFEHRTES

Mr. Yu Haizong

RBRAEE

Mr. Liu Yi

BFEE

Mr. Wu Wen

Bt

Notes:

(1) Reading relevant materials and updates relating to the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements and matters of relevance to the

Directors in the discharge of their duties; and

(2) Reading news, journals, magazines and/or other reading materials
regarding legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the

Directors in the discharge of their duties.

2022 MEE » REZE A B ERHT]

LI

Training received

22 E

(1) and (2)
(1)5(2)

(1) and (2)
(1)5(2)
(1) and (2)
(Mk(2)
(1) and (2)
(Mk(2)

(1) and (2)
(Mk(2)
(1) and (2)
(Nk(2)
(1) and (2)
(Mk(2)

RERSERITEBIEMEMN LHRALUK
HMBREEREREENMBERTER ;
b4

ROE R F A HBE ML R R
EEBHREEOHD AT BER R
RO o
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The roles of the Company’s chairman and the chief executive are
segregated. Mr. Teh Wing Kwan is the chairman of the Board who is
primarily responsible for managing the Board and acting in the best
interests of the Group and the Shareholders, while Mr. Hao Xiemin is
the acting chief executive officer of the Company who takes charge
of the supervision of the execution of the policies determined by the
Board.

The chairman chairs the Board meetings and briefs the Board members
on the issues discussed at the Board meetings. The chairman also
ensures that the Board members work together with the management
with the capability and authority to engage management in
constructing views on various matters, including strategic issues and
business planning processes.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF THE
DIRECTORS

According to the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-third of
the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation or, if the number is
not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third shall retire from the office and shall be eligible for re-election.
The Directors to retire by rotation shall be those who have been longest
in office since their last appointment or re-election. Every Director shall
be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once
every three years. Any other appointment, resignation, removal or re-
designation of Directors will be timely disclosed to the Shareholders by
announcement and such announcement shall include, the reasons given
by the Director for his resignation.

The Board selects and recommends candidates for directorship with
regard to the balance of skills and experience appropriate for the
Group's business.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms

of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The audit committee

currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Yu
Haizong (Chairman), Mr. Liu Yi and Mr. Wu Wen. The audit committee’s
main functions are:

to be responsible for the relationship with the Company’s
external auditor, including making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of its
resignation or dismissal;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards and to develop and
implement policy on the engaging of an external auditor to
supply non-audit services;

to monitor the integrity of the financial statements and annual/
interim reports and quarterly reports (if prepared for publication)
and to review significant financial reporting judgments
contained in them; and

to oversee the Group’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems.

During the year, the audit committee held two meetings and performed
the following major tasks:

74

reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements and
annual results announcement of the Group for FY2021, and
reviewed the consolidated financial statements and interim
results announcement of the Group for the six months ended 30
June 2022;

reviewed the changes in accounting standards and assessed
their potential impact on the financial statements;
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AARBEREETIRIEREEE LE
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o reviewed the Company’s external auditor’s qualifications,
independence and performance;

o reviewed the Company’s external auditor’s statutory audit plan,
audit scope and engagement letters; and

J assisted the Board to evaluate on the adequacy and
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems
as well as the internal audit function of the Group and financial
reporting procedures.

The Group has established an independent internal audit function
which directly reports to the audit committee. The internal audit
personnel will attend the audit committee meetings and report on
internal audit matters annually. If there is any material internal control
defect, the internal audit personnel directly reports to the audit
committee without limitation. The audit committee assists the Board
in monitoring the risk exposure, design and operating effectiveness
of the relevant risk management and internal control systems. The
audit committee will report to the Board after properly reviewing the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems as well as the internal audit function.

During FY2022, the audit committee has reviewed the risk management
and internal control systems and the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audit function. Details of the risk management and internal
control of the Group are set out on pages 85 to 92 of this annual
report.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The remuneration
committee currently comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Liu Yi (Chairman) and Mr. Yu Haizong and one
executive Director, namely Mr. Wang Hu.

The remuneration committee’s main functions are:

o to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management'’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;
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to review and approve performance-based remuneration with
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time;

to determine, with delegated responsibilities, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors or senior management,
which should include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment;

to consider the granting of share options to Directors, chief
executives or employees of any member of the Group and any
eligible person who has contributed or will contribute to the
development and growth of the Group pursuant to the share
option schemes adopted by the Company;

to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules;

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration; and

to review and approve the interim reports, annual reports,
announcements and circulars or any publication of the Company
regarding information on the remuneration and service contracts
of the Directors prior to approval by the Board.

During the year, the remuneration committee held two meetings, at
which the members of the remuneration committee:

76

determined the policy for the remuneration of the Directors and
reviewed the remuneration packages of the Directors;

assessed the performance of the Directors; and

considered and approved the terms of the Directors' service
agreements.
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The Company considers various factors,
experience, and competence,

such as performance,
as well as comparable market

remuneration packages, when determining the compensation packages

for Directors and senior management. For further information on the

Company's emolument policies, please refer to page 41 of this annual

report.

The remuneration paid/payable to senior management (comprising
Directors) for FY2022 by band is set out below:

Name of Director

BEEith

Non-executive Director
FHTES

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan
PxERE

Executive Directors
BiTES

Mr. Hao Xiemin
wHEEEE

Mr. Wang Hu
IRkE

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping (resigned w.e.f. 13 July 2022)
BHRTEL (BRE B02E7813ARERN

Independent Non-executive Directors

BUYTES
Mr. Yu Haizong
Mr. Liu Yi
AREE

Mr. Wu Wen
SXEE

* Less than 0.01%

Remuneration
band

FH&R

HKD1,000,000 - 1,500,000
1,000,000 - 1,500,000 75

RMB200,000 - 500,000
AE200,000 - 500,00070
RMB200,000 - 500,000
A& 200,000 - 50,0007
RMB nil - 200,000
ARBEZ -200,0007

RMB nil - 200,000
AREZ - 200,0007
RMB nil - 200,000
ARHEE - 200,007
RMB nil - 200,000
AREE - 200,007

Director's
fee

EE 20k
%

44

38
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Salaries,
allowances
and benefits
in kind
HEERR
ENER

%

50

57

88

* /LbFR0.01%

Share
options

RiriiE

%

Pension
scheme
contributions Total
RSB it
% %
- 100
6 100
5 100
12 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The nomination
committee currently comprises the non-executive Director, Mr. Teh Wing
Kwan (Chairman), and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Yu Haizong, Mr. Liu Yi and Mr. Wu Wen.

The nomination committee’s main functions are:

° to review the structure, size, composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) and diversity (including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

o to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships with due
regard to the nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) and
the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) of the
Company and other factors which are relevant to the Company;

o to develop and formulate the Nomination Policy and the Board
Diversity Policy for the Board’s consideration and approval;

° to discuss any revisions to the Nomination Policy and the
Board Diversity Policy that may be required, and recommend
such revisions to the Board for the Board’s consideration and
approval;

o to review, implement and monitor, as appropriate, the
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy;

o to review measurable objectives that the Board has set for
implementing any of the Nomination Policy and the Board
Diversity Policy, and monitor the progress on achieving such
objectives;

° to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors with reference to, inter alia, the factors set out in the
Listing Rules and any other factors deemed appropriate by the
nomination committee or the Board and assess their ability to
devote sufficient time to the Board and Board committees;
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o to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of the Directors and succession planning for the
Directors, in particular the chairman and chief executive;

o to develop the criteria for identifying and assessing the
qualifications of and evaluating candidates for directorship; and

o to keep under review the leadership needs of the organisation,
both executive and non-executive, with a view to ensuring the
continued ability of the organisation to compete effectively in
the market place.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board Diversity Policy is concerned with achieving sustainable and
balanced development and increasing diversity in the Company as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives
and its sustainable development.

Board level

In this regard, the nomination committee has considered the
measurable objectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy, which are to
ensure that candidates of the Board are considered based on a range
of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will
be based on merit and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board. The
Board Diversity Policy is reviewed annually by nomination committee,
as appropriate, nomination committee will ensure the effectiveness
of such policy and will discuss any revisions that may be required and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

Currently, the Board consists of six members, including two executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors who are of different ethnicities and with
professional experience and qualifications in various aspects, such as
financial management, law, compliance, accounting and mining. Having
regard to the composition of the Board and the measurable objectives,
the Company considers that the Board composition is sufficiently
diversified in terms of balance of skills and experience, which are
desirable for the effective management and sustainable development of
the Company.
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Workforce level

The Group's primary business activities include mining, ore processing,
sales of mined and processed minerals, and trading of coal and steel.
Due to the unique nature of the industry, the majority of workers at
mine sites are men, with women comprising a minority. As disclosed on
page 61 of this annual report, the Company's workforce composition
is slightly skewed towards men. Given the characteristics of the mining
industry, setting measurable objectives for gender diversity at the
workforce level is not deemed appropriate.

The Company welcomes all genders to apply for positions. Our
recruitment strategy focuses on selecting the most suitable candidate
for each position, regardless of gender. We remain committed to
providing equal opportunities to all employees with regards to
recruitment, training and development, job advancement, remuneration
and benefits.

During the year, the nomination committee held one meeting, at which
the members of the nomination committee:

o reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Directors;
o evaluated the performance and contribution of the retiring

Directors; and

° assessed the independence of the retiring independent non-
executive Directors.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy applies to the Directors and where applicable,
senior management prepared for Board positions under the succession
planning of the Company. The Nomination Policy sets out the following
key nomination criteria and procedures, among others, as follows:

(1) Nomination criteria
In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

(i) character and integrity;

(i) qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience, and diversity aspects
under the Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the
Company's business and corporate strategy;
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(iii) any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board,;

(iv) requirement for the Board to have independent non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules and whether the candidate would be considered
independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

(v) any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

(vi) willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company;

(vii)  such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company's business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the
Board and/or the nomination committee from time
to time for nomination of directors and succession
planning; and

(viii)  such other factors set out in terms of reference of the
nomination committee.

Nomination procedures

(a) Appointment of new Directors

(i) The nomination committee identifies individual(s)
suitably qualified to become Board members
based on its assessment on the character,
biographical information and other relevant
details of such individual(s), having due regard
to the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity
Policy, and assesses the independence of the
proposed independent non-executive Director(s)
as appropriate;

(i) If the nomination committee has identified more
than one individual who are suitably qualified
for directorship based on the above assessment,
the nomination committee should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each individual
(where applicable);

2
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(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

The nomination committee makes recommendation(s)
to the Board;

The Board considers the individual(s) recommended
by the nomination committee, having due regard
to the assessment of the nomination committee,
the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity
Policy;

The Board confirms the appointment of the
individual(s) as Director(s) or recommends the
individual(s) to stand for election at a general
meeting. Individual(s) appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to
the Board will be subject to re-election by the
Shareholders in accordance with the Articles; and

The Shareholders approve the election of
individual(s), who stand(s) for election at general
meeting, as Director(s).

(b) Re-appointment of retiring Directors

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The nomination committee considers each retiring
Director based on its review of each retiring
Director's overall contribution, services to the
Company, and the level of participation and
performance on the Board, having due regard
to the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity
Policy, and assesses the independence of each
retiring independent non-executive Director;

The nomination committee makes recommendation(s)
to the Board;

The Board considers each retiring Director
recommended by the nomination committee,
having due regard to the nomination committee's
review of each retiring Director, the Nomination
Policy and the Board Diversity Policy;

The Board recommends the retiring Directors
to stand for re-election at the annual general
meeting in accordance with the Articles; and

(b)
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(3)

4)

(v) The Shareholders approve the re-election of
Directors at the annual general meeting.

The Board shall have the ultimate responsibility for all matters
relating to the selection and appointment of Directors. Where
the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a candidate
as Director at a general meeting, the relevant information of the
candidate will be disclosed in the circular to Shareholders and/or
explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/or
other applicable laws and regulations.

Principles considered by the nomination committee
In carrying out its responsibilities, the nomination committee
should give adequate consideration to the following principles:

(a) in relation to Board composition — the Board should
have a balance of skills, experience, diversity of
gender and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company'’s business. It should ensure that changes to its
composition can be managed without undue disruption.
It should include a balanced composition of executive
and non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) so that there is a strong independent
element on the Board, which can effectively enhance
decision making capability of the Board. Non-executive
Directors should be of sufficient calibre and number for
their views to carry weight; and

(b) in relation to appointments, re-election and removal —
there should be a formal, considered and transparent
procedure for the appointment of new Directors. There
should be plans in place for orderly succession for
appointments. All Directors should be subject to re-
election at regular intervals. The Company must explain
the reasons for the resignation or removal of any
Director.

Regular review

The nomination committee will conduct regular reviews on the
structure, size and composition of the Board, the Board Diversity
Policy, and the Nomination Policy and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy and business needs.

(3)

4)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the duties on corporate
governance functions as set out below:

° to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

o to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

° to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance and legal and regulatory requirements;

o to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the
Directors; and

o to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the year, the Board held four meetings, at which the Board
considered and discussed, among other things, the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and legal and regulatory
compliance, training and continuous professional development of the
Directors, as well as the Company's compliance with the CG Code.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For FY2022, the remuneration paid/payable in relation to assurance
services (excluding out-of-pocket expenses and value added tax)
by the Group to the Company’s external auditor, Ernst & Young, is
approximately RMB2,380,000.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND GOING
CONCERN STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements for each financial period, which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flows for that period. The Company deploys appropriate and
sufficient resources to prepare audited accounts. Senior management
is required to present and explain the financial reporting and matters
that materially affect or may have material impact on the financial
performance and operations of the Group to the audit committee
and the Board and respond to the queries and concerns raised by the
audit committee and the Board to their satisfaction. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the IFRSs
and the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

As at 31 December 2022, the Directors are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast significant
doubt upon the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.
Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the financial statements of the
Company on a going-concern basis.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness.
The audit committee assists the Board in monitoring the risk exposure,
design and operating effectiveness of the relevant risk management
and internal control systems. The audit committee will report to the
Board after properly reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems.

The Group has established an independent internal audit function
which directly reports to the audit committee. The internal audit
personnel will attend the audit committee meetings and report
on internal audit matters annually. If there is any material internal
control defect, the internal audit personnel directly reports to the
audit committee without limitation. Further, the Group appointed an
international advisory firm as an external advisor in August 2020 to
provide internal control services under a three-year rotation plan based
on a risk-based methodology.
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Under the supervision of the Board, the management of the Group
is responsible for designing and implementing the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. The Group has set up three
lines of defense for risk management. As the first line of defense, the
business units (e.g., sales department and production department) are
responsible for identifying and assessing business risks and developing
risk mitigation measures. As the second line of defense, the functional
departments (e.g., compliance department and finance department)
are responsible for assisting the business units in improving the risk
management and monitoring the effectiveness of risk management. As
the third line of defense, the internal audit function assists the Board
and the audit committee to review the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

As and when required during the year, the management convened
meetings which were chaired by the senior management with
attendants including managers from subsidiaries and department
heads from the headquarters. The Group's decisions on operations,
implementation of investment projects, financial issues, and the
updates on risk management and internal control were considered and
determined at these meetings. The management convened annual and
interim work meetings in order to assign and review works on a yearly
basis and half yearly basis, respectively. The meetings have facilitated
the organisation, co-ordination, communication and supervision on the
commencement and implementation of the Group’s various operations,
as well as the risk management and internal control systems.

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should
be announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision. The
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of
inside information include:

o the Company has established a sensitive information disclosure
policy, which specified the information disclosure process,
the confidentiality requirements of the undisclosed sensitive
information, and the confidentiality obligations of the
employees of the Group;

o the access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality;

° confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations;
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o the executive Directors are designated persons who speak on
behalf of the Company when communicating with external
parties such as the media, analysts or investors;

. the service contracts of the Directors, senior management and
the employees of the Group specify the confidentiality clauses;
and

o the legal advisors of the Company regularly provide relevant

updates to the Board and senior management.

Risk Management

The Board has established an enterprise risk management mechanism
according to the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the
Treadway Commission’s Enterprise Risk Management Framework. The
Board has established risk management policies and measures on the
procedures of risk identification, evaluation, reporting and mitigation.
The risk management mechanism covers the whole Group’s various risks
in the business operations and management. The functional department
of risk management is the compliance department of the Group, which
reports to the audit committee and is responsible for the establishment
and operations of the risk management system and coordination of risk
management, supervision and evaluation of risk management, as well
as providing advice for material risk decisions.

The compliance department of the Group periodically collected risk
information and conducted risk evaluation through questionnaires,
workshops, management meetings, which were reported to senior
management in a timely manner. In FY2022, based on the Group's
production and business conditions, the compliance department
of the Group summarised a total of 75 risk factors, categorised as
strategic risk, operational risk, compliance risk and financial risk. The
management scored the risk factors based on their understanding,
production and operational experience and determined the risk
mitigation and internal control measures to address the risks. The
identified top five risks for FY2022 are as below:
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Risk title
AkiEE

Crisis management risk

EHEERRE

Description

i P

The Group is principally engaged in the business of mining, ore processing, sale of mined
and processed minerals and trading of coal and steel. The Group owns and operates the
Maoling — Yanglongshan Mine, an iron ore mine, Shigou Gypsum Mine, a gypsum mine
and Maoling Processing Plant. The mines and the processing plant are located in Sichuan,
the PRC.

FEBTERERBE - BAOAE - HECHREREMIBEURELAHEEZET K
EEBEERKCEER—FRLUAE GEAES - ABEASKE (REERS REHKE
R o % L Va5 R SR B TS (LS AR IO 1] & o

Due to the nature of the Group's business and its geographic location, there are inherent
risks associated with mine operations. These risks include disruptions caused by natural
disasters, human-related factors, force majeure events (such as fires, floods, and other
events), equipment malfunctions, or interruptions in the telecommunications system
(such as cable disconnection, telephone line malfunctions, or satellite signal failures). In
the event of a major disaster, any delay in restoring operations within a reasonable time
frame could adversely affect the Group's operations and reputation, as it may be unable
to deliver products to customers as per the sales contracts.
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S/N  Risk title Description
weE ERIRE iR
2 Investment strategy risk New investments, both locally and overseas, can be made in the form of a new setup,

acquisition of an existing business or a joint venture. Such investments carry a risk of
failure. However, overseas investments and investments in joint ventures inherently carry
a higher risk of failure due to (i) a lack of visibility and knowledge of the business nature
and market, and (ii) high dependency on the other party who may or may not fulfill their
responsibilities.

KEREE R REBPRBEAMARIFAT - WBREATNHNGECENTERETHRE MEF
FHERBRFNEE - AM B ERBERNGELEASFERSNRELRT A
o RERERORZHEBZEERTHENERRSBH#, RIVEEGBS —FH MEES
KA BT EBITHE -

On top of the initial capital invested, the Group may also need to continuously support
the new investments by extending financial resources such as loans or corporate

guarantees.
BT RANERI AERTAEREREEBENERN R D ERSVBERIIE
HiRE-

Post investment, investments may fail due to poor execution of the original investment
plan by local partners and/or inadequate monitoring. Failed investments may adversely
impact the financial performance of the Group.

ETRER RENGREMSERHERRENBNTANORHEERHMELF
EHEHAEENMBRIREM AT E

3 Change in market demand The Group primarily conducts its business activities in the PRC. The demand for the
risk Group's products and services is subject to various factors, including changes in economic
conditions and industry structure within the PRC. In the event that the Group fails
to adapt, detect and respond to these changes, its business operations and financial

performance may be negatively impacted.
T35 B RES E AEFTERPRETER D HALERERKRBNERZZARZT L GFH
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S/N  Risk title
wmIE EREE

4 Partner risk
BHRAR

5 Cost control risk
P A 122 5] J& B

Description

i P

The Group's operations rely on three (3) core groups of partners, namely: (i) vendors;
(i) customers; and (iii) financial institutions. The continued success and development of
the business are contingent upon the cooperation and fulfilment of obligations by these
partners.

AEBNSEBFB=Q)VEZLBEHE B ()VEHE ;()EF ; Ki)EmMEE EBFE
IR ERTVEUAN EZERHNSFRAGRRIRERBITEBNIE R

The risk associated with these partners can stem from various factors, including: (i)
vendors' inability to deliver products or services on time, which may affect the timely
delivery to customers; (ii) customers' failure to meet payment obligations, which may
result in an increase in bad debts written off, posing a risk to the Group's cash flow
and financial performance; and (iii) the early termination or cancellation of financing
arrangements by financial institutions, which may pose a risk to the adequacy of the
Group's cash flow. If the Group fails to receive sufficient cooperation from its partners
to run its operations, it may lose its competitive edge and face adverse effects on its
operations in the long run.

BZERHERNERRNZEARZ  F (()VEEBREERINERNRT M
REXEAEERERBREIN (VEFBEBITNREE  EM I se S XA E @i iEiE
RO-HEESERAMBRIEEMRER ; Ki)SREEBIE A IEHEUERE 29 Mol s
HAERRS AN A CEEBRAR RERERLIEBHETDSE BT RER
FEYB REHEESHINEE-

The Group's operating expenses, which cover inventory purchases, payroll, overheads,
finance charges and other miscellaneous costs, are subject to fluctuations due to external
factors such as changes in political, economic, market and environmental conditions.
AEBNKEHS (BEFERE - #E MR PHIUREMBERAR) & E
BUB IS RIRER NS FII TR RS -

If such cost fluctuations persist over an extended period of time and the Group is unable
to transfer the cost increase to its customers, the Group's profit margin and financial
performance may be negatively impacted.

MZERFTESFE—BRERE MAEERBEZSNAEREGRE P > A RERNTH
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Internal Control

The audit committee supervises and inspects the comprehensiveness
and implementation of the internal control system of the Group,
and regularly discusses with the management on the system in order
to ensure that the management performs its duties to establish an
adequate and effective internal control system.

The internal control system has been designed to safeguard the assets
of the Group and maintain proper accounting records, execution with
appropriate authority and compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations. The Board has established and evaluated the relevant
internal control system across three spectrums covering the corporate
governance and system, business and accounting procedures and
information system control. The management, with oversight from the
Board has established internal control and risk management systems
based on the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway
Commission’s Internal Control Integrated Framework. The main features
of the framework are as follows:

o control environment: including code of conduct and other
practices regarding acceptable business practice or expected
standards of ethical and moral behaviours, management of
conflict of interest, authority and responsibility, and legal and
regulatory compliance;

o risk assessment: including objective management, risk
assessment and management, and compliance management;

. control activities: including sales, trade receivables and
collection, procurement, trade payables and payment,
production and costing, human resources and payroll, assets
management, treasury, financial reporting, and information
technology general controls;

o information and communication: including forecasting and
budgeting, internal and external communication, confidentiality
and data protection; and

o monitoring activities: including internal audit function, and
reporting of internal control defects.
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During FY2022, the internal audit function of the Group, with the
assistance of an international advisory firm, performed an annual
review and self-assessment on the above internal control system in
order to monitor its operations in a timely manner. The main work
procedures included policy review, interview with key process owners,
and sample testing. As a result of the self-assessment, the Group
updated the relevant policies and procedures in accordance with the
business operations and practice of the Group. To address the 12
issues identified in the annual review, the Group requested the relevant
departments to take remedial actions in a timely manner. The internal
audit function together with the international advisory firm reported
the self-assessment and annual review results to the audit committee.
The Board, through the audit committee, reviewed the work of the
internal audit function as well. After a follow-up review on the remedial
actions taken to address the identified issues, the Board was of the view
that a proper internal control system of the Group was established and
executed, and no significant area of concern which might affect the
Shareholders was found.

The Board conducts review of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems at least once a year. The Group's risk
management and internal control systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. During FY2022, the Board, through the
audit committee, has reviewed the effectiveness of the systems of risk
management and internal control (including financial, operational and
compliance controls), and was of the view that the Group complied
with the CG Code on risk management and internal control and
concluded that the risk management and internal control systems were
effective and adequate, and such controls effectively mitigated the
risks that might have an impact on the Group in achieving its strategic
objectives.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chong Eng Wee was appointed as a joint Company Secretary on
30 December 2019 and has become the sole Company Secretary as of
1 April 2020, and his primary contact person of the Company is Mr.
Wang Hu, an executive Director. In accordance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules, Mr. Chong has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during FY2022.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for convening an extraordinary
general meeting and putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meetings

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, Shareholder(s) holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company, on a one vote per Share basis (the “Requisitionist(s)”)
may, by written requisition (the “Requisition”) to the Board or the
Company Secretary, require an extraordinary general meeting (the
"EGM") to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
or resolution specified in the Requisition. The Requisition shall be
deposited at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong. The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit of
the Requisition. In the event that the Board fails to proceed to convene
the EGM within twenty-one days of the deposit of the Requisition, the
Requisitionist(s) may convene a physical meeting at only one location
which will be the principal meeting place (as defined in the Articles),
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s) by
the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to put enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. In respect of other
enquiries, Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board through
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong which will
direct the enquiries to the Board for handling.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Board has adopted a shareholders communication policy (the
“SCP") which is subject to annual review to ensure its implementation
and effectiveness. With the below measures in place, the SCP is
considered to have been effectively implemented.
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Purpose

The SCP aims to set out the provisions with the objective of ensuring
that Shareholders, both individual and institutional, in appropriate
circumstances, is provided with ready, equal and timely access to
balanced and understandable information about the Company
(including its financial performance, strategic goals and plans, material
developments, governance and risk profile), in order to enable
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and to
allow Shareholders and to engage actively with the Company.

Communication Strategies
The main communication channels with the Shareholders include:

Constitutional documents

A copy of the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company is available on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's website
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company's website. There has been no
change in the Company’s constitutional documents during FY2022.

In December 2022, the Board proposed to make certain amendments to
the existing memorandum of association and articles of association of
the Company (the "Proposed Amendments"), primarily for the purposes
of reflecting and conforming to the latest amendments to Appendix
3 of the Listing Rules concerning the core shareholder protection
standards which came into effect on 1 January 2022.

Following the Shareholders' approval of the Proposed Amendments by
way of special resolution at the 2023 EGM, the Company has adopted
the amended and restated memorandum of association and articles of
association with effect from 31 January 2023.

The amended and restated memorandum of association and articles of
association is available on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's website
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company's website.
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Annual general meetings

The annual general meeting is an important discussion platform
for the Shareholders to participate, facilitating the communications
between the management of the Company and the Shareholders. The
annual general meeting is held once a year and is accessible to all the
Shareholders. The Directors answer any questions the Shareholders have
at the annual general meeting which is also attended by the external
auditor and the Company Secretary. All matters proposed to the
Shareholders for approval shall be submitted in separate resolutions and
resolved by way of poll at the annual general meeting. The procedures
of conducting a poll will be explained in detail to the Shareholders and
the voting results will be available on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website.

Annual reports, interim reports, announcements and circulars

The Company issues its annual reports and interim reports after
publishing the annual results and the interim results in March and
August every year, respectively, so as to periodically review the
development of the Group as well as to update its Shareholders
with its latest business information and market trends. In addition,
the Company will inform the Shareholders through announcements
regarding any major event or inside information in a timely manner. For
any matter requiring the approval of the Shareholders, the Company
will hold an EGM according to the requirements of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange and issue a circular prior to the specific date of the
meeting, allowing the Shareholders to have sufficient time to learn
more about the matters for making voting decisions. All annual reports,
interim reports, announcements and circulars will be uploaded to the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company's website.

The chairman of the Board also encourages Shareholders and investors
to write to him directly if they wish to. He has included his email
address in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on page 9 of
this annual report.
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The Company’s website

The Company’s website offers timely access to the Group’s press
releases and other business information. Through its website, the
Company provides the Shareholders with electronic versions of the
financial reports, the latest slide presentations, as well as up-to-
date news about the Group’s business, announcements, and general
information, whichever is applicable from time to time. To make
contributions to environmental protection and maintain effective
communication with the Shareholders, the Group encourages all
Shareholders to browse the Company's corporate communication files
on the Company’s website.

Investor contacts and enquiries

The Group has a dedicated team to maintain contact with investors and
handle Shareholders’ enquiries. Should investors have any enquiries,
please contact the Company's external investor relations consultant via
email at ir@chinavtmmining.com.

The Company will ensure that the information of the work on investor
relations is disclosed in a timely and accurate manner, and will react to
the capital market effectively and smoothly. This can help the capital
market to better understand its development strategies and operating
conditions.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

]
EY:

To the shareholders of
China Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

N —E271E

Qualified opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 105 to 238, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in
the Basis for qualified opinion section of our report, the accompanying
consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

B G ERR
EAHIEAEEHEITI  Fax f2H: +852 2868 4432
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Basis for qualified opinion

Prior year’s audit scope limitation affecting comparative figures
and related disclosures

As explained in our report dated 29 March 2022 on the Group's
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2021, the Group completed the disposal of its 81% equity interest in
Mancala Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (together as the “Disposal
Group”) on 31 July 2021, the date on which the Disposal Group ceased
to be subsidiaries of the Group. The principal activities of the Disposal
Group were mainly specialised mining services in Australia, which were
presented as a discontinued operation. The cash used in operating
activities, investing activities and financing activities of discontinued
operations for the period from 1 January 2021 to the date of disposal
of RMB7,715,000, RMB1,228,000, and RMB1,987,000, respectively,
and the net inflow of cash in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries
of RMB3,111,000 were disclosed in the consolidated statement of
cash flows (the “Cash Flows from the discontinued operations”). The
corresponding disclosures of the Disposal Group are set out in notes
10 and 31 to the consolidated financial statements for year ended 31
December 2021.

As a result of the disposal, we were not able to gain access to the
accounting records of the Disposal Group. Accordingly, we were unable
to perform audit procedures that we consider necessary to obtain
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves for the
financial information of the Disposal Group for the period from 1
January 2021 to the date of disposal (the “Financial Information of
the Disposal Group”). Consequently, we were unable to determine
whether any adjustments might be necessary in respect of the Financial
Information of the Disposal Group disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021. Any
adjustments found necessary may have a consequential effect on
the Cash Flows from the discontinued operations disclosed in the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December
2021 and the figures and information disclosed in notes 10 and 31 to
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2021.

The abovementioned comparative figures and related disclosures for the
year ended 31 December 2021 shown in these consolidated financial
statements may not be comparable with those for the current year.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter

MBESAEE

Impairment of non-current assets

IEREEERE

In accordance with IFRSs, the Group assesses at the end of
each reporting period whether there are any indications of
impairment for its non-current assets. If such indicator of
impairment exists, an estimate of the recoverable amount
is performed. The Group has a significant amount of non-
current assets, including property, plant and equipment,
other intangible assets and right-of-use assets. Based on
the existing market conditions in the iron ore industry and
gypsum ore industry, impairment indicators were identified
for the Group’s non-current assets.
ZEB(ERTBREEL) SEERSRSHRTEHEF
RBEEREDEMBRESR - WRENRFE AEETH
WElegEtste BEERERREIFRRDEE QEWE-
BERZE HtBTEERERAEEE AN BR#EIER
TERAEERATENTBER BEEMNFERHEE
FIERERTR

Accordingly, management performed the impairment
assessment based on the discounted cash flows expected
to be derived from the cash-generating units ("CGU").
There was no impairment of assets during the year.
The assessment of the recoverable amounts involved
significant estimation uncertainty, subjective assumptions
and application of significant judgement, in relation to
recoverable reserves, commodity prices, the discount rate,
budgeted gross margin and production volumes.

Hit - EEEERERREEHRSELBUNMRERE
TREEIT R E T c FARL M E ERE o FJ W ElIE EERI T
HFREBANMGSAEEN  BERTHRIJMERFE P
ARHEE - FmEE EREX -EEENEXNES-

The Group’s disclosures about the impairment assessment
for these non-current assets are included in note 13 to
financial statements.
SEEBNZFIFREE 2 R E RV B 857 B 7R R M
5E130

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZHREFEFETRMANBSF P2 UAEHD

Our audit procedures included the following:

RONEAEFEEUTEE

We tested the impairment model selected for each
CGU based on our understanding of the methodology
and checked its mathematical accuracy;
BMERKFENER ARG ERSELBMUNK
BERRERE UEETHE CAERY

We compared key market-derived estimates,
including commodity prices, against external data.
We performed sensitivity analyses on the forecasts
prepared by management;

B ISR RERGE (BEERER) » BME
HENHYBETHLE -RMEMEREERENTER
EITHRED ;

We compared key operational estimates in the models
to source data and publicly available information,
including the forward market price of iron ore and
gypsum;

FAPI LE SRR B B AT AR Y 10 B SR A ST ER BB SROR &
AARESNER SFESBEBANAERAHSRER;

We involved our valuation specialists to assist us in
evaluating the key valuation parameters such as the
discount rate calculation applied and the valuation
model used; and
EMBFEALTEERGEIRMTEZIBRAREES
o PIMNPTERAMNMIREG E RPAFERNEEZREE ;
4

We also assessed the adequacy of the related
disclosures in the notes to financial statements.

AT EFEMBRERNTPOERREES EN -
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Other information included in the Annual Report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 ED R S

. HESHAFECESGTEARNBENX
PR & 5 - IR BFTE IR B 5T RS » HEE
EEFEREFENBRARNEKNTHE
EMEMmAEERY SE£EEMNFE
REENELEEREE -MRERMIBA
FREEARTHEE  MAYETZHUA
BEPRFEAEIRFRSHYBERETD
BAERIIEE - REB KRBT T Al
MEESERFEFRERER - HRMANEHR
EENZHMAMKR S H LIRS E R
oA RRFEHBRAUTLEER &

EETEFEEE-

. HEASYBRERNERINRSA G
BHAS BREKE UREEVBRE
BERERMZBMEE

. P BEBRNBRENERTINMERE
BERRE BENEESL UEHRE
BV BREAEXRBR -HMEE B&
EESSE BEENRT RMAE
ERAERNEE-

BREMEBEEN RMEEZEEGEE T 53
WESHEE KEZH BEREFHRS
BRMAETEFPH E A EENEREKRG

fe o

BPENELZZETREH RNAXMEHT
EABBIUMHNEREREE2XR IR
BEAFEAEMKIBAETERMBIMLN
PRAERMFEMEMEIR UkABHFEEBIIIER
BB PRI TEN B g4 Tk CEEA) °

2022 E8 | PENKHEELERAT 103



Independent Auditor's Report
B AR S

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Hooi Wan Yee.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 March 2023

REEBRZEGEBENFEETD  HAEERPL
FEEARAPGEEVBRENEAR/ESR
MIENAREFFRE - HAERBABRETHE
MBEFE RIFERERTAFARMES
LER IEBBFEFRNBERT  IRGERAR
ERMABETEREFRENNEEERESR
EENARN G HAREFEERETES
ZER

HEXBIZBMRENEAREGBARS

=f&e

o

LRGN EFFR
BEDED

N
2023%3H29H
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

m MR EMEERER

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F 128318 IEEE

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
REVENUE
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gain

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Reversal of impairment losses on
trade receivables

Impairment losses on other receivables

Finance costs

PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Income tax expenses

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Profit for the year from discontinued
operations

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

4= A
i 3

Notes
M &5
FHBREEE
A 4,5
& A4S
EF
HAU A K Wz 5
HERDHEBES
THHX
HpaxZ
FE W AR R E R5 18 5 2]

H W IRREE R
ARSI

REREEBRAFE

PRSI 2 9

RHECEEBERNFE

BARIERERER
DRSS EHFRF]E
10

FERFE

2022 £ | PENKEBEXZERAF

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥EFT AR®FT
725,869 714,760
(700,591) (690,098)
25,278 24,662
8,371 3,888
(904) (373)
(21,592) (19,003)
(4,198) (2,288)
4,530 4,130

(2) -
(5,965) (5,393)
5,518 5,623
(4,480) (4,641)
1,038 982

= 6,616

1,038 7,598
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

A4S L
:wa:li@\fm

KEAMEE R m R

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Other comprehensive income that may
be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY:

Basic and diluted
— For profit for the year (cents)
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Note
[

Htt 2w

R ERIEEMRDEE
BEmWEME W

HEBINEBELEN
b E 2R

FAREWEER

FI,/ (B518) BER
KABHER A
JEERED

2EWRE S (B18) 858
EREN
ENNSIE DN
JRiERE D

BERTARSERRE
REANERERMER

HR R 58
—FERFE (92) 12

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREF T AR¥TF T

31 840

1,069 8,438

1,304 8,311

(266) (713)

1,038 7,598

1,335 8,989

(266) (551)

1,069 8,438
RMBAER%0.06 RMBA R#50.40




NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade and bills receivables

Prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Due from related parties

Pledged deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables

Contract liabilities

Other payables and accruals

Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings

Due to related parties

Lease liabilities

Tax payable

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

FREBEE
EN N
ERREE
BVEE

TR RIE ~ B GRR

Hih&E
RIERIBEE

FERBBEERE
MENEE

s
FEUWRR R BB

FAAHRRIE ~ B Ath U IE R

Ht&EE
& Ui A Bk 75 R 0R
SHEREFEMR
RERREEEY

MEBEERE

mEaR

FEAS BRAX

aNEaRE

HA B RRIB R BT RIA
STRIBITREMEE

P& B B 75 R 0B
HEEE

FEAT IR
REBREHER
MBEEFE

BEERERRBER

Notes

By 5E

13
15
14

16
17

18
19

16
20
21
21

22
23
24

25
20
15

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

= A AN
FERBIKRR
As at 31 December 2022
%2022F12831H

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥EFT AR®FT
194,168 166,289
23,095 1,032
734,401 735,021
436 886
9,350 12,208
961,450 915,436
13,626 11,900
207,275 203,655
5,786 4,433
1,070 9,728
26 10,026
9,357 6,436
237,140 246,178
35,057 33,077
8,216 6,166
77,637 59,993
91,108 17,580
5,905 5,389
4,645 2,305
9,363 9,052
231,931 133,562
5,209 112,616
966,659 1,028,052
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RE BB R
As at 31 December 2022
12022128318

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Due to related parties

Lease liabilities

Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings

Provision for rehabilitation

Other payables

Total non-current liabilities
Net assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of the

Company
Issued capital
Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Hao Xiemin 7B #i&k
Director %
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FREER

&S BB 75 =R0R
HEaE
StEBRITRHEMBEE

ERER
HAh A ™RIE

BB EEEE

BEEEE

i

BERAARERS ANEDR

BETRAE
Gy

FFIERR

Wang Hu £ &
Director %

Notes

Py 5E

20
15

25
26
24

27
29

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREF T AR¥TF T
= 7,680

20,093 400

= 74,612

14,660 14,523
700 700
35,453 97,915
931,206 930,137
197,889 197,889
438,686 437,351
636,575 635,240
294,631 294,897
931,206 930,137




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
IIVT A HQ*E%@J%

Year ended 31 December 2022

HE2022F12831HIEFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
BEREAFREA
Difference
arising from
Safety acquisition
Share fund Share of non- Exchange Non-
Issued premium Statutory surplus  Contributed option controlling Capital fluctuation  Accumulated controlling Total
capital account Teserves feserve surplus reserve interests reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
LR
#2588 RiHE  EEELH ERigD
BEfRE  RAERE  EROEE EGE SARE i ] £8 BB [ BitiH Bt HERER EalE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
\EBFR  \EBETT ARETR NE¥TR AE#TR AE#TR AE#TT NEBTR  MEETR  ARETR \RBfR ARETR NEETR
(note 28/
(note 27) (note 290 (note 29(b)) (note 29(d)) (note 29(c) note 29(¢) (note 29(f)
lic7:78
20 i) N ) R 9 N 91 V) Hishgke) (taf)
At1 January 2021 #E1B1R 197,889 1877488 220,176 191,747 871,238 14926 (852,820) 186,200 (139 (1,296,454) 626,251 289,201 915452
Profitfoss) for the year ERHE/ B - - - - - - - - - 8311 8311 ) 75%
Other comprehensive income for the year: ~~ EREH2ENE
Exchange diferences related to freign EEEMEZENEDZE
operations - - - - - - - - 678 - 678 162 840
Total comprehensive incomeloss)for the year  £A2EWE/ (§i8) B - - - - - - - - 678 8311 8989 (551) 8438
Utiisation of safety fund surplus reserve HERRECTERRE - - = (2,562) - - - - - 2562 - = -
Provision for safety fund surplus reserve RRECUEREEE - - - 2802 - - - - - (2.802) - - -
Transfer from retained profits EER e - - 6509 - - - - - - (609) - - -
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFAT - - - - - - - - - - - 6,241 6,241
Transfer of share option reserve Mx AEEERRER
upon the expiry of share options B SREE - - - - - (5.805) - - - 5,805 - - -
At 31 December 2021 *2021%128318 197,889 1.877,488* 220,785 191,987 87,38* 9121% (852,820 186,200 539* (1,283,187 635,240 294,897 930,137
At 1 January 2022 #2002%1818 197,889 1,877,488 20,785 191,987 81,38 LAV (852,820) 186,200 539 (1,283,187) 635,240 294,897 930,137
Profit{oss) for the year ERTIR/ (FR) - - - - - - - - - 1304 1304 (266) 1,038
Other comprehenive income for the year: ~ EMEM2ENE :
Exchange differences related to foreign EEEMIEZBNERZE
operations = = = = = = = = kil = kil = kil
Total comprehensive incomeloss) for the year EA2ENE/ (Fi8) B - - - - - - - - 3 1304 1335 (266) 1,069
Utiisation of safety fund surplus reserve HER2ELTEHE - - - (2130 - - - - - 2130 - - -
Proviion for safety fund surplus reseve RRELEBREAE - - - 4539 - - - - - (4,539) - - -
Transfer from retained profts E LR - - 53 - - - - - - (533) - - -
At 31 December 2022 *202£12A318 197,889 1,877,488* 01318 194,396* 87,38% 9,121 (852,820)* 186,200 570¢ (1,284,825)* 636,575 294,631 931,206

*

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
RMB438,686,000 (2021: RMB437,351,000) in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

* ZERFBROBREMBRREEAND

A f#

#H AR 16438,686,0007T (20214F 1 AR
437,351,0007%) ©

2022 £ | PENKEBEXZERAF
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

|\7I'\ IE@/”LE%

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F 128318 IEEE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax:
From continuing operations
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Bank interest income
Gain on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment
Gain on debt restructuring
Losses relating to lease termination
Reversal of impairment losses
on trade receivables
Impairment losses on other receivables
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangible assets

Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills
receivables
Increase in inventories

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, other

receivables and other assets

Increase in an amount due from related
party

Increase in trade payables

Increase in other payables and accruals

Increase in contract liabilities

Cash generated from/(used in) operations

Interest received
Income tax paid

KREEFNRERE

KEAIH)E
FEEEES
FTNHSIEFHBIRE
FA#5 Rl A
RITH B WA
REYE - MERRE
BB
EBEERT
AR IEAERNEE
FEWBRTRR B RS 18 B (o]

HAhFEWRIRR E RS 18
M B RRBITE

EREEERE
BICEE#H

FEUER R R R4
B (g )

FEEM

TR RIE ~ Bt B WGRIE R
Ht&ZEER LD/ (5
FE Wt — 44 R Bk 75 RRIEIE A0

ET
1 300 R 31 0B
s#10

B#AMEN

REEL/ (R NRE
2UHE
[SERIZiECE

2022 2021

20224 20214F

Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
i AREF T AREFT
5,518 5,623

5,965 5,393

5 11) (16)
(102) (5)
= (809)

= 16
(4,530) (4,130)

2 —

8,335 7,151

1,367 1,503

857 582

17,401 15,308
826 (22,749)
(1,726) (6,086)

(973) 408

(4,791)

6,027 2,584

3,375 366

2,050 3,889
22,189 (6,280)

11 16
(884) (4,239)
21,316 (10,503)
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Discontinued operations

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating
activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Purchase of items of property,
plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment
Utilisation of rehabilitation
Increase in other payables
Increase in amounts due from
a related party
Disposal of subsidiaries

Discontinued operations

Net cash flows used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from bank and other
borrowings

Repayment of bank and other
borrowings

Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits

Principal portion of lease payments

Interest portion of lease payments

Interest paid

Increase in amounts due to a
related party

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes

By 5E

[=F:

R

IERE TR 10

mEEBEL (R M
RENEFEA

REFHNRERE
BEYE - BERRHEER
BEETEE

HENE -BMERREEE
FRiSIA
ERERER

H A A& RRIALE AN

P& Wy — 40 R Bk 75 "R IR G 0

HEF AT 31

ERIEEEER 10

RETHEANRERE
PR

MEZINRERE

RITREMBEEPIERA

UREIRTTREMES

¥

i

BEFRERRL (210
HERESEHH

HE R 2 55
BHFE

P — 4 B 75 IR 1R 11

GealRTEMER

Year ended 31 December 2022
HE2022F 128310 IEEE
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%F T AR®EFT
- (7,715)
21,316 (18,218)
(22,091) (22,706)
(237) -
257 3
(2,069) -
374 -
- (799)

- 3,111
(23,766) (20,391)
- (1,228)
(23,766) (21,619)
88,612 12,885
(89,612) (2)
10,000 (9,698)
(1,372) (225)
(662) (198)
(3,973) (3,899)
2,238 1,521
5,231 384
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

=PAN P —]
s SREMR=E %E
Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

Discontinued operations

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing
activities

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes,
net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances

Less: pledged deposits

BRIEEEER

MEEEBELT (R W
REenBFEE

RERREFEY
w@m, (R B8
FVNRERREEEY

EXEHTEFER

FRORERFEEED

RERREEEBMEHRIF

WE K IBITLERR
B BEERER

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the RIBEHEXRKNIERN

statement of cash flows

REMFEEEY

2022 2021
20224 20214F

Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
i AREF T AREFT
10 = (1,987)
5,231 (1,603)

2,781 (41,440)

6,436 47,173

140 703

9,357 6,436

9,383 16,462

(26) (10,026)

21 9,357 6,436
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

China Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited
(the "Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 28 April 2008
under the Companies Act. The registered office address of the
Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong is located at 31/F,
Tower Two Times Square, 1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) were principally engaged in
the following principal activities:

o sale of self-produced products
o trading of steels
o facility management

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”),
Trisonic International Limited (“Trisonic International”), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong, is the parent and the
ultimate holding company of the Company.

1.

R #5 3Rk R Bt 5E

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F 128318 IEEE

REIREBREN
FRENSREEBEBERRAR (TRAAF)
R2008F4828H A HERERIELF
EEMMII A —EERREERAB A
A B B 5 T S R #3E 2 Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands° 7z
REMNEBEEEEME AN S BRER
I B 1SR U EI52EE3 118

REE2022F12831BHLEFEER > &R
BRETAR BB IAER) FERSE
MUTFEEER

. HEBEEMR

FRREFR (EF) IR GAlERE
RAaE (MGRIEE) » —EREEBE MK
TWMAT) RERBNEG AT REAE
/NS
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R FR B 5

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

114

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Company name

NEIRTE

Directly held:

BERFE

Powerside Holdings Limited

B ERERAE

First China Limited

=RARRT

Sure Prime Limited

Sure Prime Limited

Singapore VTM Mining Pte. Ltd.

Singapore VTM Mining Pte. Ltd.

Indirectly held:
EEIFA -

Simply Rise Holdings Limited

SEERERAT
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Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business
AR

SE R 2 it B

British Virgin
Islands ("BVI")
HERUES

Hong Kong
e

BVI
EEEUES
Singapore

Hr N

Hong Kong

e

1.

Issued share/
registered
share capital
BRT’RN,
5t i 25

usD1

17T

HKD2

2BTT

usD1

178

SGD10,000

10,000%7 03 7T

HKD1

187

REREBER @

BEMFARMER
AATEEBFATMHENT :

Percentage

of equity
interests
attributable to
the Company
FBRAATN
RRAEZ TS
cyo

100

100

100

100

100

Principal
activities

FEEH

Investment
holding
BREZER

Investment
holding
REZERK

Investment
holding
BREZRK

Investment
holding
BREZER

Investment
holding
BREZER



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Company name

YACIEZE

Sichuan Lingyu Investment Group
Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan Lingyu"”) @

Mg EEHKEEEBRAT
(TEm ) @

Aba Mining Co., Ltd.
(“Aba Mining”) ®

PIHEERRAT
(T iz 2E)) ©

Huili Akuang Trading Co., Ltd.
("Akuang Trading”) ®

SEMEESAERAR
(MEEZ))©

Sichuan Xinglian Mining and
Technology Construction
Co., Ltd. ®

o)l & B REERNT TR RATY

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business
Rk,

S R 2 M B

The People's
Republic of
China (the

"PRC")
REARHEME
(e [ERL)

PRC

o

[

PRC

i

0]

PRC

0]

i

Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R Z< Bt 5

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

1. ATIREBREN #&
ERFLABRNER @)

Percentage
of equity

Issued share/ interests

registered attributable to

share capital the Company

BRITRG, BEREATN

Xt A A5 RAEEZE DL

%

HKD850,000,000 100

850,000,000 7T

RMB22,000,000 100
AE#522,000,0007C

RMB20,000,000 100
AE%20,000,0007T

RMB1,000,000 100

AER#%1,000,0007T

Principal
activities

FTEER

Product trading
and investment
holding

EmBS K
REER

I[ron ore mining,
iron ore
beneficiation
and sales of
self-produced
products
) R
BEATER
HEBEES

I[ron ore
beneficiation
and sales of iron
concentrates
BEATER
& B IE TR

Mining and

construction

consulting
R TR EE
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Company name

NEIRTE

Sichuan Haoyuan New Material Co.,
Ltd. (“Sichuan Haoyuan") ®

m)EEEM MR ARAR
(e 115EE)) ©

Hanyuan County Xinjin Mining
Co., Ltd. @

ERMESBEERFRAFY

Sichuan Lingwei Property Service

Co., Ltd. ®

m)EEEYERBARAT®

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business
i

SE R it B

PRC

HRE

5y

PRC

PRC

HRE

o

1. AT KREEER @

AR #10,000,00075
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ERAFREINER @)

Percentage

of equity

Issued share/ interests
registered attributable to Principal
share capital the Company activities

BETRG S HERAATMN
HEftRE RAEFESL FEER

cyO
RMB20,000,000 51 Gypsum ore
beneficiation
and sale of
self-produced
products
AR #20,000,00075 ABEALER
HE B EE M
RMB1,150,000 51 Gypsum ore
mining, gypsum
ore beneficiation
and sale of
self-produced
products
AER#1,150,0007C AEBARE-
AEBAEER
HE B EEmM
RMB10,000,000 100 Estate
management,
sale of

equipment and
materials, lease
of real estate
EithEEE
HERH

R A~
BEHERE



2.1

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

@ Sichuan Lingyu is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned
enterprise under PRC law.

® These subsidiaries are registered as domestic enterprises under
PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(which include all International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
("IASB"), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss which have been measured at fair value.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2022. A subsidiary is an entity, directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Notes to the Financial Statements

1.

2.1

R E e

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

PEIREBREN #

BERFREANER @
O mIEEREREEEERANEE
e

® EEFRABRBETEEREIMBER
o

ERINENARBFRAANESRIEAE
BRETNEBRUABHREAERFEEN
BEXRBHE-FEFARREEMF LA
BEFIRRERERN TR

A
AYBREDEREAKRGHENES
SRMIVBERYHFHREER (BEMA
BRI RS ER  BIRE N RE
B BB AREFRUKREEB(ATMRK
) B BRI E AR R o BRI A F(EFHEM
HEEHH ABRDNEHEER R TE
B AMBHREDREBEEL A AER
mRe

FEAREE
BEVBERRBEALNAKRETRBEH
F2022F12B31HIEEENHHFREK
FRABIABAADEEZIEEEFNE
BoEAERMAZALEEENEREM
AEZERBRESA &L WwAEE
ERHKREERNEN BEFEER
BRIfE I EEEEREENENNIR
BRERN) R BZE0IRE AEERNER
PRI
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R FR B 5

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

2.1

118

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly,
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(o) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(i) the fair value of any investments retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first

time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to IAS 16

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to IFRS 1,
IFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16, and

IAS 41

Annual Improvements to
IFRSs 2018-2020

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRSs that are
applicable to the Group described below:

120

(a)

(b)

Amendments to IFRS 3 replace a reference to
the previous Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference
to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
(the "Conceptual Framework”) issued in March 2018
without significantly changing its requirements. The
amendments also add to IFRS 3 an exception to its
recognition principle for an entity to refer to the
Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes
an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that,
for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be
within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 if they were
incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying IFRS 3 should refer to
IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual
Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify
that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition
at the acquisition date. The Group has applied the
amendments prospectively to business combinations that
occurred on or after 1 January 2022. As there were no
contingent assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
within the scope of the amendments arising in the
business combination that occurred during the year, the
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment any proceeds from selling items produced
while bringing that asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises
the proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost
of those items as determined by IAS 2 /nventories, in
profit or loss. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment
made available for use on or after 1 January 2021.
Since there was no sale of items produced prior to
the property, plant and equipment being available for
use, the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(0

Amendments to IAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under IAS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to
a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling
that contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation
charge for an item of property, plant and equipment
used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract
management and supervision costs). General and
administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract
and are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable
to the counterparty under the contract. The Group has
applied the amendments prospectively to contracts
for which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at 1
January 2022 and no onerous contracts were identified.
Therefore, the amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16, and IAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are applicable to the Group are as
follows:

o IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees
that an entity includes when assessing whether
the terms of a new or modified financial liability
are substantially different from the terms of
the original financial liability. These fees include
only those paid or received between the
borrower and the lender, including fees paid
or received by either the borrower or lender on
the other’s behalf. The Group has applied the
amendment prospectively from 1 January 2022.
As there was no modification or exchange of
the Group’s financial liabilities during the vyear,
the amendment did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2022
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 16

IFRS 17

Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1 and
IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

122

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture’

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Insurance Contracts’

Insurance Contracts’*

Initial Application of IFRS 17
and IFRS 9 — Comparative
Information®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”) 24

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) ?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting Estimates’
Deferred Tax related to Assets and

Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction’
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

(Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

4 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective

date of the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

> As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in June
2020, IFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption
that permits insurers to apply IAS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for
annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

6 An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to
the classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it
on initial application of IFRS 17

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a
full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB in December 2015 and
a new mandatory effective date will be determined after the
completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

2.3

124

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale
and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to
the right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall
be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions
entered into after the date of initial application of IFRS 16
(i.,e., 1 January 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current, in particular the determination over
whether an entity has a right to defer settlement of the liabilities
for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Classification
of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity
will exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability. The
amendments also clarify the situations that are considered
a settlement of a liability. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall
be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. An
entity that applies the 2020 Amendments is required to apply
simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of amendments and
whether existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on
a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require
entities to disclose their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial statements,
it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to
IFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on
how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to IAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an
effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The Group
is currently revisiting the accounting policy disclosures to ensure
consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use
measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting
estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Year ended 31 December 2022
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2.3

2.4

126

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in IAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The amendments are effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and shall be applied to transactions related to leases and
decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that date.
In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively to
transactions other than leases and decommissioning obligations.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation technigues for which the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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2.4

128

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets), the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset's or cash-generating unit's
value in use (“VIU") and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of
those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit
for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate
asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing VIU,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group;
or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;
(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the

other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

130

POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation of items of property, plant and equipment, other
than mining infrastructure, is calculated on the straight-line
basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as
follows:

Buildings 5-20 years
Plant and machinery 5-20 years
Office equipment 3-10 years
Motor vehicles 5-10 years

Depreciation of mining infrastructure is calculated using the
units-of-production (“UOP”) method to depreciate the cost of
the assets in proportion to the extraction of the proved and
probable mineral reserves. The remaining estimated useful life
of the mining infrastructure at the end of the reporting period
ranging with 12 years are determined in accordance with the
production plans of the entities concerned and the proved and
probable reserves of mines using the UOP method.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents items of property, plant
and equipment under construction, which is stated at cost less
any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs
on related borrowing funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

132

POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Mining rights

Mining rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any impairment losses. Mining rights include the cost
of acquiring mining licences, exploration and evaluation
costs transferred from exploration rights and assets upon
determination that an exploration property is capable of
commercial production, and the cost of acquiring interests in the
mining reserves of existing mining properties. The mining rights
are amortised over the estimated useful lives of the mines, in
accordance with the production plans of the entities concerned
and the proved and probable reserves of the mines using the
UOP method. Mining rights are written off to profit or loss if the
mining property is abandoned.

Software

software are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment and are amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 3 years.

Exploration rights and assets

Exploration rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses, and exploration assets
are stated at cost less any impairment losses. Exploration rights
and assets include the cost of acquiring exploration rights,
topographical and geological surveys, exploratory drilling,
sampling and trenching and activities in relation to commercial
and technical feasibility studies, and deferred amortisation and
depreciation charges in respect of assets consumed during the
exploration activities.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Exploration rights and assets (Continued)

Exploration rights are amortised over the term of rights.
Equipment used in exploration is depreciated over its useful life,
or, if dedicated to a particular exploration project, over the life
of the project on the straight-line basis, whichever is shorter.
Amortisation and depreciation are included, in the first instance,
in exploration rights and assets and are transferred to mining
rights when it can be reasonably ascertained that an exploration
property is capable of commercial production.

Exploration and evaluation costs include expenditure incurred
to secure further mineralisation in existing ore bodies as well as
in new areas of interest. Expenditure incurred prior to acquiring
legal rights to explore an area is written off as incurred.

Exploration rights and assets shall be assessed for impairment
when facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may exceed its recoverable amount. An impairment test is
performed if any of the following indicators are present:

(@) the period for which the entity has the right to explore
in the specific area has expired during the period or
will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be
renewed;

(b) substantial expenditure on further exploration for and
evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area is
neither budgeted nor planned;

(c) exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources
in the specific area have not led to the discovery of
commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and
the entity has decided to discontinue such activities in
the specific area; or

(d) sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed,
the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation
asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful
development or by sale.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

134

POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Exploration rights and assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
exploration rights and assets’ carrying amount exceeds their
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
the exploration rights and assets’ fair value less costs of disposal
and their VIU. For the purpose of assessing impairment, the
exploration rights and assets subject to testing are grouped
with existing cash-generating units of production fields that are
located in the same geographical region.

When it can be reasonably ascertained that an exploration
property is capable of commercial production, exploration and
evaluation costs capitalised are transferred to either mining
infrastructure or mining rights and depreciated/amortised using
the UOP method based on the proved and probable mineral
reserves. Exploration rights and assets are written off to profit or
loss if the exploration property is abandoned.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Office premises 2 years
Plant and machinery 1 to 20 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated
using the estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

136

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its IBR at the lease commencement date
because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable. After the commencement date,
the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change
to future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipment and laptop computers that are
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair value through
profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in
other comprehensive income is recycled to the statement of
profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primary
derecognised (i.e.,
statement of financial position) when:

removed from the Group’s consolidated

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
J the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group's continuing involvement in the asset. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 120 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 120 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

142

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the
following observable events:

(i) significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

(i) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

(iii) likelihood that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy or
other financial reorganization emerges.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial asset has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the financial asset is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A financial asset is determined
to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.
Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss

Stage 3 -

allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a
significant financing component and lease receivables, the
Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described above.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans
and borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables, amounts due to related parties and interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of loans and borrowings and
payables is as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, loans and borrowings and other
payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i)
the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy as
set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and,
in the case of finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable
overhead costs, including depreciation and amortisation incurred
in converting materials into finished goods, based on the
normal production capacity. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred
to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to
use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in statement of profit or loss.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Provisions (Continued)

Provisions for the Group’s obligations for rehabilitation are
based on estimates of required expenditure at the mines in
accordance with the rules and regulations of the PRC. The
obligation generally arises when the asset is installed or the
ground environment is disturbed at the production location.
The Group estimates its liabilities for final rehabilitation and
mine closure based upon detailed calculations of the amount
and timing of the future cash expenditure to perform the
required work. Spending estimates are escalated for inflation,
then discounted at a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the liability such that the amount of provision reflects the
present value of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. When the liability is initially recognised, the
present value of the estimated cost is capitalised by increasing
the carrying amount of the related mining infrastructure.

Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the change in
the present value based on the appropriate discount rate. The
periodic unwinding of the discount is recognised within finance
costs in profit or loss. The asset is depreciated using the UOP
method over its expected life and the liability is accreted to the
projected expenditure date. Additional disturbances or changes
in estimates (such as mine plan revisions, changes in estimated
costs, or changes in timing of the performance of reclamation
activities) will be recognised as additions or charges to the
corresponding assets and rehabilitation liabilities when they
occur at the appropriate discount rate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which the
Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or
services to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated
at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.

Sale of industrial products

Revenue from the sale of industrial products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the goods.

Rendering of services

Revenue from the facility management services and guarantee
services is recognised over time, using an input method to
measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the service,
because the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced.
The input method recognises revenue based on the proportion
of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs
for satisfaction of the of specialised mining services. Revenue
from the rendering of consultancy management service is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line basis
because the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for
goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group
performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before
the customer pays consideration or before payment is due,
a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration
that is conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the accounting
policies for impairment of financial assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services

to the customer).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs
that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in note 11 to financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the Directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including Directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services in exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 28 to financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit
to profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value.
Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award
unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition
is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The employees of the subsidiaries in Mainland China are
required to participate in a defined central pension scheme
managed by the local municipal government of the areas in
Mainland China in which they operate. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of the relevant part
of the payroll of these employees to the central pension scheme.
The Group has no obligation for the payment of retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

The subsidiary that was incorporated and operates in Singapore
is obligated to contribute to an independently administered fund
(such as the Central Provident Fund in Singapore, a government
managed defined contribution retirement benefit plan).

Save as disclosed, the Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay contributions in addition to its fixed
contributions, which are recognised as an expense in the period
that related employee services are received.

Housing fund

Contributions to a defined contribution housing fund
administered by the Public Accumulation Funds Administration
Centre in Mainland China are charged to profit or loss as
incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
functional currency of the Company. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with the
exception of monetary items that are designated as part of the
hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign operation.
These are recognised in other comprehensive income until the
net investment is disposed of, at which time the cumulative
amount is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss. Tax
charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on
those monetary items are also recorded in other comprehensive
income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their profit or loss are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at
the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.
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158

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgement

(a) Revenue recognition
The Group applies judgements in determining whether
it is principally involved in the trading of steels. The
Group concludes that it acts as a principal and recognises
revenue in the gross amount as the Group is able to
control steels before transferring to the customers and
has discretion in establishing the price for steels.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below:

(a) Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and
rating).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (cContinued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables (Continued)

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic
product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year
which can lead to an increased number of defaults, the
historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of a customer's actual default
in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group's trade receivables is disclosed in note 19 to
financial statements.

PRC corporate income tax (“PRC CIT”)

The Group's operating subsidiaries in Mainland China are
subject to PRC CIT. As a result of the fact that certain
matters relating to PRC CIT have not been confirmed
by the relevant local tax authorities, objective estimates
based on currently enacted tax laws, regulations and
other related policies are required in determining the
provision for PRC CIT to be made. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
originally recorded, the differences will impact the
income tax expense and tax provision in the period
in which the differences realise. The carrying amount
of PRC CIT payable as at 31 December 2022 was
RMB9,363,000 (31 December 2021: RMB9,052,000).

Notes to the Financial Statements
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160

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group estimates useful lives and related depreciation
charges for its items of property, plant and equipment,
other than mining infrastructure for which the
depreciation is calculated on the UOP method. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the
actual useful lives of items of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. It could
change significantly as a result of technical innovations
and actions of its competitors. Management will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated, or it will record an impairment
provision for technically obsolete assets that have been
abandoned.

Mine reserves

Engineering estimates of the Group's mine reserves are
inherently imprecise and represent only approximate
amounts because of the significant judgements involved
in developing such information. There are authoritative
guidelines regarding the engineering criteria that
have to be met before estimated mine reserves can be
designated as “proved” and “probable”. Proved and
probable mine reserve estimates are updated at regular
intervals taking into account recent production and
technical information about each mine. In addition,
as prices and cost levels change from year to year, the
estimate of proved and probable mine reserves also
changes. This change is considered a change in estimates
for accounting purposes and is reflected on a prospective
basis in both depreciation and amortisation rates
calculated on the UOP method and the time period for
discounting the rehabilitation provision. Changes in the
estimate of mine reserves are also taken into account in
impairment assessments of non-current assets.

3.
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Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3. FJAGHIETRMGE @
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued) G5t REARREZE (@)
(e)  Exploration rights and assets (e) EIfEREZE

The application of the Group's accounting policy for REEEEREEERAERN
exploration rights and assets requires estimation in BEBERE SEHRKREARK
determining whether it is likely that future economic i & B 5 7J A A 2Rk R 2R KO F)
benefits will result either from future exploitation or WO NEEEEDRESEUSH
sale or whether activities have not reached a stage EEEAEREFHSGIETGEIE
which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence B EBNACEHES - BEE
of reserves. The determination of mine reserves is BHREEAFRIRMGER &
itself an estimation process with varying degrees of TN NS R AREENT
uncertainty depending on sub-classification. Estimates FHBAR 2= o i B 1S FT & KL > Bl PR
and assumptions made may change if new information E B9 18 51 B R 38 AJ BE B o i
becomes available. If, after expenditure is capitalised, RHEZEREABERERET
information becomes available suggesting that the XA KA SEWE - A FTE KR
recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the amount NEERESHENPRNER
capitalised is written off in profit or loss in the period FRfEE o 522022812 831H 0 &)
when the new information becomes available. The RRENEENRESEAARE
carrying amount of exploration rights and assets as at 65,991,00075 (20215F12831H ¢
31 December 2022 was RMB65,991,000 (31 December AR #65,991,0007T) c #E—F ¥
2021: RMB65,991,000). Further details are given in note BEN B HRRW T 140

14 to financial statements.

(f)  Net realisable value of inventories () HFEHIEEEEE

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling FENIERFENNEHEER
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated wREPHGEEE MR 5T
cost to be incurred to completion and disposal. These B A R B E A o ZE A ET TS
estimates are based on the current market condition ERBEmRKHEREHEE
and the historical experience of selling products of a mBEE KR ARBEEIT WA
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result RERAAEEERN N HFITEE
of changes in downstream industries that consume BMEENE - BEENRSRSE
the Group’s products. Management reassesses these HAR BT A ML 5t 0 102022
estimates at the end of each reporting period. The F12A31H FENRE S
carrying amount of inventories as at 31 December AE®13,626,00071 (2021412
2022 was RMB13,626,000 (31 December 2021: B318 : AR #11,900,0007T) °
RMB11,900,000). Further details are given in note 18 to E—FPEBHNTBERRM T
financial statements. 18¢°
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162

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(9)

Provision for rehabilitation

Provision for rehabilitation is based on estimates
of future expenditures incurred by management to
undertake rehabilitation and restoration work which
were discounted to reflect the term and nature of the
obligations to their present values. Significant estimates
and assumptions are made in determining the provision
for rehabilitation as there are numerous factors that
will affect the ultimate liability payable. These factors
include estimates of the extent and costs of rehabilitation
activities, technological changes, regulatory changes,
cost increases and changes in the discount rate. Those
uncertainties may result in future actual expenditure
differing from the amounts currently provided. The
provision at the end of the reporting period represents
management’s best estimate of the present value of
the future rehabilitation costs required. Changes to
estimated future costs are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position by adjusting the
rehabilitation asset and liability. The carrying amount of
provision for rehabilitation as at 31 December 2022 was
RMB14,660,000 (31 December 2021: RMB14,523,000).
Further details are contained in note 26 to financial
statements.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (cContinued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(h)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary
differences and the tax losses can be utilised. Estimates
of future taxable income are based on forecast cash
flows from operations and the application of existing
tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future
cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from
estimates, the ability of the Group to realise the deferred
tax assets recorded at the end of the reporting period
could be impacted. The gross amount of deferred
tax assets recognised as at 31 December 2022 was
RMB9,350,000 (31 December 2021: RMB12,208,000).
The amounts of unrecognised tax losses and
unrecognised deductible temporary differences as at 31
December 2022 were RMB402,892,000 (31 December
2021: RMB408,363,000) and RMB115,431,000 (31
December 2021: RMB115,431,000), respectively. Further
details are contained in note 17 to financial statements.

Additionally, future changes in tax laws and regulations
in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates could
limit the ability of the Group to obtain tax deductions on
taxable income in future periods.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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164

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

17

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including
the right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting
period. Definite life non-financial assets are tested
for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Based on the
existing market conditions, impairment indicators were
identified for the Group’s main mining cash-generating
units, other pre-development stage mining rights, and
exploration rights and assets. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs to sell and its VIU. The calculation
of the fair value less costs to sell is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
VIU calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset
or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows.

Leases - Estimating the IBR

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an IBR to
measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest
that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not
enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease
(for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s
functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit
rating).

3.

BEAGEHHE KA @
fti st FEARAE & ()

(i) FE2HEE (FBERS) FRE

FERERERSHPRTFMERA
FEMEE (BREEAREER 2
AEEARETRR - ABERESF
HHFERMEENATRERHEH
AR [ 2 88 P BE A WR B BF AE 1T R
BAR-ERRTHR c&H
WEERBERsEELBMU - Hith
fed 2K ) B2 B R B 1 L R B R A
BEEGFARENR BEEENR
TELEBUNKREEBBEATK
[O & 28R RIFERE  TREE
BAHERATEREENARESE
BEENKRSE ATERHBEE
BAETDEREUEENAFTRS
NENRNDBERZ NIRRT
BERLEEENBENANT A
YEAE - RABEREER
EEEAGHEENREELE
UNTRMARRRERE > LER
BENMEREE  USEREME

RIRE-

G) HE-1EZAEEEREFE

AEBTENRMETHEERNS
A= FALEREEEER Rt
EHEEG-EEEENEDE
EERBHALERET  /EE
BEREEEEERENEE
BBEERRREREBALESE
TR - UL IE 18 &
BERERRAER BN
= BN maIEERNA R (HI
BMILEITIMERZ N FATM
)R WARTERRREEKRD
R E AR (BN EHE
EUWIFRFABNINEERHE
) A5 e AEEERT
BReAE (GImhmisHx) (W
B) et EEEER X WAFSY
ETEBEEMS BUFRE

BB EETR) ©

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2022 ANNUAL REPORT



OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their services and products and has four (2021:
three) reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the high-Fe mining operation segment comprises the
operation of sale of self-produced high-grade iron
concentrates within the range of 65% TFe to 72% TFe;

(b) the trading segment comprises the operation of sale of
traded products;

(0) the facility management segment comprises the provision
of facilities management services for mining related
industry; and

(d) the corporate and others segment comprises the non-
operating activities that support the Group, including
central functions such as the functional costs that have
not been allocated to the other segments.

The Directors monitor the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax from
continuing operations. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit/loss before tax
except that other income and gain, other expenses, non-lease-
related finance costs and fair value losses on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are excluded from such
measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, pledged deposits
and cash and cash equivalents as these assets are managed on a
group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and tax payable as these liabilities are managed on a
group basis.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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HZE2022F12831HIEEE
4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REDEBEN @
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022 HZE20225F12A31HILEE
High-Fe
mining Facility Corporate
operation Trading  management and others Total
5 fi
BRIAER B2 HEER EREM =L
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARBETT ARBFT ARETT ARETT
Segment revenue SEKA
Sales to external customers [ESMPE PR RV E 73,494 644,326 8,049 - 725,869
Intersegment sales DEEHEE - - 740 - 740
73,494 644,326 8,789 - 726,609
Reconciliation: #Hk
Elimination of intersegment #8549 SRRISHE
sales (740)
Revenue from continuing ~ FELEEHUA
operations ﬂ
Segment results D EE 10,428 4,819 1,036 (10,545) 5,738
Reconciliation: R
Other income and gain HA K Wz 8,371
Other expense Hitf% (4,198)
Finance costs (other than ~ BfBSpA (FEIETRE
interest on lease liabilities & &ENF| B K18 REE)
and provision for
rehabilitation) (4,393)
Profit before tax from FEREEERATE
continuing operations 5,518
Segment assets PUEE 412,087 205,663 3,097 747,104 1,367,951
Reconciliation: Hik .
Elimination of intersegment #8843 &5 & FE L 0B
receivables (188,094)
Deferred tax assets FIEREEE 9,350
Cash and cash equivalents R&RIBEEBY 9,357
Pledged deposits BERER 26
Total assets EERE 1,198,590
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4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

High-Fe
mining
operation
B
RMB'000
AEBTFT
Segment liabilities par= =N 115,889
Elimination of intersegment 1&344) 25 & fE T F0IE
payables
Interest-bearing bank and st ER{TREMEE
other borrowings
Tax payable FEfT IR
Total liabilities BERE
Other segment Hitr HER
information
Reversal of impairment MW IR R B RS 1B o]
losses on trade (FzE7)
receivables (note 7) (4,530)
Impairment losses on other EftIFEW B R EEE
receivables (note 7) (Mi5E7) 2
Depreciation and EREE (F:7)
amortisation (note 7) 10,266
Capital expenditure* BARMR*
(note 13 and note 14) (MiEE13 R MR 14) 35,047
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and

equipment (excluding the additions to mining infrastructure
which was the addition of rehabilitation assets) and intangible

assets.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

Trading

5
RMB'000
ARBTFR

167,873

REDEER &

HZF2022F12831HLEE (&)

Facility
management
R ERE
RMB'000
AEBTR

1,048

Corporate
and others

EERELM
RMB'000
ARBTFT

70,197

Total
oL
[=]-]
RMB'000
ARETTT
355,007
(188,094)

91,108

9,363

267,384

(4,530)
2
10,559

35,242

* EXRAXBERBEYE BERRE
(FEEAEREER BDAREER
EBNEE)) URETLEE-
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Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

4.

168

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2021

Segment revenue
Sales to external customers
Intersegment sales

Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment sales

Revenue from continuing operations

Segment results

Reconciliation.

Other income and gain

Other expense

Finance costs (other than interest on
lease liabilities)

Profit before tax from continuing operations

Segment assets

Reconciliation:

Elimination of intersegment receivables
Deferred tax assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Pledged deposits

Total assets

PEWA
EEIEESk (i b
NEEHE

#k
HHDBEHE

REBLEEBEA

NBER

Eof
Eftl AR W&
Eftfis

BHERE (FRREEE
BENHE)

RELEEERME

NWEE

#ik:

MR EWTIA
RIEREARE
RERFLFEN
EEREN

HERE

4, RBEHWER @
HZE2021F12B31HIEEE
High-Fe

mining Corporate

operation Trading and others Total
Bmil

HBBEY 25 hEREHM Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT ARBFT ARBFT
56,776 657,984 - 714,760
- - 512 512
56,776 657,984 512 715,272
(512)
714,760
6,584 11,376 (8,742) 9,218
3,888
(2,288)
(5,195)
5,623
369,412 204,263 735,289 1,308,964
(176,020)
12,208
6,436
10,026
1,161,614
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4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021 (Continued)

Segment liabilities SHaR

Elimination of intersegment payables 1R BRI B

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings st ERTREMES

Tax payable S

Total liabilities BREE

Other segment information HitnpHER

Reversal of impairment losses on TR BB
trade receivables, net (note 7) BOEIFE (M:7)

Depreciation and amortisation (note 7) EREH (F:7)

Capital expenditure* (note 13) BAREE (HEH13)

* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and

equipment.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

REDHER @

HE2021F12831HLEFE (&)

4.

High-Fe

mining
operation Trading

Smfl
HRSED 825
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT NG S
67,713 170,387
(327) (3,803)
8,731 6
18,157 -

Corporate
and others

LEREN
RMB'000
ABBF 7

68,153

499
109

Total

At
RMB'000
AREF 7T

306,253
(176,020)
92,192

9,052

231,477

(4,130)
9,236
18,266

* EARXBEFEME BERR

o
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Year ended 31 December 2022

HE2022F 128310 IEFEE
4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

170

(Continued)
Entity-wide disclosures
Geographical information

(a)

(b)

Revenue from external customers

The following table sets out information about the
geographical locations of the Group’s revenue from
external customers during the year. The geographical
locations of customers are determined based on the
locations designated by the customers at which the
goods were delivered or services were rendered.

Mainland China R 3
Non-current assets

Mainland China FE R 3t
Singapore ¥

The non-current asset information of continuing
operations above is based on the locations of the assets
and excludes prepayments, other receivables and other
assets and deferred tax assets.

SENEHER @

ERERRE
I EH

(a)

(b)
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TR FAREBRBIDZ
FUABI#IE KL - ZF P BIPRE
WBEREFIEEXNEmEE

HARFEHI M BEEETE ©
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETTT
725,869 714,760

FERBEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETF T ARET T
951,485 901,979
179 363
951,664 902,342

RS BEEEBNIFRBEE
ERUEENFREMRER B
TEERNRIE HMEWRE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4,

(Continued)

Entity-wide disclosures (Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from each of a major customer, which amounted to
10% or more of the total revenue, is set out below:

R E e

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

REDHER @

ERERERE @

EEEFEH
REMGRBAI0%RU LN —LEBE
F A BT T :

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BTT AR¥F T
Customer A EEH 644,326 657,984
REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN 5. WKWA~HA KUk
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADFWT :
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 % RMB'000 %
ARETFT ARETTT
Revenue from contracts EESAIMA
with customers
Sale of industrial products: $§ET#ER !
High-grade iron = o i 81 T
concentrates 73,494 10.1 56,776 7.9
Steels pilif:1 644,326 88.8 657,984 92.1
Rendering of facility TRHER B ERTE
management services 8,049 1.1 - -
725,869 100.0 714,760 100.0
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Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(a) Disaggregated revenue information
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Segments i

Types of goods or AR RHER
services

High-grade iron concentrates = Sl &5 &

Trading of steels HEER

Facility management services & i 22 R

Geographical market i A

Mainland China HE Rt

Timing of revenue W A FE SRR
recognition

Goods transferred at 75— A R
a point in time &

Services transferred over time FEBS R EZ M RS

5. WA-HMEARKE @

ERAHNIRA
(a) B#HFFUAEH
#X2022F12831HLEFE
High-Fe
mining Facility Corporate
operation Trading management and others Total
Emil
HIRSEHB B5 REEE  EERHM Af
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE%®TR ARBTRT ARBTRT ARETR ARETR
73,494 - - - 73,494
- 644,326 - - 644,326
- - 8,049 - 8,049
73,494 644,326 8,049 - 725,869
73,494 644,326 8,049 - 725,869
73,494 644,326 - - 717,820
- - 8,049 - 8,049
73,494 644,326 8,049 - 725,869
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(a)

Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Segments

Types of goods or services
High-grade iron concentrates
Trading of steels

Geographical market
Mainland China

Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time

2E

EmaREER
Bm i SEE

Wi TS
hE A

LON:
RE-BEXEBENER

Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R Z< Bt 5

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

5. WA-HMEARKE @
EEREAHNKA @)

(a) BFFUAEZEH (B
HZE2021F12831HLEEE

High-Fe
mining Corporate
operation Trading and others Total
Emil
HESEYR B85  GERHM At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARBTR

56,776 - - 56,776

- 657,984 - 657,984
56,776 657,984 - 714,760
56,776 657,984 - 714,760
56,776 657,984 - 714,760
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Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Segments

Revenue from contracts
with customers

External customers

Intersegment sales

Intersegment adjustments
and eliminations

Total revenue from contracts
with external customers

pir

ERAEHKA

pINIESS

NEEHE

NEERERIEHE

SRR R BHBA
13E

Iy

5. WA ~HMBAR K= @
EREHNWA @&
(a) BHFFKRAEK (B)
HE20225612A31ALLFE
High-
Fe mining Facility Corporate
operation Trading Management and others Total
=il
HRAES =7 REEE  EEREM CE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE#TR AREFTR ARBTR ARBTRm AERBTER
73,494 644,326 8,049 = 725,869
- - 740 - 740
73,494 644,326 8,789 = 726,609
- - (740) - (740)
73,494 644,326 8,049 - 725,869
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Segments ikl

Revenue from contracts with EREHBA
customers

External customers SABEE

Intersegment sales DEEHE

Intersegment adjustments and 5 R B B R
eliminations

Total revenue from contracts with SNERESHWMALBE
external customers

(b) Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations
is summarised below:

Sale of industrial products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of the industrial products and payment is generally due
within 120 days from delivery. There were no remaining
performance obligations unsatisfied or partially satisfied
as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022.

Notes to the Financial Statements

R E e

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

5. WA-HMEARKE @
EEREAHNKA @)

(a) BFFUAEH (B
HZE2021F12831HLEEE

High-Fe
mining Corporate
operation Trading and others Total
Emil
HESEYR B85  GERHM At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARBTR

56,776 657,984 - 714,760
- - 512 512
56,776 657,984 512 715,272
- - (512) (512)
56,776 657,984 - 714,760

(b) EHEE
ERTEERNEENERT
LI

HET2ER

MRV ILEERBREMRBNE
ForARIB—RPEBRZTEF120
KAEER 20215128318 &
2022F 12831 H LEBRTEL
SR AREMNEELDEMR
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Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

176

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

(b) Performance obligations (Continued)
Facility management services
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered. Consultancy and management
service contracts are for periods of one year or more,
and are billed based on the time incurred. There were
no remaining performance obligations unsatisfied or
partially satisfied as at 31 December 2022.

An analysis of other income and gain is as follows:

Other income Hg A

Bank interest income RITH BUA
Government grants BT/ B

Sale of raw materials [ A7 8
Guarantee fee (note 9) HERE (FI5E9)
Miscellaneous HAth

Gain &

Gain on disposal of items of HEME BREREB
property, plant and equipment I BRI

Total other income and gain HMWA & W 4858

Note:

(a) There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies
relating to these government grants.

5. WKA~-HMBWARKE @
ZEREHKA @
(b) [BHRIELE (B)
BRI EER
BB ETHH AR TS 12 4 I e i 1
ER o BEEREERBSNEH
—FEFU L RIBEERERA
I jA20225E 128310 W E
BRTRAOSEEARERNELD
R e
HEtBARKRZE AT :
2022 2021
202245 20214
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
iz ARETT AE®FT
11 16
(a) 445 173
2,881 2,505
4,453 -
479 1,177
8,269 3,871
102 17
8,371 3,888
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Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

FINANCE COSTS 6. HMBEA
An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations is as FECSEXBHBEREADIUWT !
follows:
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT
Interest on bank and other borrowings  $RfT R EMESHIFI B
(note 32(b)) (MF5E32(b)) 4,393 4,326
Interest on lease liabilities HEaENFE (MIEE15(0) ~32(b))
(note 15(c), 32(b)) 662 198
Unwinding of discount on provision BEMIRERD (W5E26)
(note 26) 910 869

5,965 5,393
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Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

178

PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING

OPERATIONS

The Group's profit before tax from continuing operations was
arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Cost of inventories sold
Cost of services provided

Cost of sales

Employee benefit expenses
(including Directors’ and chief
executive's remuneration

(note 8)):
Wages and salaries

Welfare and other benefits
Pension scheme contributions
— Defined contribution fund

Housing fund

— Defined contribution fund

Total employee benefit expenses

Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangible assets

Depreciation and amortisation

expenses

Reversal of impairment losses on

trade receivables

Impairment losses on other

receivables

Lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities

Auditor's remuneration

CEHRTFEME
CRERFTMAE

SHE M

BERARAX (B
EFEARBITHRAR
#oM (fysEs)) -

TER#HE

B R EMF @

RIRE FTEIHR
—REHMEE

TR AEE
—REHEMES

RERNFABE

M BB RREBITE

EREEERE
EEE#H

TERBIHEAX

FE W BR AR (B RS 18 B o)

Hh W IRREE R

TESFABEREFERN

HEMR

TZBET BN =

7.

Notes

By 5E

13
15(a)
14

19

16(a)

15(c)

RFEEEXHRAFE

AEBNFBEEEZRAMN LR
bR/ (Gt A) THISEBER !

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETF T AR¥TF T
694,355 690,098
6,236 -
700,591 690,098
17,041 11,830
1,623 1,122
2,877 1,177

420 286
21,961 14,415
8,335 7,151
1,367 1,503

857 582
10,559 9,236
(4,530) (4,130)

2 —

263 99

2,380 2,130
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES

Directors' and chief executive's remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to The Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
("HKSE"), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as

Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R Z< Bt 5

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

8. EFKkESITHASM

Ukza#HMakES

REEERESRZMARRE (MR
Pry) 8855 EHAR - FEBRBKREE
383(1)(a)~ (b)~ (OB (NFR LU A B (I EE
EFENmER) ROAE 2 RBERFES
ERESITHRASNHFMOT

follows:
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR¥F T
Fees W 2,051 2,091
Other emoluments: Hif < :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in e EMEREYHG
kind 389 347
Pension scheme contributions BB EEMER
— Defined contribution fund —AEHHIES 40 45
429 392
2,480 2,483
Notes: B5E ©
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIAERITES

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the

year were as follows:

Mr. Yu Haizong RBREE
Mr. Liu Vi B e
Mr. Wu Wen BxEE

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent

non-executive directors during the year (2021: Nil).

FRENBIFATEENREN
T

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TFT AR¥T T
150 150

150 150

150 150

450 450

FERIEECEIIIFRITERNEM
4 (20214 : 8)
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Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

180

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Executive directors, non-executive director and the chief

executive

2022 2022%F

Executive directors HITES
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping* & T4~

Mr. Hao Xiemin ek e
Mr. Wang Hu FREE

Non-executive director JEHITEE
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan ERKAES A

8. EFKkESITHASHM
UkzE#HMakES
(#4%)
Wik (4

(b) BTEF - FRATEERESTH

AB

Salaries, Pension

allowances and Scheme
Fees benefits in kind contributions Total

e EMR BikE
wsE BEYF = BElREEA a5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%BFT AR%FT AR%®FT AR%FT
- 67 9 76
150 167 20 337
150 222 20 392
300 456 49 805
1,301 - - 1,301
1,601 456 49 2,106
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Executive directors, non-executive director and the chief

Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R Z< Bt 5

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

8. EFRESFITHASNRM
UkEs#HMNEAES
(#)

WisE ¢ 48

(b) BTES - FRITEERERITH

officer and an executive director of the Company with
effect from 13 July 2022 and Mr. Hao Xiemin appointed
as the acting chief executive officer of the Company on
13 July 2022.

executive (Continued) AB (#)
Salaries, Pension
allowances and Scheme
Fees benefits in kind contributions Total
Fr N EAL K BARE
Wi BFYH m AR =11
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTT ARBETT ARBTT ARBETF T
2021 20214
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping* BRI o4~ 75 86 15 176
Mr. Hao Xiemin Al et 150 136 15 301
Mr. Wang Hu FE&EE 150 125 15 290
375 347 45 767
Non-executive director JEHITEE
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan EoKRE ST 1,266 - - 1,266
1,641 347 45 2,033
* Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping has resigned as the chief executive * BHRTEEEREEARTE

FBHATERATEETNBH
¥ B2022478 1384
2 B B S A 202247
AI3EEZAALTATNE
EHERITE
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182

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)

Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees during the year include three
directors (2021: four). Details of directors’ remuneration are
set out above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the
remaining two (2021: one) highest paid employee who are
neither directors nor chief executives of the Company are as

follows:

e RBREYA S

Salaries, allowances and benefits
in kind

Pension scheme contributions BRIRE SRR
— Defined contribution fund —REHZES

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following

bands is as follows:

Nil to HKD1,000,000 0% 1,000,000 7T

EEhESITHA B
UEheaHMNa%ES
(#)

MisE : (48)

(9] BN ERES
FARBHFHNNALLEERE=S
(202145 %) EF-EFENH
et BEINN EX AN EEHRTHE
(20215 —%) BIFEBHIEERA
AREITHRABNEREHMESNH

BB -
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTF T ARBFTT
661 509
60 44
721 553

HIEULTHEANESHINES
CFEEKRFRSTHAR) WHE
LI

Number of employees

BEHR
2022 2021
20225 20214
2 1
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INCOME TAX

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the BVI, the Group was not subject to any income tax in
the Cayman Islands and the BVI during the two years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, the payers
shall pay a 10% withholding tax levied on the income derived
from Mainland China on behalf of non-resident enterprises.
Therefore, the Company was subject to withholding tax rate
of 10% over the guarantee fee of RMB4,453,000 (2021: Nil)
during the year ended 31 December 2022 (note 5).

The provision for the PRC CIT is based on the respective PRC CIT
rates applicable to the subsidiaries located in Mainland China as
determined in accordance with the relevant income tax rules and
regulations of Mainland China for the year.

All subsidiaries domiciled in the PRC (the “PRC subsidiaries”)
were subject to the PRC CIT rate of 25% during the year ended
31 December 2022, except for a certain subsidiary in the PRC
which is qualified as Small Low-profit Enterprise and thus
entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 20%.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations in Singapore,
the Group's subsidiary located in Singapore is liable to Singapore
corporate income tax at a rate of 17% on the assessable profits
generated for the year.

The major components of income tax charge are as follows:

BIHER —#7 Ik

Current — Singapore

Charge for the year FAZH
Current — Mainland China BPHR— AR B P 3t
Charge for the year FARZH

Deferred (note 17) EIE (FYsE17)

FAMIEA HBER

Total tax charge for the year

Notes to the Financial Statements

R E e

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

FRig#i
REHENEREBEZHENHRNK
R REBMAEFHE2022F 52021512
B3HIEMEFENEBHANHEESHS
MEBRELEEER

RIEPEPEFRAR/RE TRABRE
FEREEHCMEKBEFREARMBIBA
FRWeB910% B30 o ALt > KA B
HZE2022F 12831 HIEFEEEZ10%H
MEMRIERE ARTES,453,0007T (2021
£ ) BmmEinm (isEs) o

MABEEEMSRIFHNBEREDRRE
FEPEAMBEBFRERERR KR
B> BB AR R E A F 2B BE R
PEIEEMFNMEEE -

FREHREEMFRE (MHREFREL) &
HE2022F12831HIEFERBE25%
HARECEMBRAEMNR  EPREE
RYRBIFENHEEER AMER
20% BB EBFISIRE

BB IR PSRRI R AR > A&
B (LRI B F AR R EANEER
FEERTRF B 217 % BIFR = By 0 3% £
SRR

PRISMHB EE2MEMMBOWT ¢

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR¥F T
6 5

1,616 2,020
2,858 2,616
4,480 4,641

2022 E8 | PENKHEELERAT 183



Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R FR B 5

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

184

INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax charge applicable to profit before tax
at the applicable tax rate for the companies within the Group to
the tax charge at the effective tax rate is as follows:

Profit before tax from continuing  IFE&K&EEFKRATHE
operations

Profit before tax from discontinued
operations

BRIEEEEBRAF

Tax at the respective statutory tax

rates:

— Mainland China subsidiaries, at ~ —FEIRMF AT
25% 25%

— Australia subsidiaries, at 30% UIFRE]30%

— the Company and its Hong Kong K NBIREER
subsidiaries, at 16.5% FRE16.5%

— MR F AT 17%
E R RA IR M BRI X

— Singapore subsidiary, at 17%
Lower tax rates enacted by local
authorities

Expenses not deductible for tax CIEL 2

Tax effect of tax losses not REERRIEEIEN
recognised MBEE

Reversal of deferred tax assets BENBEFERIN
recognised in the prior years FIEFRIBE &

Tax effect of deductible temporary REER AR ERZEEN
differences not recognised M2

Income not subject to tax EIBFRRIA

Adjustments in respect of
current tax of previous periods
Tax losses utilised from the prior year &) 8

BIEFEFEEMNRIEEE

BREEEBERREFAERN
MIAS H

Tax charge at the Group's effective
tax rate

BRERRERABNFELE
e A

Tax charge from continuing
operations at the effective tax rate

Note:

(a) Expenses not deductible for tax for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 mainly consist of administrative
expenses incurred by offshore companies. These expenses are
not expected to be deductible for tax.

RIAREEREFA TR

FBEHAE AR BRI AE

Note
B &5

(a)

FRi31% &
248 P 1S A £ B T2 B BT B U TR 4
BAMESENREAS HRREERRE

AENRELZHEROT

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AEREFT
5,518 5,623

= 6,616

5,518 12,239
2,078 2,699
= (1,232)

(476) 924
15 (8

(337) -

1,521 3,619

389 1,312

1,309 2,051
= (951)
- (1,769)

(19) -
= (2,004)
4,480 4,641
4,480 4,641
B 3%

(a) HE2022F K%2021412831H 1lE4F
ENAIREZ T EGE#FERE
EEXENTHEBEZ ItEMZEHAT
0 -
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10.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Mancala Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (together as
the "Disposal Group”) were mainly engaged in specialised
mining services in Australia which were disposed of on 31 July
2021 (the "Disposal”). With the completion of the Disposal,
the gain on disposal of the discontinued operations and the
related income tax are presented in the profit or loss from the
discontinued operations.

As a result of loss of management control upon completion of
the Disposal on 31 July 2021, the Group was unable to govern
or exercise control over the Disposal Group's financial and
operating policies. Accordingly, the unaudited management
accounts of the Disposal Group for the period from 1 January
2021 to the date of the Disposal were used to prepare the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The results of the discontinued operations for the period from 1
January 2021 to the date of the Disposal are presented below:

REVENUE A

Cost of sales HE MR

Gross profit EF

Other income and gain HAWA e Wz
Administrative expenses THRX

Other expenses HhBasz
Finance costs B R A

Loss before tax from the discontinued operations B 4% IF €8 & 2350 B 518

Gain on disposal of the discontinued operations H & B4 IEEEEHHI G

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD FROM THE
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Notes to the Financial Statements

10.

BRIEEEXEZANFTIHE

5 e R M 5T
Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

BARIEREER
Mancala Holdings Limited & EF A5 (4
BIPEERE) TER RN SR XK
BB BEF2021F7831HHE (HES
JH)) o MERERERR HEBKIEL
EEBNK G RERERINERLE
S EENBE 25 o

AR E2021F7A3MBHEEBERREZ
KEEEEFR WMAEBRELIRER
EHIHEER B REERE -RFIt
RENUAEENGESVBRRE BF
BHEERR2021F1B1BEREEE
HEREN AR EZEERE -

ERIMEESEFR2021F1B1HEHE
FEHOHEBMNEEZNNOT

Period from

1 January 2021

to 31 July 2021

2021 FE1B1HE
2021478318

HAME

Note RMB'000
M &E AREFT
(unaudited)

(R EZ)

41,465
(34,600)

6,865
1,596
(12,693)

561
(436)

(4,107)

31 10,723

6,616
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Bf 75 ek R MY EE
Year ended 31 December 2022
HWE202F12831HLEEE
10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 10. ERLEKEEXEH @
The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Disposal Group HEEBMR2021F7A3THNETEEE
as at 31 July 2021 are as follows: REEERNT
31 July 2021
2021F7H31H
Note RMB'000
B 5 ARMF T
(unaudited)
(RE&EZ)
ASSETS BE
Property, plant and equipment MEREREE 21,824
Right-of-use assets FREESE 1,078
Inventories 78 11,639
Trade receivables FEUBR R 5,113
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets FE{SFIE s EMIEWRIBREMEE 3,611
Contract assets BNEE 1,911
Cash and cash equivalents HERREEEY 3,598
Assets classified as held for sale DEAFHEHENEE 16,415
Assets of the Disposal Group DEAREFHENLEERENEE
classified as held for sale 65,189
LIABILITIES =R E
Trade payables FE{TERER 13,871
Other payables and accruals H A E (I TIB & FEET RIE 36,067
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FRERITRAMEES 15,663
Due to related parties /& 1 A1 Bt 75 SR8 8,991
Lease liability HEERE 858
Liabilities directly associated with the assets HAEAFEHENES EE BN
classified as held for sale =K 75,450
Net liabilities directly associated with the HHEEEEREMNZEE
Disposal Group (10,261)
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10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

The net cash flows incurred by the Disposal Group for the period

from 1 January 2021 to the date of the Disposal are as follows:

Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

Net cash outflow

Earnings per share:
Basic and diluted, from the discontinued operations

Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R Z< Bt 5

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

10 Elll‘\ :%é(é%¥§k (nﬁ
HEEER2021F1B1BHEHESEH
MR EENIRES MEFRAWN T :

Period from

1 January 2021

to 31 July 2021

2021F1B1HE
2021478318

HA RS

RMB'000

ABEFT

(unaudited)

(CREEEIZ)

REEE) (7,715)

KREEH (1,228)

METE (1,987)

HBEmE F5 (10,930)
Hyﬁbﬂ

EAREE REERIEREER RMBA R #&

0.0037¢C

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share from the

discontinued operations are based on:

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent from the discontinued operations

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
the basic and diluted earnings per share calculation
(note 27)

STHERIEEERESREARBER
FETHLUTYREEBER !

2021
20214
(unaudited)
(REEEZ)

BERSATZBERREREAN RMBA R &

21k

S—E$ -5 b 7,397,0007T

AR EESREAREERNB
E@RMETII# (WaE27)

2,249,015,410
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Year ended 31 December 2022

HZE2022F12831HIEEE
11. DIVIDEND 1. kB2
During meeting of the board of directors held on 29 March R2023F3B829HBTTHNESTE & L
2023, the directors did not recommend a final dividend for the EEAEZIRCEZE20225F12831H 1
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil). FENRARKE (2021F 1 M) o
12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 12. BEBRAATREERRKRE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE FEANSKREF
COMPANY
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the BREABAIDEREBENRARAER
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the RERE ANFERFBREE2022
Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares F12A3MBLEHFERBETEBERMN
of 2,249,015,410 (2021: 2,249,015,410) in issue during the W ¥9802,249,015,41008 (20214 :
year ended 31 December 2022. 2,249,015,4108%) 5t &
No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share HRE#EE20225F K2021512H318 1k
amounts presented for the years ended 31 December 2022 FE>ARREERITENRDEAENT
and 2021 in respect of a dilution as the exercise prices of the FEERARARKRMANFHME BT
Company's outstanding share options were higher than the ERMAFERBTFFEZINESRRKRNG
average market prices for the Company’'s shares during the BEARBN SEFE LA HRE
current and prior years.
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ME-BERHKME
Construction
Plant and Office Mining in progress
Buildings machinery equipment  Motor vehicles infrastructure (“CIP”) Total
¥ BERES WAERE REER FREE TEIR ait
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB!000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT AEBTR AEBTR AEBTR AEBTR AEBTT AEBTR
31 December 2022 20224128318
Cost: 2
At 1 January 2022 120251818 41,412 33,103 634 1,546 139,886 56,177 272,758
Additions (note 4) RE (M) 55 339 54 - 1,296 34,557 36,301
Transferred from CIP BRERIR 2,767 2,741 - - 1,150 (6,658) -
Disposals HE - (732) (12) - - = (744)
At 31 December 2022 20225128318 ﬂ ﬂ _676 ﬂ ﬂ ﬂ %
Accumulated depreciation and RHERAE:
impairment:
At 1 January 2022 R202E1518 23,959 19,558 482 1,157 59,825 1488 106,469
Provided for the year (note 7) FREE (HE7) 1,499 1,198 24 108 5,506 - 8,335
Disposals HE - (549) (1) (97) - - (657)
At 31 December 2022 72022128318 25,458 20,207 495 1,168 65,331 1,488 114,147
Net carrying amount: REFH:
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1818 ﬂ ﬂ _152 _389 ﬂ ﬂ ﬂ
At 31 December 2022 12022E128318 18,776 15,244 181 378 77,001 82,588 194,168
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13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

31 December 2021

Cost:

At 1 January 2021

Additions from continuing operations
(note 4)

Transferred from CIP

Disposals

At 31 December 2021

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment:

At 1 January 2021

Provided for the year from continuing
operations (note 7)

Disposals

At 31 December 2021

Net carrying amount:
At 1 January 2021

At 31 December 2021

20215128318

A
1202151818
BEMEEHRE

(GEZ)
BEHEETR
HE

20215128318

FitERAG:

#2021E1818

ERGHRENFELEEH
BB (Ms7)

HE

20215128318

RESE .
202151818

20215128318

Notes to the Financial Statements

R E e

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

g = =
13. ME-BERSZE @
Plant and Office Mining

Buildings machinery equipment  Motor vehicles  infrastructure cP Total
BF BEREE BAZRE HHEH REREE TRIR s
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANRETT ANEETT ANEETTT AEBFT AEBF NSO AEBFT
40,439 31,184 613 2,403 139,871 42,958 257,468
339 581 21 345 15 16,965 18,266
634 3,112 - - - (3,746) -
- (1,774) - (1,202) - - (2,976)
41,412 33,103 634 1,546 139,886 56,177 272,758
22,376 19,728 427 2,196 55,822 1,488 102,037
1,583 1,413 55 97 4,003 - 7,151
- (1,583) - (1,136) - - 2,719
23,959 19,558 432 1,157 59,825 1,488 106,469
18,063 11,456 186 207 84,049 41,470 155,431
17,453 13,545 152 389 80,061 54,689 166,289

The Group measured all non-financial assets (including the right-
of-use assets) at the lower of its carrying amount and VIU. In
accordance with the Group’s accounting policies, each asset
or CGU is evaluated annually at 31 December or biannually
at 30 June to determine whether there are any indications of

impairment. If any such indications of impairment exist, a formal

estimate of the recoverable amount is made.

AEERESHEE (BIEEEEER)
MIRmESHEAFHEE UREESE)
STEMARSEE-AEEARRBE D
BEEER12BA31BXEFEN6830
A AR EESRSEEEMN  UETE
EEEXMARENR HHREMAAER
BEFSR AERIER e SEEE 5o
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R FR B 5

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

13.

190

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

In assessing whether an impairment is required, the carrying
value of the asset or CGU is compared with its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the CGU’s fair
value less costs of disposal and VIU. Management has performed
impairment assessment on all of the carrying amounts of the
Group's property, plant and equipment, intangible assets,
right-of-use assets and prepaid road use payments. For the
purpose of impairment assessment, the High-Fe Mining CGU
(comprising the property, plant and equipment, the intangible
assets, prepaid road use payments, and the right-of-use assets
of Aba Mining) and the Shigou Gypsum Mine CGU (comprising
the property, plant and equipment, and the intangible assets)
are treated as separate CGU. The recoverable amount of High-
Fe Mining CGU and Shigou Gypsum Mine CGU were estimated
based on its VIU determined by discounting the future cash
flows to be generated from the continuing use of these
assets. The recoverable amounts are determined based on the
calculation using cash flow projections according to financial
budgets covering periods ranging from 1 to 3 years approved
by management with pre-tax discount rates ranging between
13.26% and 13.75% (31 December 2021: 13.26% and
16.39%) depending on the nature of the CGU. The cash flows
beyond the periods ranging from 1 to 3 years are extrapolated
using a zero-growth rate until the end of the respective asset
useful lives.

Other key assumptions used in the estimation of VIU are as
follows:

Resources — These represent one of the key factors the
management has considered during the impairment testing,
which comprise resources (measured, indicated and inferred)
estimated, on the basis of appropriate geological evidence and
sampling, with reference to the resources statements prepared
by appropriate competent persons.

13.

ME BB RsE @

RFEET B RER  AEETLL
BREERRSESSMANREmERTW
Ol WO SEARSEFEMN
AFEREERAEFEREBERS IR
SE - TEBOHALEEVE BMERR
B EBREE - FREEEURBNER
FRHENFERESEETRET G-
ATGHRE SRUERESRSELE
L (BIEFIREENYE BB KRR B
EREE - BNEREAEURERRE
EE) MAEAERRESESEMN (B
ME - BERREURELEE) WR5
BYNRSESLBUEE s RUBE
SRSELFEURAAEOERESESE
Bupa ke sEENHEFERER (B
BRRFEFRILESEEMEENRK
HERBEE) Gt TRE BN AR
BEEEENNFI1E3EHYBRES
ETHRSHERN URATAEIRENF
13.26%%13.75% (2021£128318 :
13.26%E16.39%) (BURNIREELEE
MIBME) A8 - NP1 E3EHENRS
TRASREREE BEEEMEEN
Al fE A ERRAA R AL

L ERAEBERERANEMIZRERN
T

BERE-THEERNBENAKEZ R
WRARRRZ — BRESEZEESER
ALFIRENERERK  ENEEH
BRERREEMEENEAERE R
B ~ S R HEER) ©
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13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Commodity prices — Forecast commodity prices are based on
management’s estimates and are derived from forward price
curves and long-term views of domestic supply and demand,
building on past experience of the industry and consistent
with external sources. These prices were adjusted to arrive
at appropriate consistent price assumptions for the different
qualities and type of commodities,
contracted prices were applied. These prices are reviewed at
least annually.

or, where appropriate,

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margin achieved in the recent years for High-Fe Mining CGU
and Shigou Gypsum Mine CGU, adjusted for management’s
expectations for possible changes in the production costs and
estimated market prices.

Production volumes — Estimated production volumes are
based on the detailed life of mine plans and take into account
development plans of the mine agreed by management as part
of the long-term planning process.

Discount rate — The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the relevant units.

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with
external information sources.

Based on the above-mentioned impairment assessment, the
recoverable amounts are higher than the carrying amounts of
the non-financial assets of High-Fe Mining CGU and Shigou
Gypsum Mine CGU as at 31 December 2022, respectively, and
no provision for impairment was provided during the year ended
31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

Notes to the Financial Statements

13.

5 e R M 5T
Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

ME- B ERRE @

BB -BABERERNEEREE
BB ETECRFENME LUER
EXHERHEAEBENRERAE
o BEPRER - -ZEBEEIFR
B URAREEREENERNGE
Eaﬁ‘ﬁ—xﬁlﬁ’ﬂaﬁﬁ RAETEEBRTE
JTHEBE - ZFEEBERELSFRE -

HEEFE-BAREEMTREENX
WEENEESSmUBREREEE
BUkABOSBEREELRULFE
FMTFHENX IR EEEHEER
KI5t BRI A SEE BRI TR (F 5

o

EZ-hEtEERENESFINARE
FH UTEEEERBNRAREBRESD
EENESE RS -

Af

<

HHEFE-PRERANMRERRNGRE
I R A B B AR RS E R

BT ETERR
Ho

=AY EE SN E R R —

BER PR ES G & RUEESERE
EfXBUnAEAERREELESBMN
JEEREBEEN2022FE12A31BN I
ElzEERIREEEE  FILREZE2022
FE12831HIEFE R EEH R E R E
(20214 : )
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R FR B 5

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 14. BEE
Exploration
Mining rights and

rights assets Software Total

RiEtE BREREE LGS =E

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AREBTR ARBTR ARETR

31 December 2022 2022F12H31H

Cost: 7% NN

At 1 January 2022 $202261818 800,295 65,991 - 866,286
Additions wnE - - 237 237
At 31 December 2022 12022F12831H 800,295 65,991 237 866,523

Accumulated amortisation and Bt ERORE

impairment:
At 1 January 2022 12202281818 131,265 - - 131,265
Amortisation provided during the year P sHIR AV B

(note 7) (P5E7) 845 - 12 857
At 31 December 2022 12202256128 31H 132,110 - 12 132,122
Net carrying amount: IREREE
At 1 January 2022 12202218 1H 669,030 65,991 - 735,021
At 31 December 2022 $22022%12831H 668,185 65,991 225 734,401
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14.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

31 December 2021

Cost:
At 1 January and
31 December 2021

Accumulated amortisation and
impairment:

At 1 January 2021

Amortisation provided during the
year (note 7)

At 31 December 2021

Net carrying amount:
At 1 January 2021

At 31 December 2021

2021%12H31H

B

R2021E1B1HKR12831H

REtBH KRR (E

®2021F181H

FRsHRERNEHBERE (F5E7)

72021F12831H

BRTEREE -
R2021FE181H

72021FE12831H

As at 31 December 2022, the mining rights of Maoling Mine
with a net carrying amount of RMB18,477,000 (31 December
2021: RMB19,321,000) were pledged to secure the Group's

bank loans (note 25(a)).

Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R Z< Bt 5

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

14. EXEE ®

Exploration

Mining rights and
rights assets Total
wEE HREREE ast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT AREBTT ARBTT

800,295 65,991 866,286
130,683 - 130,683

582 - 582
131,265 - 131,265
669,612 65,991 735,603
669,030 65,991 735,021

120225128318 REFEA AR
18,477,0007% (2021€E12831H 1 AR
#%19,321,0007T) WEEEBREECDE
Bif FAREERTERNER (W
25(a)) ©
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R FR B 5

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

15. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for office premises and various
items of plant and machinery used in its operations. During the
reporting period, the Group entered into certain long-term lease
contracts for items of plant and machinery. Leases of office
premises have lease term within 2 years. Leases of plant and
machinery generally have lease term between 1 and 20 years.
Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing
the leased assets outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets
and the movements during the year are as follows:

As at 1 January 2022

Additions

Exchange realignment

Depreciation charge
(note 7)

As at 31 December 2022

As at 1 January 2021

Lease modification

Lease termination

Exchange realignment

Depreciation charged in
continuing operations
(note 7)

As at 31 December 2021

1202261816
NE

BE 52 AR
MEZH (M5E7)

7120224 12831H

2021F181H

HEEX

fE&IE

FE R AT

BN ELSE X2
e (fsE7)

720215128318

15. #HE
FEBRESEEA
REFEMEBBZERRIEYEURK
FRAMERKBEETLHEERHN N
RERAN > NEEDEE RHBEES]
YETRAEEGN -MRAEMERES
BIFRER A2 7 o B 5 Ko 1 23 AE B B9 FE R
—RRBIE20F c—MRME > REERH
WIHEEEBBERDE T AEELUIA
j:o
(@) RABEE
AEEGEARESENRETHERK
ERBEHNT :
Office Plant and
premises machinery Total
MaEmE & 55 Re 14 23 AaF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
14 1,018 1,032
- 23,405 23,405
25 - 25
(31) (1,336) (1,367)
8 23,087 23,095
Office Plant and
premises machinery Total
WAEYME % B e 1 25 CE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREF T AREFTT AR®F T
572 6,337 6,909
- (4,196) (4,196)
(153) - (153)
(25) - (25)
(380) (1,123) (1,503)
14 1,018 1,032
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15. LEASES (continued) 15.

Notes to the Financial Statements

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

Carrying amount at 1 January F1ATHNREEREE

New lease (note 32(b)) MHEE (H5E32(b)

Accretion of interest recognised R HEBESFIE (fi5E6)
during the year (note 6)

Lease modification HEEN
Lease termination HE&IE
Payments g

Carrying amount at 31 December 71283 1HMRE &8

Analysed into: PRI
Current portion TRENER
Non-current portion JEmENELR 3

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 38 to financial statements.

SRR MIEE
Year ended 31 December 2022
HE2022F 128310 IEEE

HE @

TEBERAABEAN @

(b)) HEEE
HESENRETERFERNED
wr

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AE®BFT
2,705 7,263
23,405 -
662 198

- (4,196)

- (137)
(2,034) (423)
24,738 2,705
4,645 2,305
20,093 400

HEE B R D TR

HRARMIE38MEE
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195



Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R FR B 5

Year ended 31 December 2022

HWE202F12831HLEEE
15. LEASES (Continued) 15. #HE @
The Group as a lessee (Continued) TEBEREREAN @
()  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) MEEREREINERUT !

leases are as follows:

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREBTT
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6) FAE&BWH S (Mfzt6) 662 198
Depreciation charge of FRAREENTESZH
right-of-use assets 1,367 1,503
Losses relating to FAERIENEE
lease termination - 16
Expense relating to short-term HIGHEEBRMNMAS
leases (included in GtATTEREZ)
administrative expenses) (F5E7 ~ 32(c))
(note 7, note 32(c)) 263 99
Total amount recognised RIBR SR RVARER
in profit or loss 2,292 1,816
(d)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note (d) MHENRESRHBBENEERE
32(c) to financial statements. Mi5E32(c)IM EE ©
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16.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

OTHER ASSETS

Current portion:

Prepayments consisting of:
Purchase of raw materials
Utilities
Prepayment for the maintenance

of a road

Other prepayments

Other receivables consisting of:
Deductible value-added tax input
Other receivables

Impairment allowance

Non-current portion:

Prepayment for the maintenance
of a road

Long-term deposit

BB

A RIEEE ¢
BERME
DR
B ETBIB

HihAa A
Hih e eds

FIRETRIE BT
HAh Y RIA

BERIE

FERENEE S -
B ETAN IR

RYRE

Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R Z< Bt 5

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

16. FE{ITRIE - HthEURRIE K
Hth&EE

3

2022 2021

20224 20214

Note RMB'000 RMB'000
B 5 AR®ETT AEB®FT
237 120

175 191

47 47

1,304 1,254

1,117 1,122

3,512 2,303

6,392 5,037

(a) (606) (604)

5,786 4,433

434 484

2 402

436 886

6,222 5,319
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R FR B 5

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

16. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS (continued)

Note:

(a) The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets are as follows:

At beginning of year REH]
Impairment loss (note 7) HEEE (sE7)
At end of year REL

Where applicable, impairment analysis is performed at each
reporting date by considering expected credit losses, which are
estimated by applying a loss rate approach with reference to the
historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to
reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions, as appropriate. The loss rate applied as at 31
December 2022 ranged from 0.0% to 100.0% (31 December
2021: 0.0% to 100.0%).

16. FE{IFRIE- HthFEEYFRIE R
HtEE @

M 5E

(a) STOTR AT FRIE ~ EL A YRR IR Ko EL A
EENSRMEENREBEEREZED

mE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AREEFT
604 604
2 -
606 604

THEABERT AEEGRERER
HEBE RBRERBIETRESD
o mBREEBAT2RBRAEEN
ESL Bt E A IB RS AT
AEEBGRABHEX URMREF
R B 2R AR A B AR R B FEOR) (W
) °1R20224128318  FREANIE
BENF0.0%ZE100.0% (2021412
H31H 1 0.0%%E100.0%) °
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17. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as

Notes to the Financial Statements

5 e R M 5T
Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

EIERIA
BIERAEERERBEDMT :

follows:
Losses
available for Excess tax
offsetting  depreciation
against over book Provision
taxable value of for Provision for
profits  fixed assets rehabilitation  impairment Others Total
EEEEN
AT 3 REHE
R BHREE
FIEMNER MELE ERREE AERE Hith A
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTR ARBTR AE%®TR ARBFR AR®Tx AEETR
At 1 January 2021 20211818 5,780 5,301 679 2,235 829 14,824
Deferred tax credited/ FREBRAR/
(charged) to profit or loss (108R) MEETRIE
during the year (note 9) (f5%9) (2,491) (430) 352 (33) (14) (2,616)
Deferred tax assets at 202151283188
31 December 2021 BEREEE 3,289 4,871 1,031 2,202 815 12,208
At 1 January 2022 120221818 3,289 4,871 1,031 2,202 815 12,208
Deferred tax credited/ ERERBEAR/
(charged) to profit or loss (inks) BYIRER IR
during the year (note 9) (MzE9) (1,180) (456) (146) (1,163) 87 (2,858)
Deferred tax assets at #2022 1283181
31 December 2022 BEREEE 2,109 4,415 885 1,039 902 9,350

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has tax losses arising
from Mainland China of RMB411,328,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB421,520,000) that would expire in one to five years and
other deductible temporary differences of RMB144,393,000
(31 December 2021: RMB151,105,000) that were available for
offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have
not been recognised in respect of these losses and deductible
temporary differences as it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which they can be
utilised.

1R2022%F 128310 AEBEREEYHEH
A BN —ERAFERINPNRIBEEIE
AR M411,328,0007¢ (2021412831
H: AR%421,520,00070) K EthET30
T R EEE AR 15144,393,0007T (2021
F£128318 : AE¥151,105,0007T) * 8]
LUK AR RERRAIE e AN AEE
RATKAEBERRAE A B LUK
R 18 518 Ko v] 30080 8 BRF &= 28 > o Mk
LiEE B R N R P A R R SRR IR
HEE-
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R FR B 5

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

17.

18.

200

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax assets related to the PRC subsidiaries have been
provided at the enacted corporate income tax rate of 25%.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of the PRC, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement has been effective from
1 January 2008 and applied to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is
a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of
the foreign investors. The withholding tax rate for the Group is
10%.

As at 31 December 2022, no deferred tax liability has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’'s subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the Directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future.

INVENTORIES

Raw materials R

Spare parts and consumables BEBEIRHOHFE R
Finished goods X o

Costs to fulfil contracts BITE A
Provision for inventories FEBE

17.

18.

IRIETRIE (@)
HOEFAREMNEEREEEDR
25% B4 B AEfE > TSI 12 o

RIEREIARAPTSIRBIRA RG> B
BIRFERREAMMIIAIEREFRA
SNEIREE B B EU10%RITEIIR
ZHRE B H2008F 1B 1HEBERN 1B
2007 F 12831 BENET] - & T
B P B SN B 4 BB PR 1L B A EE 2
FEMBHBE LT ERRETED
ME-HAEEMES > AHAMNER10% o

R2022F12831H  AERKLHEA
AR 3L B9 F A Bl BB AN TR AR Y R BE R
BAMsS MEEIRAZSEMSENR
BREMNELERBEG EERE ZE
FRBEAFAKATERRERDIRZER
Ho

578
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETF T AR¥ETF T
8,152 5,569
3,046 2,447
1,593 3,911
835 -
13,626 11,927
- (27)
13,626 11,900
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19.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

FE U BR X
E

Trade receivables
Impairment

FEUWER TR - EFHFRBE
S

Trade receivables, net of impairment
Bills receivable

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit. During the year, the Group granted credit terms ranging
from one months to three months (2021: two months to six
months) to its customers for the sale of self-produced products,
a credit term of four months (2021: six months) to its trading
customers and a credit term of one month to its facility
management customers. Trade receivables are non-interest-
bearing and unsecured.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of each
reporting period, based on the date of revenue recognised and
net of loss allowance, is as follows:

Within 3 months 3EAA
3 to 6 months 3E6@A
Over 5 years HBIB5F

Notes to the Financial Statements

5 e R M 5T
Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE
=+
e WL BR 7R B R &
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFT
207,253 208,279
(2,674) (7,204)
204,579 201,075
2,696 2,580
207,275 203,655

AEEBEERNEZ KA EEARER
R FR AEBATEEERBENE
BP—ZE=@A (2021F : MEEAR) &Y
ERPC HTESEANMES (20214 :
NER) NERE ATFRESERS
—ERMNER - ERERATTER
FEIE R o

REREHFR > BUERR (BNREIEA
) ERRARES B BRRNREDTNT ¢

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®EF T
200,049 137,059

= 64,016

4,530 =
204,579 201,075
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Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

19.

202

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

PER]
HERERD (W5E7)

At beginning of year
Reversal of impairment losses (note 7)

At end of year RE#

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e.,
by customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past
due and are not subject to enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2022

EHEREBERR
REMBER AREBTT)
RHERER AREBTT)

Expected credit loss rate
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)
Expected credit losses (RMB'000)

19.

200,049

FEWERF R EE @)
FIE Ut B 20585 5 B 48 A A B 8 F

2022
20224
RMB'000
AR¥Tx

2021
20214
RMB'000
ARMF T

7,204
(4,530)

11,334
(4,130)

2,674 7,204

REBRSHH ~ERFNBEFHERES
BEMAERAER LUETRED T &
BEDERZEERELUGEEANE
FoEbAa Rl (BN R 485 K sT 4R 8 )
B B K B E o 5t B 75 A R R E
RERKNRBEARITESARBRES
B AT AR T B B R AR AL R e B TR
WEEMAERXRERN - —RME
P ST BR R 4 28 A e A 2 SR Rl A AT OB D T
MR RIS o

TXHEIF BEERERSHAERER
RPEHNEERBRNER !

$£20225%12H31H

Total
st

Past due

BHR

Current

BPHR

- 37.1%
7,204
- 2,674

1.3%
207,253
2,674
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19.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)
As at 31 December 2021

Expected credit loss rate FEEA(ES HiB L X
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) BRE42%E (AR ¥ T o)
Expected credit losses (RMB'000)  FEHAE AL (AR F 1)

Transferred financial assets that are
derecognised in their entirety

As at 31 December 2022, the Group endorsed certain bills
receivable accepted by banks in the PRC to certain of its
suppliers in order to settle the trade payables to these suppliers
with a carrying amount in aggregate of RMB5,326,000
(31 December 2021: RMB44,440,000) (referred to as the
"Derecognised Bills”). The Derecognised Bills have a maturity
term from one to six months at the end of the reporting
period. In accordance with the Law of Negotiable Instruments
in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills have a right
of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks default (the
“Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the Directors, the
Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards relating
to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has derecognised
the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised Bills and the
associated advances on discounting and trade payables. The
maximum exposure to loss from the Group's Continuing
Involvement in the Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash
flows to repurchase these Derecognised Bills is equal to their
face amounts. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values of
the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills
are not significant.

No gains or losses were recognised from the Continuing
Involvement, both during the year and cumulatively. The
endorsement of bills receivable has been made evenly
throughout the year.

Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R Z< Bt 5

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

19. BKEIRFAKREE ®

20214128318

Current Past due Total
BN HA % H 485

- 100% 3.5%

201,075 7,204 208,279

- 7,204 7,204

BIEAILIBINEEESA
BE
2022128310 A& BB & THE
AR PENIETEMANE TRERRE
¥ LUSEREEEEA AR S5,326,000
76 (20215128318 1 AR #44,440,000
70) B s SR Em AR (4R IR E
B o RBERR RIEEIERASH—
ZERNEA B APEERE P ERIER
TEL AIRIEERZRFTEABRED
REBREES ((FEM%E2H)) - EF
RE AEBEBRLEBEREENEKX
B0 B B B B 3R 88 7% - (A It B B &R
HRIEFES R R AR IR B BT AR
MW EAREERE o AN B R H AL LR
REENFEN2ERABLRZERIE
REFRPARERIBESRAMAZIBEN
REREBESNEmB-EERNA A&
EHA TEIAEENFEE2EN AT
ERKe

MERSET2ERIFTFRAR RS W
HER - BRERBEORINBEFES
st e -
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20.

204

BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES

Due from a related party:
Trade receivables
— Huili County Caitong Iron and
Titanium Co., Ltd. (“Huili
Caitong”)

— Huili Xiushuihe Mining Co., Ltd.

(“Xiushuihe Mining”)

Non-trade in nature
— Huili Caitong

Due to related parties:
Non-trade in nature
— Sichuan Chuanwei Group Co.,
Ltd. ("Chuan Wei")
— Trisonic International
— Huili Caitong

Dividend payable
— Huili Caitong

Analysed into:
Current portion
Non-current portion

FEW — 52 BB 5 700
FE WL AR =X
—ZIBBA A B
BREERE
(TEIBEIE))
— IR FH AR
BREATE
(B ACAREZED)

JFEHZME
—GERBE

FET R 5 7R -
FEZME
—mNg)EER
BR2E (NE)
—GRIERE
—2BHBE

R 2
—EIRHB

DA
mEhE o
IEREI D

20.

Notes

Bt 5

(a)

(b)

(o]

(d)
(e)
)

(9)

o,

B R Bk 75 RO 45 BR
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT ARETFTT
679 8,929
360 -
31 799
1,070 9,728
2,173 1,996
1,447 3,393
2,285 -
= 7,680
5,905 13,069
5,905 5,389
= 7,680
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20.

BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES

(Continued)
Notes:
(a) The balance due from Huili Caitong as at 31 December 2022

(d)

represented trade receivables from the rendering of facility
management services provided by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2022, while the balance as at 31 December
2021 represented trade receivables on the rendering of
consultancy services provided by the Group.

The balance due from Xiushuihe Mining as at 31 December
2022 represented trade receivables from the rendering of facility
management service provided by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

The balance due from Huili Caitong as at 31 December 2022
represented non-trade receivables on staff remuneration paid
by the Group on behalf of Huili Caitong during the year ended
31 December 2022, which was interest-free and collectible on
demand, while the balance as at 31 December 2021 represented
the advances granted to Huili Caitong, which was interest-free
and collectible on demand.

Chuan Wei is ultimately controlled by the same beneficial
owners of the Company. The balances due to Chuan Wei
as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 mainly comprised staff
remuneration paid by Chuan Wei on behalf of Sichuan Lingyu
and Aba Mining.

The balance due to Trisonic International as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 mainly represented an interest-free loan granted
by Trisonic International, which was repayable on demand.

The balance due to Huili Caitong as at 31 December 2022
represented payment for goods purchased paid by Huili Caitong
on behalf of Akuang Trading.

Dividend payable as at 31 December 2021 represented dividend
proposed and declared by Akuang Trading to Huli Caitong
before the completion of the disposal of Huili Caitong and offset
against the balances due from Huili Caitong during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

20.

Notes to the Financial Statements

Mk -

(a)

(d)

R E e

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

EA BRI B 5 BV &S B (@)

22022512831 HEW G IBR B4R
IEAREBEREE2022412831HILEE
ERHSEEERBEVEWIRR > ™
2021512831 HWNAERRIIEAER
RSB IR B U AR ©

1202212 831 HFEWSS KBS
BRIERREENEHE202261283181E
FEERHERMEEREIEIRER

2022512831 HEW G IER B4R
IEREBMPEZE20225128318 1k
FERRGEMBXMETHINAIE
BSREWHIE AR B0 R ERIK
B> MH20216 12831 A EREI4E
BYSBYENRED AR B A%
ZRURE]

NEBHEENAABDEREE ARK
el 0 1A2022FE 2021412831 HE
B4R E ZOIE)NRARD)IE
R Pl BB E S (TR B TH -

2022 K20214E12831HENG &
BIE AR = B S A ERIRMEA—
EREBEF BEEXREE

202212831 HIE(S R B B4 RR
EREMBERRMBESMEES
SR

R2021F 12831 BEG KR BIER TR
LESEMBRINEESNEIEHME
BEREIRNEE  REZE20225F12
B31B Lt FEARRIKHEER S IR
BAERR
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21.

206

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED DEPOSITS

Cash and bank balances RE& RIRTTAEER

Less: pledged time deposits for: BB TIEEERN

BHER:
Issue of bills payable BITHE(T 4%
Bank loans IRITEMR
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEY
Note:
(a) As at 31 December 2021, deposits amounting to

RMB10,000,000 were restricted to secure the Group's bank loan
granted by Shanghai Pudong Development Bank (note 25(a)).

The Group's cash and bank balances are denominated in RMB at
the end of each reporting period, except for the following:

Cash and bank balances T EEFENRER
denominated in: RITHERR -

HKD BT

usD ETT

SGD i T

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

21.

Note
M &5

(a)

RERREEEBYMUR
BERER
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AE®FT
9,383 16,462
26 26
= 10,000
26 10,026
9,357 6,436
BT

(a) R2021E12831H BAE AR
10,000,000t FRZ REIAE L&
HEERBITETEAEENRITEN
IR (F5E25(a)) ©

AEBMNREERRTEFREREHAR
MR EHE > T HIRRIERRS

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR T ARET T
84 473

30 31

631 590

ARBROIERRZBRAEMER 7AW
R IR B 50 BE B IR ARG R 45 BB ~ & BB X
NEEERE AEEERLEBBER
RETIHIEEBNRITHARBERIKBS

HthE-
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21.

22.

23.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED DEPOSITS (continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables of the Group as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date or
issuance date, where appropriate, is as follows:

Within 180 days 180K
181 to 365 days 181&365K
1 to 2 years 1225

2 to 3 years 2E3F
Over 3 years HBiE3F

Trade payables of the Group are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled within 180 days.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Short-term advances received from BEREFRIRN
customers
Sale of self-produced high-grade iron HEBESmUBEIEE
concentrates

The movement of contract liabilities in continuing operations
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 was mainly
due to the increase in short-term advances received from
customers in relation to the sale of self-produced high-grade
iron concentrate at the end of the year.

Notes to the Financial Statements

21.

22.

23.

R E e

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

RERREEEBYMUR
BEHER @
BRITREBXENREHBTERMESGH
RZEFI X B RITE G R BIHEMR
FEHR T EREOLSEEEETEN
fR17o

FEAFBRR

i SSER RS 3 VAl £8- 9 F
B #A 3¢t B B (0SB ) HORR S ) 474
o

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%TT AER®BFT
31,302 23,303
1,046 2,115

962 3,814

670 189

1,077 3,656
35,057 33,077

FEENEMERBTHE  BEIR180
RAMEH -

BHNERE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETF T AR¥EF T
8,216 6,166

HE20225 K2021F12831HIEFERF
BEREERNOHNABREHEERNE
R EEESRUBBRERELN
FEEAERIE N o
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B 75 R R Y 5E

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

23.

24,

208

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 23.

Changes in contract liabilities during the reporting periods are as

follows:

At 1 January

Revenue recognised that was included in
the contract liabilities at the beginning

R1B1H

SFAEVEGNEBERNEREEEA

of year
Increase due to cash received, excluding REEWIREMEN  FEEER
amounts recognised as revenue during AU A MIFRIE
the year
At 31 December ©12A31H
OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 24.
Current portion: BB
Payables related to: BN TFIEBE N RIE
Construction in progress EEITRE
Taxes other than income tax PRET1SFR MR IR
Exploration and evaluation assets RIEREEE
Payroll and welfare payable PEAS 5 & K B F
Consultancy and professional BHEREERBE
services fees
Deposits received BWHE
Accrued government surcharges & 5T BUR B 0 &
Accrued interest expenses FEFFIE R
Other payables H e I8

Non-current portion:
Other payables

FERENEE S -
H A& 7R
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%

\

BNERE @

AN
/i

VERERBRSHANZENT :

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®ETT AE®FT
6,166 2,277
(6,166) (2,277)
8,216 6,166
8,216 6,166

H fth & S mRIB K FE 5t "R 1A

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETF T
32,692 19,778
6,241 6,636
6,732 8,418
9,827 7,868
3,667 2,358
104 4
4,529 4,529
954 534
12,891 9,868
77,637 59,993
700 700
78,337 60,693




25.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS

Bank loans — Secured
Other borrowings — Unsecured

Analysed into:
Bank loans repayable:

Within one year
In the second year

Other borrowings repayable:

Within one year

Total bank and other borrowings
Balances classified as current
liabilities

Balances classified as non-current
liabilities

Bank loans
Other borrowings

RITER—ARRT
Hifg & — g7

DA
FER T IR 1E 2R
RITE -
—FRN
BTHF

R TR 1 B
EMEE
— R

RITRHEMBE R
DE/NBEENER

DERIFABEERER

RITEM
Hitfg &

Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R Z< Bt 5

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

25. FHRIRITREMEE

2022 2021

20225 20214

Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
B 5 AR%TT AR¥ETF T
(a) 74,612 79,612
(b) 16,496 12,580
91,108 92,192

74,612 5,000

- 74,612

74,612 79,612

16,496 12,580

91,108 92,192
(91,108) (17,580)

- 74,612

2022 2021

20224 20214

(Effective interest rate)
=y -/
4.35% 4.35%

4.00%-8.00% 6.50%-8.00%
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Year ended 31 December 2022

HE2022F 128310 IEFEE

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 25. STRIEITREMBEES @
BORROWINGS (continued)
Notes: F5E -
(a) As at 31 December 2022 the Group's bank loan of RMB74,612,000 (a) R2022F12A31H  ~"&EB AR

210

(31 December 2021: RMB79,612,000) are secured by:

(i) Mining rights of Maoling Mine with a net carrying
amount of RMB18,477,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB19,321,000) (note 14);

(i) 100% equity of Aba Mining held by Sichuan Lingyu; and

(iii) Bank deposits of Nil (31 December 2021: RMB10,000,000)
(note 21).

(b) The balance as at 31 December 2022 mainly consists of short- (b)
term loans granted by a third party to Aba Mining at the annual
interest rates ranging from 4.00% to 8.00% (31 December
2021: 6.50% to 8.00%). These loans were unsecured with
repayment terms ranging from one month to eight months (31
December 2021: five months to twelve months).
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74,612,0007¢ (2021128318 © A
R #79,612,0007T) FUIRTTERUT
FIIE B 1EIR IR

(i) EEEBONREE K@
FEAANRM18,477,0007T
(20215128310 : AR
19,321,00070) (FizE14) ;

(ii) T EE PR Pl B AR £ 100%
BeAER ; &

(iii) ARBEZ T (2021612831
B : AR#10,000,0007T) K9
RITER (FF5E21) ©

2022512831 HNE SR EEEIEH
—REZ M ERERHNEHE
o EMELHA00%ES.00% (2021
F12831H : 6.50%%E8.00%) %%
ERAEKR BERENFE—ERLE
NMER (2021128318 : EEBE
+Z@A) -



26.

27.

PROVISION FOR REHABILITATION

At beginning of year

Additions

Unwinding of discount (note 6)
Utilisation during the year

At end of year

SHARE CAPITAL

Number of ordinary shares

Authorised ordinary shares of HKDO.1

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares of
HKDO.1

Amounts
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares of
HKDO.1

A summary of movements in the Company's share capital is as

follows:

At 1 January 2022 and
31 December 2022

REA

=1

ARIR o (f5E6)
FNHA

NS

HERHE

SREENETHNEEEBR

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

26.

27.

SREENETHEETK

Be Emk

Gt

SREEINEBTHEETR

Be Emik

202251 A1H %
2022F12831H

/4
EEEE
2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BTT AR¥F T
14,523 13,654
1,296 -
910 869
(2,069) -
14,660 14,523
i Zs
2022 2021
20224 20214
10,000,000,000  10,000,000,000
2,249,015,410 2,249,015,410
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BTT AR¥F T
197,889 197,889

AARRARHBEMT :

Number of
shares in issue

BEITROEE

2,249,015,410

Issued capital
BEITRE
RMB'000
ARBET T

197,889

2022 E8 | PENKEABEERAT 219



Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R FR B 5

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

28.

212

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

2010 Option Scheme

On 15 April 2010, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “2010 Option Scheme”). Eligible participants of the 2010
Option Scheme include Directors, chief executives, substantial
shareholders or employees (whether full time or part time) of
any member of the Group and any persons whom the board of
directors considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or
will contribute to the development and growth of the Group.
The 2010 Option Scheme remained in force for 10 years from
its adoption date, and expired on 14 April 2020, no option may
be granted thereafter. Outstanding share options granted during
the lifespan of the 2010 Option Scheme prior to its expiry shall
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the
terms of the 2010 Option Scheme.

The maximum number of the Company’s shares in respect of
which options may be granted under the 2010 Option Scheme
and any other schemes of the Company shall not, in aggregate,
exceed 207,500,000 shares, being 10% of the total number
of shares of the Company in issue on the adoption date of the
2010 Option Scheme. The maximum number of shares issued
and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted and to be granted under the 2010 Option Scheme to
each eligible participant in the 2010 Option Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue as at the date of grant. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval
in a general meeting.

Share options granted to Directors, chief executives, substantial
shareholders or any of their respective associates are subject to
approval by the independent non-executive directors (excluding
the independent non-executive directors who are the grantees
of the options). In addition, any grant of share options to
substantial shareholders or independent non-executive directors
or to any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of
the shares of the Company in issue on the date of offer with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company’s
shares quoted on the HKSE at the date of grant) in excess of
HKD5 million made within any 12-month period from the date
of grant (inclusive) would be subject to shareholders’ approval in
a general meeting.

28.

A& 17 HA 4 51 2

2010F HATE T2

2010F48 158 » KA BIRM—IBRL 5
HERESHE (T 2010F HAMEET21)) 20104
RTINS ERZ2EATOELAER
EARERABDNESE RESTHRAEE
ZREXNEHAFRBEE URESE
ERNEIRAGLABF TR AEERE
BREEEEERNEIM AL 20104
BN R RM B AR 1I0ER—E
B R2020FE48 140 2 E R B R
TS HERHE - FA2010E HARE 5 BIEA
A B SRR H T R ITE BB D HARE
HER2010F HAME 5T B MO R A B B 0t
A Fi7fo

RIF2010FE BT 8| R A QBT MEM
sTE AR RS R A AT IR
NEREHEAEHRFEEIE207,500,000
B> BIRR201 0 B ME ST B IR H AR A
FBEETRMNEENI10% - 1EHE201046F
HARE St &I PAEEr1 218 B BARS A9 112010
FEHEFE TESEAERSEATIRER
BRER R E T ERE ST RAESR
TERITWRMESHE UGN E L B
KRBT BETRON I %AR E—T
HiBBZ ERNRDERBEFTRERR
BAE EHE

MEF RBTHRAE - TERRARK
EEEEMBHERARLRMDBAER A
RRBIUFRTEE CTEEBHREAX
BRARNBIIFNITES) fE 1L M
RELAHSE (8FEEH) Bt ER/~12ME
AHBARTIERINBIIFNITE
FARSEEEAHEANEARMDBA
RBARENAREALATEZRTRMON
0.1% U BE (BRBIFMEELR
BIRMG IR E L BN HESS) 885
BB AERRAG LREERR
Hk o
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28.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

2010 Option Scheme (Continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HKD1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
Directors that no option may be exercised more than 10 years
from the date of grant.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
board of directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i)
the nominal value of shares of the Company; (ii) the average
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the share options;
and (iii) the HKSE closing price of the Company’s shares on the
date of grant of the share options.

2020 Option Scheme

On 16 June 2020, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the "2020 Option Scheme”). Eligible participants of the 2020
Option Scheme include Directors, chief executives, substantial
shareholders or employees (whether full time or part time) of
any member of the Group and any persons whom the board of
the Company considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed
or will contribute to the development and growth of the Group.
The 2020 Option Scheme remained in force for 10 years from
its adoption date, and shall expire on 15 June 2023, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended.

As at 31 December 2022, no share options have been granted
to any eligible participants since the adoption of the 2020
Option Scheme.

Notes to the Financial Statements

28.

R E e

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

AR AARESTEI ()
2010F HAE 5t & ()

2 IR BB B BRI B A B B
528 PR R AN B R
AL EHUBTHRM B IR
BN BARNTERME ST
BRI IEH R 10 BT

ROMENTEEHEFEETE KD
BERTIISERINESE (AR ER
PEE (INERBROHKEERHRNG
HEBPALERZ BN TFHWHE ;
Re(iii) 2 A B B A0 10 % H AR 17 B B 83 R0
AP TE -

20205 HAKE 5T

122020568160 » &"A BN — B D
HARESTE (T 20205 HAME ST &) ©2020%F
AN G ER2EALTBELAER
AAMEBABINEE - BETHAE X
ERBREHARHES  UREKAF]
EEZEHNBERASLABETHAE
ENERMRIEREHEMNEMALC
BRIES TR NIEET » TRI20205 HA %
STE R BRI 0ER—BEER
WA F2023F6 8 15H R #AE M o

$22022F12831H > BIR#M2020F EA#E
SR BiEAEAeERSE AL
BRHEEARDERE
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The following share options were outstanding under the 2010
Option Scheme during the year:

As at 1 January 2022 and 20221818 &
31 December 2022 2022%12831H
Note:
(a) The share options outstanding as at 1 January 2022 and 31

December 2022 represented share options granted under the
2010 Option Scheme by the Company on 15 April 2014 at the
exercise price of HKD1.00 per share.

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Exercise

Number of price per
options share
HEHE ERITEE
'000 HKD

T4 AT

4,800 1.00
2,400 1.00
2,400 1.00

9,600

28. RR{DHEAREETE @

Note

Py 5E

RENRE2010F IR 58] RITER
RRADEARELDT ¢

Weighted
average Number of
exercise price options
HKD per share '000
MEEHITEE HAHE
BkRET T4
1.00 9,600

(a) 22022518 1H %2022512831H
MR IT Y B9 BR IS A A B 522014
FE4F158BE2010E At 3217
FEESK.00BTEHNRMDEARE

R2022% %2021 12831 B E R TEHN
BRAD BRI AT BB R AT ER T ¢

Exercise period
1T1EHA

15 October 2014 to 14 April 2024
2014108 15HE20245F4814H
15 April 2015 to 14 April 2024
2015548158 E2024%F4814H
15 October 2015 to 14 April 2024
20155108150 £2024F4514H
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28.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The Group had 9,600,000 share options exercisable as at 31
December 2022 (31 December 2021: 9,600,000) and the
exercise price was HKD1.00 per share (31 December 2021:
HKD1.00). The exercise in full of the outstanding share options
would, under the present capital structure of the Company,
result in the issue of 9,600,000 additional ordinary shares of the
Company and additional share capital of HKD960,000 and share
premium of HKD8,640,000 (before issue expenses).

The Group did not recognise any share option expense during
the year (2021: Nil).

The fair values of equity-settled share options granted were
estimated and valued by independent professional valuers as
at the dates of grant, using the binomial model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the major inputs to the model
used:

Dividend yield (%) LISE
Expected volatility (%) FEHR R 18 (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%) =R ERAE(%)

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 9,600,000 share options outstanding, which
represented approximately 0.43% of the Company’'s shares in
issue as at that date.

Notes to the Financial Statements

28.

R E e

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

IR HARE ST 21 ()
120225128318 > & EH9,600,000
{7 (2021412H31H 1 9,600,0001%) IR1%9
AR FATE > MITEEAER1.008T
(20214128318 : 1.00870) iR
NE RN EARERE  BEITEH R
B0 HARE I B 50 B8 918297 9,600,0008%
AT EE > W E A FBIMNE 960,000
BT R AR5 % E8,640,000 7T (R0
B1TRS) ©

FER o AERIEREDE RO RS
(20214 @ ##)

RENREEERDBENAFEER
BEBHEEBIEEGHEMIUZBER
EEtRGEE BEDPEEEREHENG
RE MG TRINHEZERFTANEE
BAME !

Equity-settled
share options
granted on

15 April 2014
ETII=R -
RHMKRESHE
B EAHE
2014548158

49

TEHA M M8 2 R R SRR IR TS R R B 5 1R
NIRRT —ERBEER-

SFEATERBES RERHPENE
ftisE-

RE2EMHREERLEZR xR H
9,600,00017 i AR ITEMR 13 BAfE > IHE N
ZANAKABE#EITRINA0.43%
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29. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity in the financial
statements.

(@) Share premium account

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands.
Under the constitutional documents and the Companies
Act of the Cayman Islands, the share premium is
distributable as dividend on the condition that the
Company is able to pay its debts when they fall due in
the ordinary course of business at the time the proposed
dividend is to be paid.

(b) Statutory reserve fund

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the
respective articles of association of the PRC subsidiaries,
each of the PRC subsidiaries other than Sichuan Lingyu
is required to allocate 10% of its profits after tax,
as determined in accordance with the PRC Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (“PRC GAAP"), to the
statutory surplus reserve (the “SSR"”) until such reserve
reaches 50% of its registered capital.

As Sichuan Lingyu is a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise,
according to the Rules for the Implementation of
Foreign-funded Enterprise Law of the PRC and the
articles of association of Sichuan Lingyu, Sichuan Lingyu
is required to allocate 10% of its profit after tax in
accordance with PRC GAAP to the statutory reserve
fund (the “SRF”) until such reserve reaches 50% of its
registered capital.

The SSR and the SRF are non-distributable except in the
event of liquidation and subject to certain restrictions set
out in the relevant PRC regulations. They can be used
to offset accumulated losses or capitalised as paid-up
capital.

29.

f#fE
AEARAFEERBEFENRESS
RESHRBERENGARELD R

25

(a) MMPEERR
RNDEERNEAZHSHEER
AZEE - REEABEREXH R
MR EREE EIRY KR
BE> ARABEHANENREEE
HBEPNEEIAR S MZF
BEMBR T ROSEETES
RE DK

(b) EEfEES
BEPEARERTETFABE
ENARERMAR EFEFA
B ()& RSN BH B Ziz
BAEARGHRNEETNRE
MENIONELERBLARE
BEEZ A NEEEZHAMEAN
50%% ko

HREINEE R —ENEEEER
FORBPENERELZE A
A m)INEHR AT =2 4EA
o)A R R E ARG 5T R
RIDEEH10%MEFBEEEH
B2 EERHBESEEZHEM
BARAI50% 75 Lk o

BRBEIN EEBBABE KA
EREBEZHATREDIK LR
FE T AR RBUERPRRE o &
EBEBAREREEREBETH A
IR RSB ENFE R R
BEZ-
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29. RESERVES (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represented the difference
between the nominal value of the Company's shares
issued in exchange of or consideration paid for
subsidiaries acquired and the aggregate amount of
the nominal value for the paid-up capital of these
subsidiaries attributable to the owners of the Company
for business combinations under common control.

Safety fund surplus reserve

Pursuant to a Notice regarding Safety Production
Expenditure jointly issued by the Ministry of Finance
and the State Administration of Work Safety of the PRC
in February 2012, the Group is required to establish
a safety fund surplus reserve based on the volume of
mineral ore extracted. The safety fund can only be
transferred to retained earnings to offset safety related
expenses as and when they are incurred, including
expenses related to safety protection facilities and
equipment improvement and maintenance as well as
safety production inspection, appraisal, consultation and
training.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised,
as further explained in the accounting policy for share-
based payments in note 2.4 to financial statements. The
amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised, or
be transferred to retained earnings should the related
options expire. As at 31 December 2022, there were no
expired share options due to resignation (31 December
2021: RMB5,805,000), which was transferred to retained
profits.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represented the Group's capital
injection to subsidiaries by way of transfer from retained
profits in 2012.
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29. (#E @

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

%ﬁ%ﬂnﬁgﬁ

BHARIE AL B AU
BT ARNALEZAREMET
BN B B 7 EE T R E S
THEREHMESBEBNAAR
BEANZETREANBEER
HEESREZENELE.

ZE2EETHIEH#E
REFEVBEIRERZEEE
EREBEABR2012E28 85
B —BRERN 22 EENE
Mo AEEBERFIBERESM
UZEESHEFEEB T2ES
ROERRZE2HEBERZIESE
H%iii;%*?t =2 F) LUK 84 #8 78
MY BiEERERERE %k
AREEURZREERS T
B R i )HE%%E’\JF‘%EZO

B HARE i

RMEAREESEERHE® R
TEHORGBEENAFE E—
S RM B BRARNE2.45 B
LXE%}%ﬂ“BﬁH?XBﬁﬁ%ﬁ&
Ko PIABNHBARETE
H%%%%é BR17 % B AR > S TE 4B Y
AREERNBER TEREEER
FojR20225F128310  BEER
BEAE T Em BV B 15 HARE (20214F
128310 : AR #5,805,0007T)
EEBEERERNBE

[ VN |
BARARBIERAEEN2012FEH
REBEEFEEREmME T RBESH
B)\]/iﬁo
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30. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH 30.

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-
controlling interests are set out below:

IR R E IR AR
Bt
7o)l =

Percentage of equity interest
held by non-controlling interests:
Sichuan Haoyuan

DEEIFFERBEEBIFN
2HEWE (B18) 85 :

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for
the year allocated to non-controlling
interests:

Sichuan Haoyuan ya)l7EE

Accumulated balances of non-controlling ¥R & HERRYIEIE IS HE 25
+ AA

interests at the reporting date: REHAEER -
Sichuan Haoyuan m)EiE

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of the above subsidiary.

H AW A R Wz
Hithki sz

Other income and gain

Other expenses

Total comprehensive income/(loss) FREENRG S (F518) A%
for the year

Current assets MEEE
Non-current assets ERENEE
Current liabilities mEas

Net cash flows from/(used in) ERE AR () B
operating activities REMEFEE
Net cash flows from investing activities ~ REEFFFSNIRES REF 8

Net cash flows used in financing activities B8 EEFRMNIB S R EF48

RERRSEEYILM
(RiZL) F8a

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents

BEEEXIFERERN

EREFRE

BEEREEREZNAERTFLAN
EBEESWT -

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥Fx ARBEFT
49% 49%
(264) 68
294,631 294,895

TRRPULEFRENVEZHMBER

2022 2021
202245 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT N
= 810

(539) (672)
(539) 138
1,406 1,588
659,900 659,788
(60,019) (59,549)
356 (311

230 753
(575) (444)

11 (2)
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31. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 31. HEFAF
31 July 2021
20217H31H
RMB'000
AREFT
(unaudited)
(R EZ)

NET LIABILITIES DISPOSED OF: FRIHEFaE:

Property, plant and equipment ME-BEREE 21,824

Right-of-use assets TRESE 1,078

Inventories =& 11,639

Trade and bills receivables [ U BR 71 R ZE 4 5,113

Contract assets EHNEE 1,911

Prepayments, other receivables and other assets FENMIES ARSI R EME E 3,611

Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 3,598

Assets classified as held for sale DEAREFHENEE 16,415

Trade payables FE{TBRFR (13,871)

Other payables and accruals HMEA RIE K fE 5T 7B (36,067)

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FREBITREMEBE (15,663)

Due to related parties 1< RA Bt 75 718 (8,991)

Lease liabilities HEaR (858)

(10,261)
Add: m:
Non-controlling interests derecognised on completion R HEFEBE AL IEFEIMN
of the Disposal JEIER R 6,247
Other costs attributable to the Disposal HESBREGEMAA 591
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 10) HEFRBEIMNIKE (EE10) 10,723
7,300
Satisfied by: EEAR:

Cash R 7,300
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in BHEHEFRANRERREEEY RN
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: AFEDAT :

RMB'000

AREFTT

Cash consideration ReRE 7,300

Cash and bank balances disposed of FTH &R RIRITAEER (3,598)

Other costs attributable to the Disposal HEFERGEEMB K (591)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of BREHEFATNEE K

the disposal of subsidiaries REZEBYRAFEE 311
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Major non-cash transactions

220

(a)

)

(ii)

(iii)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group had a net decrease of bills receivable
and other borrowings of RMB84,000 (2021:
RMB5,120,000) and RMB84,000 (2021:
RMB5,120,000), respectively, in respect of the
payment satisfied by bills receivable.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group had a non-cash decrease to due to related
parties of RMB9,402,000 (2021: Nil), in respect
of offsetting against due from related parties of
RMB9,402,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group had a non-cash increase to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of RMB23,405,000 and
RMB23,405,000, respectively, in respect of the
lease addition for plant and machinery.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Group had a non-cash decrease to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of RMB4,196,000 and
RMB4,196,000, respectively, in respect of the
lease modification for plant and machinery and
a non-cash decrease to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of RMB153,000 and RMB137,000,
respectively, in respect of the lease termination
for office premises.

32.

meRERERMEE
TEFRRERS

(a)
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)

(ii)

(iii)

REEE2022FE12H831
HIEEE > A&EB A5
MEKREEEMNRIE
HNEWEZEEREMMES
BALFEBEBINAAR
84,0007T (20214 : AR
#5,120,0007T) & AR
84,0007T (2021 : AR
#5,120,0007T) ©

REZE20225612831H Lk
FECAEEBRBRIE
THIEWRA B I AR
9,402,0007z B9 & 15 A B
FREFERERILBAR
#9,402,0007¢ (20214F :

) o

REE2022912831H 1k
FE - AEEBHEBRER
MERHERBENERRES
EREESEIFREIEGM
DA ANR#23,405,000
TR AER#23,405,000
7750

REZE2021F12831H1E
FECAEEBHRBREKR
HARHEENNERES
ERBESRIFREHED
DRIBANETA,196,000
TR ARYE4,196,0007T
MBRBMAEYEHEER
IFNEREEEREER
BIERERLDNAE A
E#153,000c R AR
137,0007% °
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 32. RmERERERME @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(a) Major non-cash transactions (Continued) (a) FEIEREXRS @

(iv) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the (iv) REZE2022%12831H
Group had a non-cash decrease to due from a EFE - AEBBBEAR
related party of RMB13,449,000 (2021: Nil) in HCEH B — L BR B 5 TR
respect of offsetting against of due to a related ANE#11,687,0007T K& &
party of RMB11,687,000 and trade payables to a T—%EF=ZFERMAR
third party of RMB1,762,000. #1,762,00070 B9 FE IR —

LR RIEBEIERE R
b2 AR ¥613,449,0007T
(20214 : /) ©

(v) During the year ended 31 December 2022, (v) REE2022512831H 1k
the Group had a non-cash increase to mining FE AEEARMAARER
infrastructure and provision for rehabilitation of B RIBR R E R
RMB1,296,000 and RMB1,296,000, respectively, BIFREE MDA ABAR
in respect of the modification of the discount #1,296,000c & AR &
rate. 1,296,0007T °

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) FIEZHFIELXEEDN

financing activities g

Year ended 31 December 2022 HZE2022F12A31HILEE

Bank and Amount due
other Interest to related Lease
borrowings payable parties liabilities
R1T R P&
HMfs & RIS REARE HEaE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR%TR AR%®FTx ARET=®
At 1 January 2022 1202241818 92,192 534 13,069 2,705
Changes from financing MEREMEE
cash flows (1,000) (3,973) 2,238 (2,034)

New lease (note 15(b)) WHE (MEE15(b) - - - 23,405

Interest expense (note 6) F BB (FIsk6) - 4,393 - 662

Payment satisfied by bills MW BB BN ITRIE

receivable (84) - - -
Payment satisfied by NEIERHEENOTRIE

debt offsetting - - (9,402) -
At 31 December 2022 720225128311 91,108 954 5,905 24,738
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 32.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2021

At 1 January 2021

Changes from financing
cash flows

Interest expense (note 6)

Payment satisfied by
bills receivable

Lease termination

Lease modification

At 31 December 2021

EZERERERMFT @
(b) RIEBEEBFELXEEDN

(¢) Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the

statement of cash flows is as follows:

Within operating activities

(note 15(c))

Within financing activities

S5 (@)
HZE2021FE12831HIEEE
Bank and Amount due
other Interest to a related Lease
borrowings payable party liabilities
RIT R EN—%
HigE BAFE  BEBARIE HEBR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARE®TRT ARBTRT ARBT®
F2021E181H 84,735 107 11,548 7,263
HREREREEH
12,577 (3,899) 1,521 (423)
FIERE (5k6) - 4,326 - 198
MW EBECHRIE
(5,120) - - -
HE#&IE - - - (137)
HEENR - - - (4,196)
2021512831 92,192 534 13,069 2,705
(C) *ﬂ%mfﬁﬁmu'ﬂ @gﬁ
FARERERNBEERESRE
MEERUIE -
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT
REEEEA (FIEE15(0))
263 99
RREEEA 2,034 695
2,297 794
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33.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACT

As disclosed in the Company’s annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company entered
into a sales and purchase agreement with Chengyu Vanadium
Titano Technology Ltd. (“Chengyu Vanadium Titano”) on 29
January 2019 in respect of the disposal of Huili Caitong and
its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Huili
Caitong Group”) with the consideration of RMB550,000,000.
Upon the completion of the disposal on 30 July 2019, the
Huili Caitong Group (i) has ceased to be the subsidiaries of the
Company and (ii) has become subsidiaries of Chengyu Vanadium
Titano.

As at 31 December 2022, the maximum amount of the
guarantees given by the Company in favour of the Huili Caitong
Group (the "CVT Guarantees”), was RMB690,000,000 (31
December 2021: RMB730,000,000). The CVT Guarantees were
provided by the Company prior to the disposal of the Huili
Caitong Group to guarantee the indebtedness of the Huili
Caitong Group owed to certain banks and an asset management
and financial services institution in the PRC. The indebtedness
has not been repaid and the CVT Guarantees continued as
at 31 December 2022. The Company's obligations under the
CVT Guarantees have been counter-indemnified by Chengyu
Vanadium Titano. Details about the CVT Guarantees and the
counter-indemnity are included in notes 35(b)(i) and (ii) to
financial statements.

The CVT Guarantees are measured at the higher of the
ECL allowance and the amount initially recognised less the
cumulative amount of income recognised. The ECL allowance
is measured by estimating the cash shortfalls, which are based
on the expected payments to reimburse certain banks and an
asset management and financial services institution for a credit
loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects
to receive from Huili Caitong Group. The amount initially
recognised representing the fair value at initial recognition of
CVT Guarantees was not significant. During the year ended 31
December 2022, no ECL allowance should be recognised as a
provision (2021: Nil).

The credit exposure of CVT Guarantees is classified as stage 1.
During the year, there were no transfers between stages (2021:
Nil).
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EDRUEAYA Téxizm%ﬁuﬁamtfﬁ
ENE2FMBRExMAFEE &2
2019E1EZ9EIfﬁi)ﬁfﬁfﬂﬁ(ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ@
B (TECaiek)) s — 1 EEHE W
REBMEESEMEREFAT (FTX
miEAs TgEVEER) REAARE
550,000,0007C ° j22019E7 5308 H&E
%W§>ﬁfiﬁﬁ_%@(i>7ﬁ%$’\
B F A B (i)l 2 R S EA Y

R2022%F 128318 AT MUE
MEEEAT @ AMFHNER (T EP
E#HHER) NEeBEAARK
690,000,0007C (20214128318 | AR
#%730,000,0007T) © A 5 8 $4 ¥ R FH 4
NERHESEEEBAIRME Wik
REEBEMBERGENTEE TRITR—
HEEEEASMBRBEENGT -1
2022F12B31H ZEEHNKEE
B8 SRR B R o R A B H
Bl ERTHNEFHRANKER
HERGE BEPEEHKERERBE
R IBEE NI B IRFRMIZE35() (1)K
(i) e

R AR R D I TAHAE BB A B IR
VEREESEBMERNARESEN
ENREEF 2 -FEHERBLAEIRD
B REAEZHFE MhstRE
TRZEBERANES FHRITUKR—
HEEEENSHRBEBEENER
BAEHIINRBRAERBHELS
B EERWERNEMAEEE YRR
B %8 (F8 2 5 ) 15 78 58 P B 88 SR 1R
R AFE AEKREE20225F12
B31BIEFE > UHEERERBLHIR
FERERAEE (2021F 1 8)

TREEKERNEERRDESBER
1o il EPE B 2 BIRV S (20214 ¢
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34. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of

the reporting period:

Contracted, but not provided for:
— Conversion of exploration right to
mining right

T4 BREH

—H RIS RER

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in

these financial statements, the Group had the following

transactions with related parties during the year:

Revenue generated from the

rendering of facility management

services:

— to Yanyuan Xigang Cleaned
Coal Co., Ltd. ("Yanyuan
Xigang”)

- to Xiushuihe Mining

— to Huili Caitong

Revenue generated from the
rendering of payroll services:
— to Xiushuihe Mining
- to Huili Caitong

Other income generated from

providing financial guarantee:

— to Xiushuihe Mining
- to Huili Caitong

CI VNS85 gl
BERBAEER
WA
— BRI SR

BREEAT

(TEE R Pa 8f))
— B EESE
—g1EyE

G AYNEIE/ e

ARFSPREERIWA !

— KA
—EIRE

BT ABRME
ERFTEEW
HAhgA -

—FH AR
—GIRHE

34, BASKIE
KREBRREPREUTERKLE .

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AE®FT
98,222 837

35. BB RS
(@) HAMBRREMBHDHIIN
32550 A SR B TR R 4 P9 BB B
FETUTRS

2022 2021

20225 20214
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
B 5 ARETT AR®BFT

1,485 -
3,060 -
3,330 -

(ii)

(iii)
147 -
4,306 -
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(a) (Continued)

Note:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Yanyuan Xigang, Xiushuihe Mining, Huili Caitong
and the Group are ultimately controlled by the same
beneficial owners. The Group has entered into a nine-
month facility management services contracts for
the provision of operational site services and mining
engineering support and consultancy services from 1
April 2022 to 31 December 2022, with Yanyuan Xigang,
Xiushuihe Mining and Huili Caitong, respectively.

With respect to the operational site services, the Group
shall charge Yanyuan Xigang, Xiushuihe Mining and
Huili Caitong with a monthly fee of RMB165,000,
RMB340,000 and RMB370,000, respectively. With
respect to the mining engineering support and
consultancy services, the Group entered into individual
separate agreement for each project in relation to
detailed service scopes and fees with Yanyuan Xigang,
Xiushuihe Mining and Huili Caitong, respectively. The
above service fees under the facility management
services contracts were arrived after arm’s length
negotiation between the Group and each of the above
related parties, with reference to (i) the scope of services
required; (i) the types and locations of the facilities;
(iii) the number of labours involved; and (iv) cost-plus
pricing model.

The Group has entered into payroll services contracts
for the period from 11 May 2022 to 11 August 2022,
with Xiushuihe Mining and Huili Caitong, respectively.
The Group charged 0.1% of the amounts of employee
benefits which were paid by the Group on behalf of
Xiushuihe Mining and Huili Caitong.

As mentioned in note 35(b), the Group provides
guarantees for Huili Caitong Group and charges
apportioned pro rata guarantee fee based on the
maximum guaranteed amount.
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(a) @
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(i)

(i)

(iii)
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BRBE A2 19 Bh Ko 5B s AR 75 o

FAEER®EBRBREB
EORPEI BAKABERD
BEMBEDNKREREEARK
165,0007T ~ AR #5340,00070
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Other transactions with related parties
(i) Prior to the completion of the disposal of Huili

Caitong Group, the Company provided the
CVT Guarantees in favour of the Huili Caitong
Group, which as at 31 December 2022 was with
the aggregate maximum guaranteed amount
RMB690,000,000 with details are set out as

follows:

Borrower
A

Huili Caitong

gIEME

Huili Caitong

gEWE

Xiushuihe Mining

Fox A HESE

Huili Caitong

BIEHE

Lender and
beneficiary of
the guarantee

ERMARERZEA

China Cinda Asset
Management Co., Ltd,
Sichuan Branch

REEEEEEERD
BRARMIIAAE

Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China Limited,
Liangshan Branch

RETERITROBRAE
RUW AT

Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China Limited,
Liangshan Branch

FRETERTROBERAE
R ATT

China Construction
Bank Corporation,
Liangshan Branch

PEIERIBITRNBRAR
RURTT

35. FEARS @

(b) ERAEtAHRIEMIS

0]

Guarantor

EERA

the Company

RN

the Company

/N

the Company

KAF]

the Company

RAF
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REREESEREER
i ARB UGBS EE
B A5 AFH P EE
AR 720224128318
HNERBEFREBAARE
690,000,0007T * s¥ 15 #7
wr

Maximum

guaranteed
amount
REERE
RMB'000
ARHET 7T

200,000

70,000

20,000

400,000

690,000



35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Other transactions with related parties
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(i)

Chengyu Vanadium Titano and Trisonic
International are ultimately controlled by the
same beneficial owners. A counter-indemnity has
been entered into between Chengyu Vanadium
Titano and the Company for the respective period
from 30 July 2019 to the date of the release
of the CVT Guarantees, details of which are
specified in note 35(b)(i). Chengyu Vanadium
Titano's inventories (including, but not limited to,
structural steels and coals) with the aggregate
amount of approximately RMB944,800,000
have been pledged as security for such counter-
indemnity at 31 December 2022 (31 December
2021: RMB1,067,000,000).

Outstanding balances with related
parties
Details of the Group's balances with its related parties as

at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in note

20 to financial statements.

Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group
Details of Directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments,

including compensation of key management personnel,

are set out in note 8 to financial statements.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(i)

BY A 3 8K K & Bl B PR
A—iEmHEEARRK
el o B A S K B AR A B
Sl BERE > FHAA
2019 7H30HEEF
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I (GEBE&E NI 5E35(b)
(i)) e 72022412831
Bl @Ba AR
#944,800,0007% (2021
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1,067,000,00070) MIE &
(BIEERRNEERN
MRER) EEHRIERZ
KBERENEEY -

fe) > Ui (o] £52 R Bk 75 RO 45 B

PR E MR A EE B E RS 4
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o
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36.

228

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36.

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost

Trade receivables

Financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables

Due from related parties

Pledged deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income
Bills receivable

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Trade payables
Other payables and accruals
Due to related parties
Interest-bearing bank and

other borrowings
Lease liabilities

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED

R KT BN EE

FE U BR X

StATRMRIE e R EM
FEWRIER S RE &

& WK e Bk 75 =RO0R

BEHERER

REKRREEEY

BEAT G5 B TTEE A
AR ERENEBEE
PR i

B A BN EE
FE AT BRR
ELMFE A RRIR K FE 5T ROR
P& BB 75 =R0R
StERITRHEMBEE

HE&RE

BRENSONEMIA
EESMTARRSHRYRALEN

T
EMEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥Fx ARBEFT
204,579 201,075
2,908 2,101
1,070 9,728
26 10,026
9,357 6,436
217,940 229,366
2,696 2,580
220,636 231,946
ERAaE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥EFx AEREBFT
35,057 33,077
57,740 41,660
5,905 13,069
91,108 92,192
24,738 2,705
214,548 182,703
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37.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
reasonably approximate to fair values are as explained below:

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade and bills receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
other assets, amounts due from related parties, trade payables,
financial liabilities included in other payables, interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings and amounts due to related parties
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-
term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s corporate finance team headed by the group
finance manager is responsible for determining the policies
and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The corporate finance team reports directly to the
financial controller and the audit committee. At each reporting
date, the corporate finance team analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved
by the financial controller. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than
in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss is based on valuation techniques. The model incorporates
unobservable inputs of the recovery rate. The carrying amount
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is the same
as its fair value.

The fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss measured at fair
value required significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as at
31 December 2022 and 2021. An increase in the recovery rate
would result in the increase in the fair value of exchangeable
notes.
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37.

38.
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The financial assets of the Group mainly include cash and bank
balances, pledged deposits, trade and bills receivables, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets
and amounts due from related parties, which arise directly from
its operations. Financial liabilities of the Group mainly include
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals, trade
payables, amounts due to related parties and interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Risk management is carried out by the finance department
which is led by the Group's executive directors. The Group's
finance department identifies and evaluates financial risks in
close co-operation with the Group’s operating units. The main
risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are liquidity
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and foreign currency risk.

The Group’s financial risk management policy is to ensure that
adequate resources are available to manage the above risks
and to create value for its shareholders. The Directors regularly
review these risks and they are summarised below.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its exposure to a shortage of funds by
considering the maturity of both its financial liabilities and
financial assets and projected cash flows from operations.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net current assets of
RMB5,209,000 (31 December 2021: RMB112,616,000).

Regarding 2022 and thereafter, the liquidity of the Group is
primarily dependent on its ability to maintain adequate cash
flows from operations and successfully renew its interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings to meet its debt obligations as they
fall due.

37.

38.

ERMTAEXAFERATE
28 @)
AEENEHEEFEEELCEERE
BEENWREKIRITEG EEBREDR
EWERT R EE B AFET2MmMHEE
Mt AEBTZNEREE st ATENIE
HmEKFEREMEENSHMEE L
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TEEEGFAEMEMHRIBRESRIE
MR EE BN IRE - BT BB 5 =8
UKt EIRTREMEE-

P75 R B IR B IR R B ER

MBS EAERENTESHNEE NET
ARERE rEEVHFHREAREREE
MPAREEE aEHMA KA EMBR
BoAEBTMTAMELENTEZAR
aEASERE FXRER FEERK
HNES R o

AEENUBEREEBRSEERFRE
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FERSBEEHSHEBERSHNEE
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at the end

of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted
payments, is as follows:

HHEREEEBRERBER

()

HEN 1 BB (@)
RBEWF FEESHEEEREH
REERAROBROT :

2022
2022
Less than 3 3to 12 Over 5

On demand months months 1 to 5 years years Total
®BEX  OR3MAR  3E128A 1555 HiB5E B
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTR ARBETR AR¥TR AE®BTn ARETR ARET:®

Interest-bearing bank and HERTREMEE
other borrowings - 78,990 12,579 - - 91,569
Trade payables FETERR 35,057 - - - - 35,057
Other payables and accruals HMERRIEBREFNTE 57,040 - - 700 - 57,740
Lease liabilities HEBR 2,229 286 1,056 7,339 26,606 37,516
Due to related parties e BT gt 5 SRR 5,905 - - - - 5,905
100,231 79,276 13,635 8,039 26,606 227,787

2021
20216
Less than 3 3t0 12
On demand months months 1105 years Total
BEX DR3MER 3ENMER 15546 LD
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBFT ANEREFT AREFT ARBFT
Interest-bearing bank and  FtERTKEAMEE

other borrowings 5,534 5,006 11,111 74,835 96,486
Trade payables FETIRT 33,077 - - - 33,077
Other payables and accruals BB R EH B 34,683 - 6,277 700 41,660
Lease liabilities HEaE - 54 2,390 406 2,850
Due to related parties FE {1 B B 5 708 5,389 - - 7,680 13,069
78,683 5,060 19,778 83,621 187,142
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38.

232

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (cContinued)
Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to
the Group's bank deposits, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and exchangeable notes (which are subject to
fair value interest rate risk). The interest rates and terms of
repayment of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are
disclosed in note 25 to financial statements.

The Group manages its cash flow interest rate risk exposure
arising from all of its interest-bearing loans through the use of
fixed rates. In addition, the Group has not used any interest rate
swaps to hedge against interest rate risk.

Credit risk

Substantial amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
and pledged deposits are held in major reputable financial
institutions located in Mainland China and Hong Kong, which
management believes are of high credit quality. The credit risk
of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise trade and
bills receivables, other receivables and amounts due from related
parties, arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.
The Group has no other financial assets which carry significant
exposure to credit risk.

As disclosed in note 4 to financial statements, the Group sells
most of the products to a small number of customers. As a
result, it faces a high level of concentration of credit risk. The
Group manages this risk by offering a six-month credit term
to its customers for the sale of self-produced products and
its trading customers because market conditions remained
weak. The Group maintains strict control over its outstanding
receivables and senior management regularly reviews the
overdue balances. In addition, the Group’s exposure to credit
risk is also influenced by the individual characteristics of each
customer and default risk of the industry in which customers
operate. During the year, the Group generated its revenue
mainly from the sale of iron products and the trading of steels
to the steel producers and distributors that purchase the Group’s
products and resell them to steel producers. In addition, the
Group also generated revenue from the rendering of specialised
mining services and consultancy and management service to
other customers. In this regard, the Group is exposed to the
concentration of credit risk in the steel and iron industries.

38.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. HHRABEEBERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (%)
Credit risk (Continued) EERK @)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging RERERELZEE
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TRETERAEBEFEERRNEES
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, ZEkEEEERAR FERERNAHRER
which is mainly based on past due information unless other PRIFEMBER I TRBTEEBSHAE
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year- WFNNERTER > URR128318
end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts NFEEEED B - MEFEEREME
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets. ERmAEEE-
As at 31 December 2022 220225 12831H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8A7H
EREX SHRAEREX
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
P ER 1 P ER2 P EZ3 167 % szt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREBFT ARBFT ARBTT ARETT
Trade and bills receivables @  FEUER TR ZE 50 - - - 209,949 209,949
Financial assets included EYNEINEER
in prepayments, other HitEWHIE R
receivables and other assets HMBENSHEE
- Normal ® —Eg® 2,906 - - - 2,906
- Doubtful © — e = - 606 - 606
Cash and cash equivalents  RERREEEY
- Not yet past due —X8H 9,357 - - - 9,357
Pledged deposits BEHRER 26 - - - 26
12,289 - 606 209,949 222,844
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. MBRAKREEBEFKREE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (#8)
Credit risk (Continued) EERE @)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) BEEGRFEZEE (1B)
As at 31 December 2021 72021%F12831H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
(PAEEREL
ERBEX L HBHREHABE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
PR LT 2] P& 3 BEA% st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBFT AREBTFT ARETR ARETT AREFT
Trade and bills receivables @ FEUER TR Z#0 - - - 210,859 210,859
Financial assets included STATBMA A
in prepayments, other HMEWRIER
receivables and other assets EIEENESHEE
- Normal © —Eg® 2,101 - - - 2,101
- Doubtful © — B - - 604 - 604
Cash and cash equivalents  IRERIREEEY
— Not yet past due — XK@ 6,436 - - - 6,436
Pledged deposits BEHREN 10,026 - - - 10,026
18,563 - 604 210,859 230,026
(a) For trade and bill receivables to which the Group applies (a) MAEEERREBIESENE

234

the simplified approach for impairment, information
based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 19 to
financial statements.

(b) The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due
and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial
assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

WIRRMKRZEBEMES > EREHE
fe B9 B # IS B 5 AR B A2 194K

Eo

(b)  EBFARMRIE HMEWRE
REMBENTMEERAS
BrEaENBEREMmEENEE
2 Bz B 9 46 B 58 LA 2R K18 18
B RMEENEEERRES
MEE); SHEREENEEE
EX R F AN
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38.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group's foreign currency exposures arise primarily from the
exchange rate movement of foreign currencies, namely HKD,
USD and SGD, against the RMB, HKD, USD and SGD are the
functional currencies of the respective entities within the Group.

The Group does not enter into any hedging transactions
to manage the potential fluctuation in foreign currencies.
Management monitors the Group's foreign currency exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
when the needs arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 5.0%
change in RMB against HKD, USD and SGD, respectively. The
5.0% is the rate used when reporting currency risk internally
to key management personnel and represents management'’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in the foreign
currency rates. The sensitivity analyses of the Group’s exposure
to foreign currency risk at the end of each reporting period have
been determined based on the adjustment of translation of
the monetary assets and liabilities at the end of each reporting
period for a 5.0% change in RMB against HKD, USD and SGD,
respectively, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group's profit before tax for the year ended 31 December 2022
(due to changes in the fair value of cash and cash equivalents
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
denominated in HKD, USD and SGD):

Increase/(decrease) in profit
before tax

If RMB strengthens against HMARERBIT ETK
HKD, USD and SGD Frns oo

If RMB weakens against MARBRBIT ETK
HKD, USD and SGD N3 T EE S5

maiFEEm, GRL)
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HHEREEEBRERBER

(#)
1 2 B
A E SN E AL IR E B AR A M (BB

T ETRFMEK T RARBHERS
BB EURMMK T AERET
HEABERENINEEE -

FERTEETENEPZZUEEE
ERNEBE RS EEEERAEENI
KRR TRNAREREBHAPEKR
BYSMNIE R o

TR|ABPHAREDR BT ETK
T HIR5.0% S ERIEEE ©5.0%
TPAREEETIEABSERS R RE
RANLEE U AEEEHINEEEXS
BN b - HAERNRZRE
RIS RGN E DT ThE R
AFMBEMEBHERTAET RN ER
EHFAMEEREERER HAER
HE2022F12B31HIEFEEMNRATF)HE
EBARB DR RABT =AM
TCHIR5.0% 2 ERRE (RN E T =
TR T ENRERIREEEY

TMEENATEED S

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ABEFT
(37) (55)

37 55
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The Group does not consider that it has any significant exposure
to the risk of fluctuation in the exchange rates between HKD/
USD/SGD and RMB as a reasonable possible change of 5% in
RMB against HKD/USD/SGD would have no significant financial
impact on the Group’s profit or loss.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders or raise new capital from its investors.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing financial risk during the year.

The Group will minimise the capital expenditure and renew
or extend its short-term loans as part of capital management.
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by total equity plus net debt. The Group’s policy
is to keep the gearing ratio between 20% and 40% over the
long term. Net debt is defined as interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings and lease liabilities, net of cash and cash
equivalents and it excludes liabilities incurred for working capital
purposes. Equity includes equity attributable to the owners of
the Company and non-controlling interest. As at 31 December
2022, the gearing ratio was 10.3% (2021: 8.7%).

38.

HHBRREEBRERER
(48)

sh s ELRR ()

MR AR R BT, £/ R
ARALEBS%E TG H A EENE
BEENEAMBEE WALERA
HitRE BT %5 BT R A
REHEAETHHAR

BEXER

FEBREAEENTIEZEENARELRE
ERBEENENREFRREFNERL
o DXFHEZREERERREE

FEREBEEEAER LEELHER
MECHEZRB -REFARAEER
R AEENGTHBERRRIKTHR
BEHMEKREEZEMER - FRLE
HEEVHERNER BERNEFF
AR R -

NEFREBEER /D EARST I EERIE
EEEHAERFABEAEE D &
EEMNEESXEZESE A ZLEXES
B FEFUEREERINEREFE-
REBNBRAREELERBERSN
20%E40% 2 [E c BRI FREH R E ST
BRTEKEMBEEURHEES®E Ik
HeERRSEEYW BU LB EREE
BEtHaMEENBE - HaGEHEB
RARBIEB AN ER R IEEREE
R2022F 128310  BELEZEA10.3%
(20214E : 8.7%) ©
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R Z< Bt 5

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 39. ZAATMEIBRRE
THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the RREBRARBDFHFRARNER W
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: B
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETF T AR®ETF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RFRAENRE 553,237 549,216
Total non-current assets EREBEELE 553,237 549,216
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Dividend receivable FEUWRG B 17,156 17,156
Due from subsidiaries B FABIHIE 139,642 138,522
Prepayments, other receivables and TAMRRIE ~ Mt EUERIE K
other assets Hth&EE 218 214
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEY 105 491
Total current assets REBEESE 157,121 156,383
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENBE
Due to subsidiaries S T RABIFIE 55,678 58,262
Due to the holding company FE(T IR A B FUE 1,447 3,393
Other payables and accruals H A RIB M ES A 16,658 8,704
Total current liabilities mENBEMEEE 73,783 70,359
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEEEEE 83,338 86,024
Net assets BEEFE 636,575 635,240
EQUITY xm
Issued capital BEITRA 197,889 197,889
Reserves (note 29) i (fF5E29) 438,686 437,351
Total equity R ABER 636,575 635,240
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R FR B 5

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 39. FATNBRBRRER @
THE COMPANY (continued)
Note: M -
The movements of the Company's reserves are as follows: KATRENEBWNT -
Share
premium  Share option  Accumulated
account reserve losses Total
RREER  ROBERE Riti5E &%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2021 20211818 1,877,488 14,926 (1,464,052) 428,362
Transfer of share option reserve upon the KRR 17 ER#E /& i B 62 4
expiry of share options e Bt - (5,805) 5,805 -
Total comprehensive loss for the year FNEEEGERE - - 8,989 8,989
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 120214128318 K&
2022%181H 1,877,488 9,121 (1,449,258) 437,351
Total comprehensive income for the year FREmINELELE - - 1,335 1,335
At 31 December 2022 1202241283180 1,877,488 9,121 (1,447,923) 438,686
The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share BHBHEREREEEHEBHERITEN
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further OB ENAFE E—LTRMEMPE
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments KM 2. 4B ARG BERERE
in note 2.4 to financial statements. The amount will either be BEEK o ZFIER N HRPEETE
transferred to the share premium account when the related REBEERMGER NTHEBER
options are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits MBYIE L N E R E B E A e
should the related options expire.
40. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 40. HIEMFEHRR

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 29 March 2023.

EEGN2023F38290 1 EREET

EECE e
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Five-Year Financial Summary

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements, is set out below.

hEMBREE

MBERBE
TXHIIFEEBE R BN REENES &
B afRIEERREEE HEREE AN
CERHBRE -

2
Results FiE
For the year ended 31 December
HENA3MBALEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20226 20215 20205 20195 20185
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
UN:LS AEBFT AEBFT AEBFT AEBFT
(Re-presented)
(=5
CONTINUING OPERATIONS RERELE
REVENUE KA 725,869 714,760 488,135 517,637 684,750
Cost of sales HERA (700,591) (690,098) (441,548) (477,107) (634,210)
Gross profit E£7 25,278 24,662 46,587 40,530 50,540
Other income and gains Htte A e s 8,371 3,888 3,864 409 602
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERS (904) (373) (4,572) (9,194) (11,284)
Administrative expenses THES (21,592) (19,003) (30,515) (22,034) (34,746)
Other expenses Hip® (4,198) (2,288) (3,212) @17) (2,256)
Impairment losses on property, ME -BERRENESE
plant and equipment - - - - (1,071)
Reversal of impairment FEWER AR B R
losses on trade receivables, net BEFE 4,530 4,130 1,479 8,844 9,898
Impairment losses on financial assets AR EAEL
included in prepayments, FEREMEERN
other receivables and other assets SREERESE (2) - - (604) (23)
Impairment losses on assets held for sale  F{EHEEERERHE - - - - (1,469)
Finance costs ME MK (5,965) (5,393) (5,598) (3,139) (8,343)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM RERCEEHRANE
CONTINUING OPERATIONS 5,518 5,623 8,033 14,395 1,848
Income tax credit/(expense) FiERER/ B (4,480) (4,641) 250 (6,091) 2,808
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM RECEEBERTN
CONTINUING OPERATIONS 1,038 982 8,283 8,304 4,656
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS BRIEEEER
Loss for the year from BRIEKEEBENGE
discontinued operations - (4,107) (32,675) (100,914) (453,907)
Gain on disposal of HEBRIERELBENNER
discontinued operations - 10,723 - 152,997 -
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ERFIE/ (58 1,038 7,598 (24,392) 60,387 (449,251)
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Five-Year Financial Summary

LEMBGRE

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hith2EKE/ ()
INCOME/(LOSS):

Other comprehensive income/(loss) RAERBEENDERE
that may be reclassified to profit or loss ~ BEMNEMZENG
in subsequent periods: (B518)

Exchange differences on translation of BEBNEBEEN
foreign operations BREH

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE PROFIT/(LOSS) ERZEFHE, / (5518) 45
FOR THE YEAR

Profit/(Loss) attributable to: B/ (B8 BB
Owners of the Company EREEBA
Non-controlling interests FERER

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2EME/ (1)) 28
attributable to: BER
Owners of the Company AREEBA
Non-controlling interests FEERES

BERARTEBRRE

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss)

per Share attributable to BEANERRMELRR
ordinary equity holders BERN/ (518
of the Company: (RMB cents) ON=L:0)
— continuing operations —FEREEY
~ discontinued operations -BRIEEEES
Total ‘it
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For the year ended 31 December

HENAMHLEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20224 20214 20209 2019 20184
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR#BTT ARETR ARETR ARETR

(Re-presented)

(&5
31 840 (1,770 743 989
1,069 8,438 (26,162) 61,130 (448,262)
1,304 8,311 (17,054) 69,199 (443,969)
(266) (713) (7,338) (8,812) (5,282)
1,038 7,598 (24,392) 60,387 (449,251)
1,335 8,989 (18,489) 69,800 (443,161)
(266) (551) (7,673) (8,670) (5,101)
1,069 8,438 (26,162) 61,130 (448,262)
0.06 0.04 0.42 0.52 0.37
- 0.33 (1.18) 2.56 (20.11)
0.06 0.37 (0.76) 3.08 (19.74)



Five-Year Financial Summary

LEMBGREE

T . - o ar sy
Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling Interests BE -BERIEERER
As at 31 December
1®12B318
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
2022 20215 20205 20195 20185
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®ETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Non-current assets FERBEE 961,450 915,436 913,733 944,738 923,027
Current assets RBEE 237,140 246,178 311,899 325,194 1,522,820
Non-current liabilities EL¥iEl=K (35,453) (97,915) (25,352) (15,071) (19,133)
Current liabilities neas (231,931) (133,562) (284,828) (313,247) (1,533,018)
Total equity EHAR 931,206 930,137 915,452 941,614 893,696
Non-controlling interests FERER (294,631) (294,897) (289,201) (296,874) (318,959)
Equity attributable to owners of BERAREEE ANER

the Company 636,575 635,240 626,251 644,740 574,737
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Unless otherwise specified in this annual report or the context BRIEXFERFSBIEHANESEBRE SREIT
otherwise requires, the following capitalised terms shall have the FEFAZAEBE NIEE

following meanings:

“2019 Completion”
F2019%F 5E Al 5

“2019 Counter Indemnity”

M2019F KB ERE] 5

“2019 Disposal”

M2019F HEFIH) bS]

“2022 Counter Indemnity”

20226 K BERE] 5

“2022 Framework Agreements”

2022 HE 2R 175 5% 5

Completion of the 2019 Disposal on 30 July 2019
72201978308 5T A2019F HEHIA

a moveable asset pledge contract entered into between Chengyu Vanadium
Titano and the Company on 30 July 2019, for the provision of counter-indemnity
by Chengyu Vanadium Titano in favour of the Company in respect of the
Company'’s contingent liabilities and potential claims under the CVT Guarantees (if
any), and the pledge of the Chengyu Vanadium Titano's inventories (including but
not limited to structural steels, coals etc) as security for such counter indemnity
ORISR EIANABIRS 2019 F 7 B 30 HEIUNBELGREE RB BRI
HUARRBAZTHAAMAIRDNPEERKERTINABFEERETRR WNAH)
RERBERS  UKERBOANKNEFES (BFEFRNEZEAHEM - EKE)
ERZKRBERENERY

the sale transaction of the Caitong Group from Sichuan Lingyu to Chengyu
Vanadium Titano which was entered into on 29 January 2019 and completed on
30 July 2019

F2201951 A29H T 1L M 52201947 530 H FE AL B3 PO 112 10 6] Ak A1 #7184 tH & A 38
EENXS

the counter indemnity agreement entered into between Chengyu Vanadium
Titano and the Company on 16 May 2022 for the provision of counter indemnity
by Chengyu Vanadium Titano in favour of the Company in respect of the
Company’'s contingent liabilities and potential claims covered under the Master
Guarantee Agreement (if any), and the pledge of Chengyu Vanadium Titano's
inventories (comprising structural steels and iron ores, or any other assets
approved by the Company) as security for such counter indemnity

R A SR BR B AR A B2 2022 5 B 16 BT L MY R SRE R 8 Wk > WA A Bl AL AT IR 35
UAERB #Zam ANREARTAREFEFRHZ T HENHBFEERETRR WNAH)
RERBERS UREFRANRKNES (BEFEEAMMREBEANART
RN EFREMEE) (FRZRBERZNERY

comprising, (i) the facility management services framework agreement entered
into between Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining and Sichuan Lingwei on 21
March 2022 in relation to the provision of facility management services by
Sichuan Lingwei to Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining; and (i) the facility
management services framework agreement entered into between Yanyuan
Xigang and Sichuan Lingwei on 21 March 2022 in relation to the provision of
facility management services by Sichuan Lingwei to Yanyuan Xigang
BIE)SIEM B AFAOTEZEE) ERIN 202263821 BT IR EEIERT
ERW R AB AR DER R IR IERFACHEER ERMEIERT ; &)
BRFRE B I E 202283821 HE] UM R EERBIERG > NE B R
9114 B 1) B IR 78 ) 4 1 55 1 S X AR 75
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“2023 AGM"
M2023FEREBBEFERE] 15
“2023 EGM"
M2023FERFHFRI AT 15

"2023 Framework Agreements”

M2023FEZR 5
“Aba Mining”
Mol BB 2 5

"Aba Prefecture”

TBar 5 N 5

“Akuang Trading”

MFAiEE 7 15
“Anhydrite”

MEKkKAaE] 5
"Articles”

TARE i
“Board”

== 3 &
"BVI”

T E R BB 15

Glossary

Gl

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 28 June 2023
12023 F6 H28HRITHNARBRRBFRE

the extraordinary meeting of the Company held on 31 January 2023
12023 F 1 B3 1B ETHARTRERFHIAE

collectively, (i) the facility management services framework agreement entered
into between Huili Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining and Sichuan Lingwei on 13
December 2022 in relation to the provision of facility management services
by Sichuan Lingwei to Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining; and (ii) the facility
management services framework agreement entered into between Yanyuan
Xigang and Sichuan Lingwei on 13 December 2022 in relation to the provision of
facility management services by Sichuan Lingwei to Yanyuan Xigang
UTFWMENGRBOSIES B FICTIEE KM IERI 202261281385 L5
MEERBIERDGZ > AB BRI DERE A SRR ERFICTEFER SREEE
ARFS ; Re(iDERFEHELM ) DE 7202281281385 L MR M E R IRFBIERE
0 WA AR IE B R BRI iR S hh B IR AR

Aba Mining Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in the PRC on 27
February 2004 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
FIBEEXBRAR > —RR2004F2827BAFBERULNEREELE AER
BNEEEEFAE

Aba Tibetan and Qiang Autonomous Prefecture

oy 355 7l 1k S 1 B 6 N

Huili Akuang Trading Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in the PRC
on 13 June 2012 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
EREMAEESBRAE —MR2012F6813AEFEMRINERERAF A
RABHNEEEZBEFAE

an anhydrous sulfate mineral with the chemical formula CaSOa

—REEKIREE B IEY) - 1204 CaS0s
the articles of association of the Company, adopted on 4 September 2009 and as
amended from time to time

RABH2009F9F4H R M AE T REF] BV AR B Z= A2 4B A1

the board of Directors

e

the British Virgin Islands
HERZES
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4

“Caitong Group”

MyrmEm)

"CG Code”

rgEsral

e
I

“Chengyu Vanadium Titano”

Tk a0 #8450

“China”, “Mainland China” or
“PRC”

R R 3% MR e g 3

“China VTM Mining”, “Company”

M E &8k~ TR AE)

"Chuan Wei"

)1 ER )

"close associates”

M E A

“Companies Act”

N=1 D

"“connected person(s)”
MRAZE AL

"Controlling Shareholder(s)”

MERAR R

refers to Huili Caitong and its subsidiaries, namely Xiushuihe Mining and
Panzhihua Yixingda, which engage in sale of self-produced low-grade iron
concentrates within the range of 53% TFe to 55% TFe and have been disposed of
by the Group on 30 July 2019

GEMBRETAD (FIUBERBRIEZEE) - HEHETFeaEN T
53%E55% M B ER@UEBEAER > ER2019F7830HHAEERTE

in the context of this annual report, refers to the Corporate Governance Code
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules that is applicable to the Corporate
Governance Report for the Reporting Period, unless otherwise specified

IRIER B0 SRIMAFERME A LHRAWE - TS BERNRSHANEE

ERBRENEEERTR

Chengyu Vanadium Titano Technology Ltd.*, formerly known as Weiyuan Steel
Co., Ltd.*, a sino-foreign equity joint venture established in the PRC on 3 April
2001 and a connected person of the Company
AN SRR B R AT FIBRZHEE A RAR) » —ER2001F4838EHEIRK
TWRIIEELSRE BARABNBEAEALT

the People’s Republic of China excluding, for the purpose of this annual report,
Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan
FEAREME SIAFRME > FEEEE  FRIRFIFHIITHRERGE

China Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 28 April 2008

RN EEERRAT —BN2008FE4F28ATHEHEFMMRIINER
NS

Sichuan Chuanwei Group Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in the
PRC on 29 March 1998 and a connected person of the Company
mINE)NEERBRAE > —BIR1998FE3829BEHF B IINBREERE
RHARBNEEANL

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

B EHRAPTR TR &

the Companies Act, Cap. 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands

BENEERE2ERTE (1961FA0I3 Bira RIEST)

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

B EHRAPTI TR

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules and in the context of this
annual report, refers to Trisonic International, Kingston Grand, Messrs. Wang Jin,
Shi Yinjun, Yang Xianlu, Wu Wendong, Zhang Yuangui and Li Hesheng
A EHRAIPTR FAVEE > IAERM S > F5 S AIEIFR « Kingston Grand~ %1%
ERBERE - BEBRE - BRNREE - REERERTNBRE
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"CVT Guarantees”

Feh [ 88 SR HE 1R

"Director(s)”

&%)

"Disposal Group” or

“Mancala Australia Group”

MHEEESNRNE FRIER)

"Exploration Result(s)”

MENEER)

u "

Fe
TFey

“Financial Institutions”

MBS

“FY2021"
F20218f B E ]

“FY2022"
F20228f L E |

"Group”
IRER)

“gypsum”
aE]

5

Glossary

Gl

guarantees given by the Company in favour of the Caitong Group guaranteeing,
inter alia, the indebtedness owing by any company(ies) in the Caitong Group
to certain banks and an asset management and financial services institution in
the PRC with original maximum guaranteed amount of RMB730.0 million, or as
reduced from time to time

ARBUMBERAZHm AFHNER ER (EPEE WEEERNEAADE
RAFEFRTUR—EBEEEERESMRBHEBNEGS RRsSERERSAR
#730.08 87T (ST FERDEE)

director(s) of the Company or any one of them

KABERN—RHABZRESR

refers to the Mancala Holdings and its subsidiaries, which were disposed of and
deconsolidated from the Group as at 31 July 2021, upon completion of the
disposal
HESFRINEEFRE BN2021F7A3 1 HEREEFE L TAIENAERLKR
=N

exploration results(s) include(s) data and information generated by mineral
exploration programmes that might be of use to investors but which do not form
part of a declaration of mineral resources or ore reserves
BEEROEDRITFRELEN PIHEEECRET FRBEEE RENEAH
BEXREHBONEBENEER

chemical symbol of iron element
BT RN E2RTR

certain banks and an asset management and financial services institution in the
PRC in favour of which the Company entered into the CVT Guarantees with a
maximum guaranteed amounts of RMB730.0 million as security in relation to
credit facilities granted to the Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining, respectively
FREETFRTUR—BEEEERSMRBEE KA UZFRITREERRZ
mAFTLFEFBRIER RoBERESARKE7I0.088 T FAEHERTEIE
B R FACRHEZE K5 B RUB R

financial year ended and/or as at 31 December 2021, as applicable

HZE2021F 12831 HIEFHHEE R,/ 52021E128318 (WEH)

financial year ended and/or as at 31 December 2022, as applicable

HZE2022F 12831 HIEHBEE K, /5520224128318 @ER)

the Company and its subsidiaries
AT REFRAE

a soft hydrous sulfate mineral with the chemical formula CaSQO4 ¢ 2H.0
—TBE G KRB EEY) - (E2 R Cas0s » 2H0
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“High-Fe Mining Operations”

IS (i SR 5 2 75 5
“Hong Kong”

r&%) 5
"HKD"

M7t 5

U

“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”

TE B P 5
"Huili Caitong”

RNy Sl 8
"IFRSs”

B PR B 53R 5 2E R i
"Indicated”

M &
"Inferred”

MHE B s

refers to operation of sale of self-produced high-grade iron concentrates within
the range of 65% TFe to 72% TFe
HETFeEEN F65%E72% M B ES M E AR ER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REEAEFITHE

the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BEBEEEN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBHMEXBAAERAE

Huili County Caitong Iron and Titanium Co., Ltd.*, established in the PRC on
7 July 1998 and has been a foreign equity joint venture in the PRC since 29
December 2010, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company till 30 July
2019

BERYBARBRETRE 11998 F7B7HAHREMIL > BH2010812829H
ERATENIIEEERELE EE2019F783308ALARRBENEEEE
FAE

International Financial Reporting Standards, which comprise standards and
interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Board and
the International Accounting Standards and Standing Interpretations Committee
interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Committee
that remain in effect

BRI BREER QFENAENEBER Gt ERESGHIERNERRERE > Y
REERGEEZEGH ENBR G R R EHRBEEGRE

part of a mineral resource for which quantity, grade (or quality), densities, shape
and physical characteristics are estimated with sufficient confidence to allow the
application of modifying factors in sufficient detail to support mine planning and
evaluation of the economic viability of the deposit

BEERPEENE R (HEE) BE -HREEREEOEERMGEN
D UEEREREFBENEST AR IHRSNEERS RETRKRGET
MR G

part of a mineral resource for which quantity and grade (or quality) are estimated
on the basis of limited geological evidence and sampling. Geological evidence
is sufficient to imply but not verify geological and grade (or quality) continuity.
It is based on exploration, sampling and testing information gathered through
appropriate techniques from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings
and drill holes

BEERTEHANERRMU (RNEE) JREBERENMEZBEMRERLSHE
Do MBERBREUNRE (BIFZE) B kG (RNEE) NEEY -ZEE2RE
ERE BB BB E KB L E R LUB B R W E B BR ~ SRR R R
EREL
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“iron”

"

"iron concentrate(s)
TS

“iron ore(s)

M= a)

“iron pellet(s)”

MK 5E

“JORC Code (2012 Edition)”

e RHEELZEGRE
(20124 FR) 4

“Kingston Grand”

I'Kingston Grand |

et
MW

“Ktpa”
[FMg, 4

Glossary

Gl

a silvery-white, lustrous, malleable, ductile, magnetic or magnetisable, metallic
element occurring abundantly in combined forms, notably in hematite, limonite,
magnetite, and taconite, and used in alloyed in a wide range of important
structural materials

—REIREEN - -BNE BN -IERE BN AIRECNEBTE  MES
MEAXREFET TEAFMERE BRE -MEERES TS EEEEBME
FAEREGEF

concentrate(s) whose main mineral content (by value) is iron

TEBYRMG REE AEOEE

compounds of iron and oxygen (iron oxides) mixed with impurities (gangue); it is a
mineral which when heated in the presence of a reductant will yield metallic iron

EEHE A WERFESY &tH) , 2E—BRERE —ENARERAE
B E BB

a round hardened clump of iron-rich material suitable for application in blast
furnaces

BERARSENBEXRECHE 2#ES

the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and
Ore Reserves, prepared by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee of the Australasian
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, Australian Institute of Geoscientists and
Minerals Council of Australia in 1989 and revised and updated in 1992, 1996,
1999, 2004 and 2012, that sets out minimum standards, recommendations and
guidelines for public reporting

HRAR AR ASE RN EERIGE R MNEYEE GRS
HELZEGR1989FARE > WH 19924 ~ 19964 ~ 19994 ~ 20044F K201 25 & ]
REHFHRAFNADSEEHNEER BESREAITRFHENREHRA I
MARFRME N RERE EE RIS

Kingston Grand Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
on 20 February 2007, holder of 40% of the issued share capital of Trisonic
International

Kingston Grand Limited > —fER2007F 2820 A HBRE L BESFMA IR
B8 FAESAIER40%N B EITRA

kilometre(s), a metric unit measure of distance
NE> EE BB &R B

thousand tonnes

T8

thousand tonnes per annum

SETM
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“Listing Rules”

FEmERA
“Mancala Holdings”

MAE2Fh0

“Maoling Extended Exploration
Area”

MERIEHEE RS

“Maoling Mine”

ME s8R

“Maoling Processing Plant”
£ 28 R EE R

“Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine”

MEfE—FEEWLEE)

“Master Guarantee Agreement

MEERIGZE

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

EBBRFES EHRA

Mancala Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, which
was owned as to 81% by the Company till 31 July 2021

Mancala Holdings Limited> —fERHEHEFMMIIN AT » 122021F7831H
AR RB A %iEm

formerly an independent exploration region with an area of 2.83 sq.km. covered
under the extended exploration permit of the Maoling Mine (covering 1.9 sqg.km.
of the mining area of the Maoling Mine), and has been consolidated with the
Yanglongshan Mine since September 2012 to form the Maoling-Yanglongshan
Mine

RAERBEIE R EH R ESEEEA283TARE (BHEI19TFARENE
EEBREEDR VB HETEE 82012608 REER LEBATRATE—
FEELLE IR

an ordinary magnetite mine located in Wenchuan County, Sichuan, with a mining
area of 1.9 sg.km.
— AR B SRR SRIBEE A1 9F /AR

the ore processing plant located near the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine and
operated by Aba Mining
IR ELE — FRE SRR R EER > AMIBEELE

an exploration region with a total area of 11.6 sq.km. covered under the
exploration permit of the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine (the mining area covered
is owned by the Maoling Mine), formed from the combination of the Maoling
Extended Exploration Area and the Yanglongshan Mine since September 2012 and
operated by Aba Mining

HEE - FRUSESFIEMBESZEEEBANTEARENSETERE  AE
LR EEEEFELSEE2012F98 L&A FTESNRESE SR E
EEBEER  THMBEERLS

the master guarantee agreement entered into between the Company, Huili
Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining and Chengyu Vanadium Titano on 16 May 2022 under
which the Company agreed to continue to provide the CVT Guarantees on certain
conditions

AT GIRRIE - FKCOR RS BRI N 30202258 16 H 5T LM TR 5%
Bt XA B A B SRS TR REPREIEHKER
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“Measured”

THEREA

“mining right(s)”

TR EE)

“Model Code”

MR2ESTR

Mt
M5 &N

“Net Profit”
T4F)

“N/A"
=zl

“ore processing”

MEa k)

“Panxi Region”

Mgt & |

“Panzhihua Yixingda”

M2t 7 BiE

“Relevant Substantial Shareholders”

MEREERR)

Glossary

Gl

part of a mineral resource for which quantity, grade (or quality), densities, shape,
and physical characteristics are estimated with confidence sufficient to allow
the application of modifying factors to support detailed mine planning and final
evaluation of the economic viability of the deposit

BEERTERANE @i (REE) BE-FRAEKBREUHHOEERGENE
Do UBEREITIRR SHESNARRBER RETERRRLHEITMHT
&

the right(s) to mine mineral resources and obtain mineral products in areas where
mining activities are licensed

REZRRETHIXTHBEANRRBEEE RREUSEERBIER

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
ERRAMESTPAEN EHETAESETESXZNRETH

million tonnes

BEN

profit attributable to owners of the Company

BENAATHER ANF]HE

not applicable
NEF

the process which in general refers to the extraction of usable portions of ores by
using physical and chemical extraction methods

FAMERCESIREATERSBONER LY

a region in Sichuan located at southwest of Chengdu reaching from Panzhihua to
Xichang
M — @& LR R E T AR 5 ARRIEERE 2 ANt & AN

Panzhihua Yixingda Industrail Trading Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company
established in the PRC on 9 July 2009 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company till 30 July 2019

BRIESEHETBAREE LA —EN2009F7A9HAFBEMRIINEREME
ABEE2019F7H30H A AR ATNBEEE T AT

Mr. Wang Jin, Mr. Shi Yinjun, Mr. Zhang Yuangui, Mr. Li Hesheng and Mr. Wu
Wendong, are parties acting in concert and some of the substantial Shareholders
FEHERE-FRRERE REERE - FTMBAERENRELL B —RITHHA
TREDFERE
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Glossary

Gl

“Remaining Group”
MREBER)

“RMB"
TAR

"Reporting Period”
MR =553

“SFO”
M8 H RIS R

“SGX-ST”
T 22 T

“Share(s)”
MR%15

“Shareholder(s)”
MAGER)

“Shigou Gypsum Mine”

TEERERE
“Sichuan”
FrgJil g

“Sichuan Haoyuan”

M) Sz

“Sichuan Lingwei"”

o)1z B

the Company and its subsidiaries, excluding the Caitong Group or the Mancala
Australia Group, as the case may be
KABRREFAR FOEMBERIEMNS RUER RIBERME)

the lawful currency of the PRC
REDEE B

the year ended 31 December 2022
HE2022F12831HIEFE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEBEOESTER S RAGKRA EREHEST B E M ERD

Singapore Exchange and Securities Trading Limited

MBS ZPABERAHT

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company, with a nominal value of
HKDO.1 each
RABIRARNEBE > SKREE.1ET

holder(s) of the Share(s)
PAEST=DN

Shigou gypsum mine located at Hanyuan County, Ya'an City, Sichuan, with a
mining area of 0.1228 sg.km.
R mERFENABLERE RIBEER0.1228F 5 R E

the Sichuan province of the PRC
FREIM) &

Sichuan Haoyuan New Materials Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 18 July 2011 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the
Company indirectly owns 51% equity interest

N EERMRERAT  —BR201ME7TAISHEFBEMRIINEGREER
8 BERBNFAE ARABEIEERS1 RS

Sichuan Lingwei Property Service Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 7 July 2021 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

MINEERYMERBERAT ) —ER2021F7A7BERER LN BEREEA
8 ARRTENEEEEFAT
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“Sichuan Lingyu”

o) 1%

“Sichuan Xinglian”

o) 1| EE e

“SGD"

N3 7Tl

“sg.km.”
ERRE)

“TEe"
[TFe

“Trisonic International”
F& Al ERR
“Type 331"
M&48331 ]
“Type 333"
[fE48333)

"USD"
&7t

“w.e.f.”

MEXH )

"Weixi Guangfa”

Mg EeE)

“Wenchuan County”
-l

Glossary

Gl

Sichuan Lingyu Investment Group Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company
established in the PRC on 9 June 2010 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company

MNEEHEEERBRAT —ER2010F6 A9HEFREMIINEREEA
8 RERENEEEEFAT

Sichuan Xinglian Mining and Technology Construction Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability
company established in the PRC on 23 June 2011 and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company which was deregistered on 11 January 2023

I8 R R E ST T2 B RAE > —E2011E6B23ATERBIMN N BIIRE
ERE BRERBNWEEEEF AT EMN2023F 1811 H5EH

the lawful currency of the Republic of Singapore

IR BEDEE G

square kilometres

FHAR

the symbol for denoting total iron
RT2EORTIRE

Trisonic International Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong on 19 July
2006 and a Controlling Shareholder
GRIERARAT > —BR2006F78 198 EE BFMMIN RG> BERKE

measured intrinsic economic resources (Type 331) as defined in the Classification
for Resources/Reserves of Solid Fuels and Mineral Commodities

(ERBEER#EDH)MAENRBNANALELERE (BHH331)

inferred intrinsic economic resources (Type 333) as defined in the Classification for
Resources/Reserves of Solid Fuels and Mineral Commodities

(EREEER HEDE)MAENRENNALEERE (B1H333)

the lawful currency of the United States of America
EHNREREEEET

with effect from

4B

Weixi Guangfa Iron Ore Development Company Limited*, a limited liability
company established in the PRC on 10 June 2005
HEESEEREAERAR > —BiR2005F6 8 108 EFEMKIINEREEAR

Wenchuan County, Aba Prefecture, Sichuan Province

PO )11 FaT B P 53 ] R
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Glossary

Gl

“Xinjin Mining”

ETEE)

“Xiushuihe Mining”

oI SEIR =

“Yanglongshan Mine”

FERE LSRR
“Yanyuan Xigang”
M2 R 75 5
“Yanyuan Xiwei"

&8 5 78

*  For identification purpose only

Hanyuan County Xinjin Mining Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 29 September 2010 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the
Company indirectly owns 51% equity interest

BRHRETEEERAT ) —ER2010F9829HARBEIR LN EREELE]
RERBNFRE  AAAEEEERS 1 RRAES

Huili Xiushuihe Mining Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in the
PRC on 26 June 2007, an indirect subsidiary of the Company which owned
95.0% equity interest through Huili Caitong till 30 July 2019

FEBICUEEBRAT > —ER2007F6 826 HEFRBEMKINBREELQE
BHE2019F7A30B AL AR AC BB TEN BHAEN.0%RARDNEREFA
Gl

an ordinary magnetite mine located in Wenchuan County, Sichuan, formerly an
independent exploration region with an area of 8.79 sq.km. covered under the
exploration permit of the Yanglongshan Mine, and has been consolidated as the
Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine with the original Maoling Extended Exploration Area
since September 2012

—EGIFR N XNFN B R RARFR USRS BMEEEER
BIIFHABMBEIHERE > B2012F98 REF RN ERILEFRYHE &G
mEE-FRELENE

Yanyuan Xigang Clean Coal Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in
the PRC
HERAIBESREEAR —HRPBERINEREEAF

Yanyuan County Xiwei Mining Company Limited*, a limited liability company
established in the PRC on 7 December 2007
BRHARBEARETAS > —ER2007F12878EFEMRIINEREEA
=

* EHHEE
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